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SUPERMARKET INCOME REIT PLC

(the "Group" or the "Company")

AUDITED RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

GROCERY SECTOR STRENGTH UNDERPINS DEMAND FOR MISSION CRITICAL SUPERMARKETS

Supermarket Income REIT plc (LSE: SUPR), the UK supermarket real estate investment trust providing secure, infla�on-linked,
long income from grocery property in the UK, reports its audited consolidated results for the Group for the year ended 30
June 2023 (the "Year").

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 

12 months to
30-June-23

12 months to
30-June-22

 
Change in Year

Annualised passing rent1 £100.6m £77.6m +30%

Opera�ng profit2 £79.8m £58.2m +37%

Adjusted earnings1,3,4  £72.4m £57.4m +26%

Changes in fair value of investment proper�es (£256.1m) £21.8m n/a

Dividend per share declared 6.00 pence 5.94 pence +1%

Adjusted EPS1,3 5.8 pence 5.9 pence -2%

Dividend cover1,5 0.97x5 1.08x n/a

30-June-23 30-June-22 Change in Year
IFRS net assets £1,218m £1,432m -15%

EPRA NTA1 £1,156m £1,427m -19%

EPRA NTA per share1 93 pence 115 pence -19%

EPRA LTV1 35.2% 22.2% n/a

Direct Por�olio net ini�al yield1 5.6% 4.6% n/a

 

Resilient financial performance with strong income growth

·    30% increase in annualised passing rent to £100.6 million

o  100% occupancy

o  100% of rent collected

o  4.1% average rental upli�

·    26% increase in adjusted earnings to £72.4 million

·    FY 2023 dividend of 6 pence per share, target dividend of 6.06 pence per share for FY 2024

 

Grocery sector strength and resilience driving elevated property investment volumes

·    UK grocery market grew 11% during the period6

·    30% increase in UK grocery market since IPO to £242 billion7

·    Supermarket store revenues growing much faster than rents, improving affordability and rental values

·    UK supermarket property investment volumes exceeded £1.7 billion during the year8

 

Ac�ve por�olio management - accre�ve asset sales and capital recycling

https://www.londonstockexchange.com/
https://www.londonstockexchange.com/stock/SUPR/supermarket-income-reit-plc


·    Sale of interest in 21 supermarket proper�es held in the SRP at a NIY of 4.3%9 and a total considera�on of £430.9
million10, delivering a:

o  30% IRR

o  1.9x money-on-money mul�ple

·    Purchase of eleven supermarket proper�es at a NIY of 5.5%11 for a total considera�on of £399.0 million

 

High-quality por�olio of mission cri�cal supermarkets12

·    Future-proofed por�olio of omnichannel stores

·    Capturing elevated online grocery demand, which is up +80% since 201913

·    14 years weighted average unexpired lease term ("WAULT")

·    Strong performing tenant covenants; 77% of income from Sainsbury's and Tesco

·    78% of rental income is infla�on-linked, subject to caps of 4% per annum on average

 

Lower supermarket property valua�ons reflect higher interest rates with encouraging indica�ons that valua�ons are
stabilising

·    Direct Por�olio independently valued at £1.69 billion (30 June 2022: £1.56 billion), reflec�ng a NIY of 5.6% as at 30
June 2023 (30 June 2022: 4.6%)

·    Direct Por�olio value stable versus last reported valua�on (31 December 2022: £1.63 billion reflec�ng a NIY of 5.5%)

 

Strong balance sheet with 100% of drawn debt hedged

·    Fitch Ra�ngs Limited ("Fitch") investment grade credit ra�ng of BBB+ reaffirmed in February 2023

·    Total debt further reduced post balance sheet with current LTV of 34%

·    Refinancing of facili�es during the year and post balance sheet extending weighted average debt maturity by 12
months to four years14 (30 June 2022: four years)

·    Unsecured debt increased to 61% of debt commitments (30 June 2022: Nil)

·    100% of drawn debt hedged and interest rate hedging extended by 12 months:

o  Weighted average finance cost fixed at 3.1% (30 June 2022: 2.6%)

o  Exis�ng in-the-money hedges restructured to extend hedge term at zero net upfront cost

 

Con�nued progress on sustainability and governance programme

·    Supported the responsible investment commitments made by our Investment Adviser as a signatory of the Net Zero
Asset Managers Ini�a�ve and United Na�ons Principles for Responsible Investment

·   Published our first voluntary, fully TCFD compliant annual report, consistent with all 11 of the TCFD recommenda�ons
and recommended disclosures

·    Commi�ed to submit a target to the Science Based Target Ini�a�ve by Q4 2023

 

Nick Hewson, Chair of Supermarket Income REIT plc, commented:

"The UK grocery sector has again demonstrated resilience despite the challenging macroeconomic environment we have
experienced during the year. We remain focused on our investment strategy of acquiring and managing a high-quality
por�olio of omnichannel supermarkets. These give us exposure to the fastest growing segment of the UK grocery market
which itself is experiencing strong growth.

During the year, Sainsbury's purchased our interest in the Sainsbury's Reversion Por�olio joint venture for £430.9 million
which we redeployed into higher-yielding supermarkets that met our strict investment criteria alongside reducing our debt,
materially strengthening our balance sheet.

This purchase by one of our own tenants of 21 of its own stores highlights the a�rac�veness of UK supermarket property,
which is further illustrated by the fact that the year has seen in excess of £1.7 billion of investment volume in our property
sub-sector, driven by the posi�ve long-term outlook for UK grocery. This ac�vity has contributed to stabilising property
valua�ons in the UK supermarket property sub-sector.

As we look forward, the quality of our unique omnichannel supermarket por�olio and the increasing affordability of grocery
rents, together with our robust balance sheet means we are well posi�oned to con�nue delivering long-term value for our
shareholders."

 

 

For further informa�on:
 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION    
Atrato Capital Limited                                     +44 (0)20 3790 8087  
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S�fel Nicolaus Europe Limited                    

 
+44 (0)20 7710 7600  

Mark Young / Ma� Blawat / Rajpal Padam    
    
Goldman Sachs Interna�onal
Jimmy Bastock / Tom Hartley

+44 (0)20 7774 1000
 

 
FTI Consul�ng                                                     +44 (0)20 3727 1000  
Dido Laurimore / Eve Kirmatzis / Andrew Davis                
                   

SupermarketIncomeREIT@�iconsul�ng.com   

 
 



The Company will be holding an in-person presenta�on for analysts at 08.30am today at FTI Consul�ng's offices, 200
Aldersgate, Aldersgate Street, London, EC1A 4HD. To register to a�end in-person, please contact FTI Consul�ng:
SupermarketIncomeREIT@�iconsul�ng.com. There will also be a webcast available. To join the presenta�on via the webcast,
please register using the following link: h�ps://brrmedia.news/SUPR_FY23

 

NOTES TO EDITORS:  
Supermarket Income REIT plc (LSE: SUPR) is a real estate investment trust dedicated to inves�ng in grocery proper�es which
are an essen�al part of the UK's feed the na�on infrastructure. The Company focuses on grocery stores which are
omnichannel, fulfilling online and in-person sales. All of the Company's supermarkets are let to leading UK supermarket
operators, diversified by both tenant and geography.  
 
The Company provides investors with a�rac�ve, long-dated, secure, infla�on-linked, growing income with the poten�al for
capital apprecia�on over the longer term(1).
 
The Company is listed on the premium segment of the Official List of the UK Financial Conduct Authority and its Ordinary
Shares are traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, having listed ini�ally on the Specialist Fund Segment of
the Main Market on 21 July 2017.
 
Atrato Capital Limited is the Company's Investment Adviser.  
 
Further informa�on is available on the Company's website www.supermarke�ncomereit.com  
 
LEI: 2138007FOINJKAM7L537
 

1.     There is no certainty that these illustra�ve projec�ons will be achieved  
  
S�fel Nicolaus Europe Limited, which is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority, is ac�ng exclusively for

Supermarket Income REIT plc and no one else in connec�on with this announcement and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for

providing the protec�ons afforded to clients of S�fel Nicolaus Europe Limited nor for providing advice in connec�on with the ma�ers referred to in this

announcement.

Goldman Sachs Interna�onal, which is authorised by the Pruden�al Regula�on Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the
Pruden�al Regula�on Authority in the United Kingdom, is ac�ng exclusively for Supermarket Income REIT plc and no one else in connec�on with this

announcement and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing the protec�ons afforded to clients of Goldman Sachs
Interna�onal nor for providing advice in connec�on with the ma�ers referred to in this announcement.  

 

CHAIR'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholder,

 

I am pleased to report a resilient opera�onal performance for the Company, in what has been a challenging year for the
broader economy and the real estate investment market.

Despite the economic vola�lity, the UK grocery market has grown by 11% during the year and 30% since our IPO to a £242
billion market today. This highlights the strength and resilience of grocery spending through the peaks and troughs of the
economic cycle.

Throughout the year, we have focused on our investment strategy of building and managing a unique high-quality por�olio
of omnichannel supermarkets, which gives us exposure to the fastest growing segment of the expanding UK grocery market.
Growth in the grocery market is enhancing the strength of our tenants and the affordability of our rents, providing posi�ve
tailwinds for future rental growth across the por�olio.

The robust performance of the supermarket operators is in stark contrast to the valua�on declines experienced by the
broader property investment market. The scale and pace of interest rate hikes since September 2022 has triggered a rapid
decline in property values, with the MSCI UK All Property Capital Values Index declining by over 19% for the year to 30 June
2023. Supermarket property has been less vola�le, but not immune, with a 14% like-for-like decline in our por�olio value
resul�ng in a net ini�al yield of 5.6% as at 30 June 2023 (30 June 2022: 4.6%, 31 December 2022: 5.5%).

The property market experienced an ini�al rapid repricing to December 2022. We have since observed a stabilisa�on of
pricing in recent transac�ons and our 30 June 2023 valua�ons are essen�ally flat to our last reported valua�on as at 31
December 2022. It is also noteworthy that we have seen significant investment volumes in UK supermarket property which
have exceeded £1.7 billion15. This total includes £483 million of leasehold store buybacks by operators; a unique feature of
the grocery real estate market. This elevated interest in grocery property highlights the posi�ve long-term outlook for the
sector. We are cau�ously op�mis�c on the outlook for supermarket property valua�ons, though we recognise the general
correla�on of these values to Bank of England policy and interest rate movements.

The Company owns and manages a unique and high-quality por�olio of mission cri�cal omnichannel supermarkets. Our
sector specialism and informa�on advantage allow us to iden�fy and deliver value through ac�vely managing the por�olio.
During the year, our tenant Sainsbury's purchased our interest in the Sainsbury's Reversion Por�olio ("SRP") Joint Venture
("JV"), buying back 21 stores at a 4.3% Net Ini�al Yield ("NIY"), for which the Company received proceeds of £430.9 million.
The proceeds from these disposals, received during the year and post balance sheet, were recycled into higher-yielding
acquisi�ons16 that met our strict investment criteria, and u�lised to pay down debt. As a result, drawn debt has reduced
from £672.2 million in June 2023, to £584.8 million today. During the year we acquired nine stores and a further two shortly
a�er year end for a combined total considera�on of £399.0 million at an average NIY of 5.5%. 

We con�nue to focus on maintaining balance sheet strength and at year end our European Public Real Estate ("EPRA") Loan
to Value ("LTV") was 35%, which has further reduced post year end, following the further receipt of monies from the sale of
the SRP interest. Our debt is provided by a well diversified group of rela�onship banks. Post the year end, we have expanded
our banking group and extended the term of our debt facili�es to in excess of four years17. We also took the prudent
decision to fix the cost of 100% of our drawn debt. All our borrowings are either fixed rate or hedged to a fixed rate via
interest rate deriva�ves with an average cost of debt of 3.1%.

During the year, we strengthened our governance creden�als with the appointment of Sapna Shah to the Board. Sapna
brings extensive corporate finance and governance experience having advised listed REITs and investment companies as a
senior investment banker. Sapna has agreed to chair the new Management Engagement Commi�ee which is tasked with the
job of ensuring that we receive best value from our key service providers.

Sustainability con�nues to be a key focus of both the Board and the Investment Adviser. Having established an ESG
commi�ee, chaired by Frances Davies, we have this year voluntarily published a Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures ("TCFD") compliant Annual Report and Accounts, significantly enhancing the Company's sustainability repor�ng
and environmental commitments. We are pleased to present this report in full in this year's Annual Report and Accounts and
the accompanying Sustainability Report. In addi�on, the Company has also made a commitment to submit a greenhouse gas
emissions reduc�on target to the Science Based Target Ini�a�ve ("SBTi") by Q4 2023. The Company supports the Investment
Adviser's signatory status of the Net Zero Asset Managers Ini�a�ve ("NZAM") and the United Na�ons Principles for

https://brrmedia.news/SUPR_FY23
http://www.supermarketincomereit.com/


Responsible Investment ("UNPRI"). At the asset level we are working with our tenants on ini�a�ves such as the installa�on of
solar photovoltaic ("PV") panels and electric vehicle charging to further enhance the Company's sustainability performance.

 

Outlook

While economic condi�ons look set to remain challenging in the near term, our unique high-quality por�olio of omnichannel
supermarkets, let on long-term, predominantly infla�on-linked leases, with strong tenant covenants, in the non-discre�onary
spend sector of grocery, con�nues to offer a compelling investment case.

The stabilisa�on of valua�ons in the short term and strong sector dynamics in the medium to long-term mean that the Board
is confident of the growth prospects for the Company. However, we remain cau�ous given the uncertain economic backdrop
and accordingly, the Company is targe�ng a conserva�ve dividend increase to 6.06 pence per share for the next financial
year.

 

 

Nick Hewson
Chair
19 September 2023  

 

 

A CONVERSATION WITH JUSTIN KING ABOUT THE FUTURE OF THE UK GROCERY SECTOR

 

Jus�n King is a senior adviser to Atrato Partners. Jus�n is recognised as one of the UK's most successful grocery sector
leaders, having served as CEO of Sainsbury's for over a decade and previously held senior roles at Marks & Spencer, Asda,
PepsiCo and Mars.

Jus�n is currently a Non-Execu�ve Director of Marks & Spencer and Chair of Allwyn Entertainment, leading its transi�on to
opera�ng the Na�onal Lo�ery licence. Jus�n also advises a series of high-profile consumer-focused companies including Itsu
Grocery, where he chairs the grocery business, and is the Chair of Dexters Real Estate. Jus�n is an advocate for responsible
business and has been instrumental in launching several charitable concerns including the charity Made by Sport, which
champions the power of sport to change young lives. Jus�n brings an unrivalled wealth of grocery sector experience and a
deep understanding of grocery property strategy.

 

Q: How have the supermarket operators been reac�ng to unprecedented increases in the cost of living faced by many
consumers, especially given the impact from recent grocery price infla�on?

Clearly the high rate of food price infla�on is having a major impact on consumers' budgets, although it has started to decline
from its peak of 19% with many analysts expec�ng it to fall to around 8-10% by the end of 2023. While the rate of increase is
likely to slow, I expect actual food prices to con�nue to rise at least un�l mid-2024.

Several factors are contribu�ng to this high food price infla�on, mainly significant rises in the cost of food commodi�es,
increased energy costs and the deprecia�on of Sterling, all of which have raised the domes�c price of inputs into the food
supply chain and for the most part are outside the control of operators. Perhaps the most persistent pressure will be labour
costs, which makes up in excess of 20% of the cost of the average basket of groceries if you take a full supply chain view.

We are seeing clear evidence that the operators have not 'passed through' to consumers all the cost increases that they have
incurred as evidenced from falling opera�ng margins from 3.2% to around 1.8% on average18. It is worth no�ng that a
grocer's power to implement price rises is less than many people think, as the sector's intense compe��veness drives low
margins and high opera�onal efficiencies. 

However, I believe that the most impac�ul contribu�on operators are making is the change to their product lines and
promo�onal strategies on the shelves to help their customers switch from expensive calories to less expensive calories. Think
of it as giving the customer the ability to achieve a cut in their pence per calorie consumed or 'dial out' infla�on. In previous
recessions we have seen the effec�veness of suppor�ng the customer through value alterna�ves. That's why the tradi�onal
supermarkets carry an extensive range of products to ensure their mix can cater for the changing needs of the customers'
shopping basket.

 

Q: You men�on the reduc�on in profit margins for operators. Does that give you any concerns about the sector and by
extension supermarket property values?

If you take the longer-term view, historical net profit margins of the incumbent operators range between 3% and 5% and that
will typically wax and wane depending on how much pressure there is from compe��on and costs. Over �me, changes in
produc�vity, opera�onal efficiencies and pricing eventually restores margins to a more normal long-run level of around 4%.

The supermarkets have clearly taken a view that squeezing net profit margins today is the right thing to do to help their
customers in this current environment. In �me that will of course correct, though not necessarily result in an increased cost
to the customer. Part of that correc�on will naturally come from running the business as efficiently as possible and there will
also be some challenging cost of goods conversa�ons with suppliers who have perhaps over-inflated. So, in �me, I believe we
will see profit margins coming back to a more normal level.

I don't believe this current cycle of lower net margins will impact supermarket property values. Supermarket rents represent
a very small propor�on of total costs - this is in significant contrast to other sectors. Short-term changes in profitability will
not affect an operator's ability to pay rent, especially on their best sites, demonstra�ng the resilience of these large scale,
well posi�oned, supermarkets. In fact, with the top line infla�ng and rent increases lagging, rent as a percentage of sales
(which is the key metric for operators) is actually reducing.

Of course, supermarket property has not been immune to the outward yield shi� experienced across all property investment
markets. However, these declines in values are reflec�ng the outward shi� in property yields applied by valuers because of
higher interest rates and the overall macroeconomic environment.

 

Q: Why have transac�on volumes in supermarket real estate remained high rela�ve to other real estate sectors, especially
against the backdrop of higher interest rates?

It is worth no�ng that when you examine performance trends over the last 15 years, the supermarket property investment
market has been less vola�le than the broader UK property market. In fact, the sector has been a stand-out posi�ve
performer in contrast to others, illustra�ng the long-term strength and stability of this somewhat unique asset class.

Investors looking for property assets that offer consistent income are increasingly targe�ng the supermarket property sector.
Research from Atrato on property investment volumes clearly shows that this trend con�nues with transac�on liquidity in
supermarket property investments remaining high rela�ve to the declines seen in other property markets.

In the next phase of the cycle, I think we will start to see market rents infla�ng above passing rents on most exis�ng stores
given the high levels of infla�on driving store turnovers above rental cap levels. In addi�on, rising construc�on costs on
developing new stores are making supermarket store leases look increasingly good value. This is one of the drivers of the
store buyback ac�vity that we are seeing from Tesco and Sainsbury's.



Given the current high yield on offer as a func�on of higher rates, it is not surprising to see increased investment interest in
the asset class. Having said that, not all supermarket property is equal and specialists like the Atrato team are cri�cal to
ensure the right asset selec�on for the long-term.

 

Q: Digitalisa�on of business models and the opportuni�es from ar�ficial intelligence are genera�ng significant headlines.
Do you believe supermarket operators have embraced this and how do you see its applica�on to the UK grocery market?

The digitalisa�on of the economy has generated turbulent change across many industries. We saw this first in the media
sector, followed by retail and then moving rapidly into all other sectors. Digitalisa�on is an ever-changing force that many
businesses understandably struggle to keep up with.

However, the idea that incumbent grocers have not embraced digitalisa�on is a false one. In fact, the reality is very different.
The incumbent grocers transi�oned from an analogue to digital business model around the early 2000's following the
introduc�on of Clubcard by Tesco and Nectar by Sainsbury's. The data from these loyalty card systems meant that we could
see what people were buying and, for the first �me, who was buying it. This was coupled with an ability to process that data
in close to real �me. It is staggering to think that the Clubcard today is held by over 20 million households in the UK. 

These loyalty programmes provide powerful insights for operators looking to tailor the range, mix and price of products to
meet the needs of the consumer, as well as an apprecia�on of how to serve customers be�er in the future. Addi�onally,
operators are able to understand the differences between when customers shop, what they buy and through which channel.
The insights gained from these systems were key factors behind UK grocers becoming early adopters of omnichannel
strategies. Operators recognised the value of seamless integra�on between online and offline fulfilment, empowering them
to become truly blind to channel. Of course, today, this is fashionably characterised as big data technology, however it's been
opera�ng for over 20 years in UK grocery.

I'm a firm believer that the poten�al of this informa�on will grow, especially when overlaid with the processing power of
ar�ficial intelligence. However, grocery will always remain a people-facing sector and in the new omnichannel environment,
digital technology will con�nue to provide a valuable complementary tool in serving the customer be�er through a network
of physical stores. 

 

Q: Valua�ons within pure play online and ultra-convenience pla�orms such as Ocado and Ge�r have declined over the last
24 months. What do you think is behind that and do you think the market is less convinced on the poten�al of online
grocery post the pandemic highs?

In the last five years we have seen a drama�c change in the online grocery landscape, including a step change in demand.
Online accounted for 8% market share in 2018, a figure which subsequently peaked at 15% in 2021 at the height of the
pandemic, and which is around 12% today. Online grocery is set to remain the fastest growth channel propor�onately, but
s�ll behind the volumes seen in the physical supermarket and convenience channels.

I think pure play online operators had been considered by some as a route to overcome the barriers to entry into the wider
£242 billion UK grocery market and an opportunity to capture much of the online growth in the space. However, technology
in the form of very large, centralised warehouses with automated picking opera�ons have failed to provide any substan�ve
cost or flexibility advantage. In fact, a be�er understanding of the true economics points to the global convergence of an
omnichannel model with stores ac�ng as last mile fulfilment centres. Automated picking technology is increasingly being
deployed inside the physical store via micro-fulfilment solu�ons as a more produc�ve alterna�ve to manual store pick.

What the pandemic period has shown is the importance, flexibility and resilience of the omnichannel store pick model. This
has allowed the incumbents to take a leading market share in online grocery, with the large mul�-channel grocers now
controlling over 80%19 of the online market in the UK. This is in contrast to the market belief that new technology players
would capture that online market. I have always believed that we should "think customer, not channel". In a post-pandemic
era, the customer requires seamless integra�on between online and offline channels offered by omnichannel supermarkets.

In addi�on, rapid grocery delivery pla�orms such as Deliveroo and Just-Eat have increasingly been partnering with
supermarkets including Sainsbury's, Waitrose and Aldi as a more effec�ve way of addressing the ultra-convenience grocery
market than the dark store model of Ge�r and others.

Of course, centralised, online-only distribu�on units or warehouses will s�ll have a role to play in providing a solu�on to
store capacity constraints in metropolitan areas or as a solu�on to operators with limited store networks. However, I think
this will be a smaller role than the market would have previously perceived.

 

Q: Environmental sustainability is in the spotlight, given the impact of climate change seen across mul�ple countries this
year. What role do you think supermarkets as retailers have to play in this area?

Supermarkets have generally been ahead of other sectors in understanding the full supply chain and management of farm-
to-fork strategies. A key role of the supermarket is to represent the consumer in the supply chain and given the heightened
consumer concern around environmental sustainability when shopping for groceries, supermarket operators are becoming a
driving force for a more sustainable supply chain.

According to a recent report from Cushman & Wakefield, 26% of global green-house gas emissions are a�ributable to the
food supply chain with around 83% derived from produc�on20. The supermarket operators are therefore naturally placed to
centralise and coordinate this drive towards the decarbonisa�on of the wider food supply chain.

When we launched the 20 by 20 Sustainability Plan at Sainsbury's in 2011, we set ambi�ous goals for a more sustainable
footprint, which today has developed even further to reduce scope 1 & 2 emissions to Net Zero by 2035 and reduce Scope 3
emissions to Net Zero by 2050.

In fact, Sainsbury's has now reduced its absolute greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions within its opera�ons to 461,692 tCO2e, a
reduc�on of 38% year-on-year and 51% per cent from its 2019 baseline, keeping it on course to achieve its 2035 Net Zero
target21. It's also encouraging to see the grocery industry taking a lead in implemen�ng substan�ve governance frameworks
around repor�ng progress against these vitally important sustainability objec�ves too.

Many problems however can also be opportuni�es in disguise. A route to being transparent on environmental sustainability
provides a pla�orm for the grocers to build another conversa�on with the customer, in marke�ng terms, around assessing
the environmental impact of their basket of groceries in a way which can differen�ate brand and add value to consumers.

All together, these are important building blocks that are compounding at an increasing rate. Over �me, I believe we will look
back and see grocers as an industry leader in improving how to measure, report and reduce the carbon footprint of the food
that we consume.

 

   KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Our objec�ve is to provide secure, infla�on-linked, long income from grocery property in the UK. Set out below are the key
performance indicators we use to track our progress. 

 

KPI Defini�on Performance22  
 

1.    Total Shareholder
Return

Total shareholder return ("TSR") is one of the
Group's principal measures of performance.  

(34%) for the year to 30
June 2023 (31 December



TSR is measured by reference to the growth in the
Company's share price over a period, plus
dividends declared for that period. 
 

2022: (11.7%), 30 June
2022: 7%) 

2.    WAULT WAULT measures the average unexpired lease
term of the Direct Por�olio, weighted by the
Direct Por�olio valua�ons. 

14 years WAULT as at 30
June 2023 (31 December
2022: 14 years, 30 June
2022: 15 years) 
 

3.    EPRA NTA per share The value of our assets (based on an independent
valua�on) less the book value of our liabili�es,
a�ributable to shareholders and calculated in
accordance with EPRA guidelines. EPRA provides
three recommended measures of NAV, of which
the Group deem EPRA NTA as the most
meaningful measure. See Note 26 for more
informa�on. 
 

93 pence per share as at
30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: 92p, 30
June 2022: 115p)

4.    Net Loan to Value The propor�on of our investment property
por�olio gross asset value that is funded by
borrowings calculated as balance sheet
borrowings less cash balances divided by total
investment proper�es valua�on. 
 

37% as at 30 June 2023
(31 December 2022: 40%,
30 June 2022: 19%) 

5.    Adjusted EPS* EPRA earnings adjusted for company specific
items to reflect the underlying profitability of the
business. 

5.8 pence per share for
the year ended 30 June
2023 (31 December 2022:
2.9p, 30 June 2022: 5.9p) 
 
 

 
*New measure reported during the period, with prior year compara�ve stated in line with new methodology.

Adjusted earnings23 is a performance measure used by the Board to assess the Group's financial performance and dividend
payments. The metric adjusts EPRA earnings by deduc�ng one-off items such as debt restructuring costs and the Joint
Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee which are non-recurring in nature and adding back finance income on deriva�ves
held at fair value through profit and loss. Adjusted Earnings is considered a be�er reflec�on of the measure over which the
Board assesses the Group's trading performance and dividend cover.

Finance income received from deriva�ves held at fair value through profit and loss are added back to EPRA earnings as this
reflects the cash received from the deriva�ves in the period and therefore gives a be�er reflec�on of the Group's net finance
costs.

Debt restructuring costs relate to the accelera�on of unamor�sed arrangement fees following the par�al transi�on of the
Group's debt structure from secured to unsecured.

The Joint Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee relates to the upfront amount payable to J.P. Morgan in respect of the
short-term facility taken out in January 2023 to fund the Group's purchase of BAPTL's 50% interest in the Joint Venture. This
was specific debt taken out to finance the transac�on to acquire and then dispose of the joint venture, whilst protec�ng the
Group from any recourse on unwind of the Joint Venture's financial asset. This adjustment reflects the arrangement fee only,
as the Group largely had other commi�ed undrawn facili�es that it could have u�lised.

Adjusted EPS reflects the adjusted earnings defined above a�ributable to each shareholder.

The Group uses alterna�ve performance measures, as disclosed above and including the EPRA Best Prac�ce
Recommenda�ons ("BPR") to supplement its IFRS measures as the Board considers that these measures give users of the
Annual Report and financial informa�on the best understanding of the underlying performance of the Group's property
por�olio.

The EPRA measures are widely recognised and used by public real estate companies and investors and seek to improve
transparency, comparability and relevance of published results in the sector.

The key EPRA performance measures used by the Group are disclosed on the following page.

Reconcilia�ons between EPRA measures and the IFRS financial statements can be found in Notes 10 and 27 to the financial
informa�on.

 

           EPRA PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The table below shows addi�onal performance measures, calculated in accordance with the Best Prac�ces
Recommenda�ons of the European Public Real Estate Associa�on (EPRA). We provide these measures to aid comparison
with other European real estate businesses.

For a full reconcilia�on of all EPRA performance indicators, please see the Notes to EPRA measures within the supplementary
sec�on of the annual report.

Measure  Defini�on Performance24

1.    EPRA EPS A measure of EPS designed by EPRA to present
underlying earnings from core opera�ng ac�vi�es. 

4.6 pence per share for the
year ended 30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: 2.6p, 30 June
2022: 5.9p) 
 

2.    EPRA Net Reinstatement
Value (NRV) per share 

An EPRA NAV per share metric which assumes that
en��es never sell assets and aims to represent the
value required to rebuild the en�ty. 
 

103 pence per share as at 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022:
102p, June 2022: 124p) 

3.    EPRA Net Tangible Assets
(NTA) per share 

An EPRA NAV per share metric which assumes
en��es buy and sell assets, thereby crystallising
certain levels of unavoidable deferred tax. 
 

93 pence per share as at 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022:
92p, 30 June 2022: 115p)

4.    EPRA Net Disposal Value
(NDV) per share 

An EPRA NAV per share metric which represents the
shareholders' value under a disposal scenario, where
deferred tax, financial instruments and certain other

98 pence per share as at 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022:
97p, 30 June 2022: 116p) 



adjustments are calculated to the full extent of their
liability, net of any resul�ng tax. 
 

5.    EPRA Net Ini�al Yield (NIY)
& EPRA "Topped-Up" Net
Ini�al Yield 

Annualised rental income based on the cash rents
passing at the balance sheet date, less non-
recoverable property opera�ng expenses, divided by
the market value of the property, increased with
(es�mated) purchasers' costs. The "topped-up" yield
is the same as the standard measure as we do not
have material adjustments for any rent-free periods
or other lease incen�ves. 
 

5.5% as at 30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: 5.3%, 30 June
2022: 4.6%) 

6.    EPRA Vacancy Rate Es�mated Market Rental Value (ERV) of vacant space
divided by ERV of the whole por�olio. 
 

0.4% as at 30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: 0.5%, 30 June
2022: 0.2%) 

7.    EPRA Cost Ra�o (Including
direct vacancy costs)

Administra�ve & opera�ng costs (including costs of
direct vacancy) divided by gross rental income. 
 

15.5% for the year ended 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022:
16.7%, 30 June 2022: 16.5%) 

8.    EPRA Cost Ra�o (Excluding
direct vacancy costs)

Administra�ve & opera�ng costs (excluding costs of
direct vacancy) divided by gross rental income. 
 

15.2% for the year ended 30
June 2023 (31 December 2022:
16.5%, 30 June 2022: 16.4%) 

9.    EPRA LTV Net debt divided by total property por�olio and
other eligible assets.

35.2% as at 30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: 40.2%, 30
June 2022: 22.2%)

10.  EPRA Like-for-like rental
growth*

Changes in net rental income for those proper�es
held for the dura�on of both the current and
compara�ve repor�ng period.
 

Rental increase of 2.7% for the
year ended 30 June 2023 
 

11.  EPRA Capital Expenditure* Amounts spent for the purchase of investment
proper�es (including any capitalised transac�on
costs). There has been no other capital expenditure
incurred in rela�on to the investment property
por�olio.
 

£377.3 million for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (31
December 2022: £310.2
million, 30 June 2022: £388.7
million)

 

*New measure reported during the year, with prior year compara�ve stated in line with new methodology  

 

INVESTMENT ADVISER'S INTERVIEW

Atrato is the Company's Investment Adviser. Ben Green (Principal) and Robert Abraham (Managing Director, Fund
Management) discuss SUPR's performance and the long-term outlook for the business.

 

FUND REPORT

Q: In a year of significant macroeconomic headwinds, how has SUPR fared?

Commercial property is a cyclical asset class that typically underperforms during the interest rate hike phase of an economic
cycle. What has been different during the current cycle was the pace and magnitude of interest rate rises which triggered a
rapid repricing of the cost of capital and therefore the yields demanded by commercial property investors. This property
yield repricing was reflected by valuers quickly and arguably more efficiently than in previous cycles.

During an economic downtown, the key concern for most property companies is the ability of their tenants to pay their rent.
This is not a concern for SUPR given the strength of the underlying tenants and is evidenced by the Company's 100% rent
collec�on. The supermarket assets that SUPR owns are mission cri�cal to its tenants and that essen�ality ensures 100%
occupancy.

On a rela�ve basis, markets generally expect supermarket property to be less vola�le than broader property markets given
the defensive nature of the underlying grocery sector. This has again played out during this cycle with SUPR's high-quality
asset valua�on down 13.7% during the year compared to broader UK commercial property valua�ons which are down
19%25.

SUPR has understandably been impacted by the challenging equity markets for real estate companies, which whilst
disappoin�ng, does now present an interes�ng value proposi�on for investors. UK grocery sales have experienced strong
growth over the past 12 months, and our key tenants Tesco and Sainsbury's have reported strong free cashflow growth in the
period, underlining their posi�ve performance the current economic climate. The disconnect between the recent fortunes of
grocery operators compared with real estate companies is highlighted by the share price performance of Tesco and
Sainsbury's during the period compared with that of Real Estate Investment Trusts and owners of grocery property such as
SUPR.

The Company's share price performance vs Tesco & Sainsbury's (indexed)



 

Our key tenants, Tesco and Sainsbury's, have reported sales growth of around 10% in their latest figures26. This growth has
been generated on a like-for-like basis given there has been no net new floor space for large mul�-channel operators. This
sales growth is running ahead of contractual rental increases, meaning that rents are becoming even more affordable for
operators.

 

Q: What has been the key commercial focus of the Investment Adviser during the year?

Our focus has been on taking a more ac�ve approach to asset management within the por�olio; rota�ng capital,
strengthening the balance sheet and delivering progress on our sustainability goals.

A key milestone was the sale of the joint venture interest in the SRP our tenant Sainsbury's purchased 21 supermarkets held
in the joint venture at a net ini�al yield of 4.3%, with the Company receiving proceeds of £430.9 million. This followed on
from the NTA accre�ve acquisi�on of the interest of our original joint venture partner Bri�sh Airways Pension Trustees
Limited ("BAPTL") in January for £188.8 million (excluding acquisi�on costs), which was fully funded by a debt facility
provided by J.P. Morgan.

We u�lised these proceeds to pay down debt reducing EPRA LTV from 40.2% to 35.2%. The Company's LTV was further
reduced post balance sheet and currently stands at 34.0%. The Company has also been opportunis�cally deploying into new
acquisi�ons at a�rac�ve net ini�al yields. In total we have deployed £399 million during the year including two proper�es
since the year end at an accre�ve net ini�al yield of 5.5%27. This included four omnichannel stores from the Sainsbury's
Reversion Por�olio. This recycling of capital into higher-yielding assets that met our strict investment criteria has helped
offset some of the increase financing costs incurred as a result of higher interest rates.

 

Q: How has SUPR's financing strategy changed in response to these macroeconomic challenges?

We and the Board considered it prudent to repay debt to reduce the Company's LTV post balance sheet to 34.0%, u�lising
the second tranche of the SRP proceeds and taking a number of ac�ons to manage debt maturi�es and hedging post year
end. We also extended the term of our debt by 12 months, maintaining a weighted average debt maturity of over 4 years28,
whilst also broadened our banking group. Further, we conducted a 'blend and extend' hedge restructure, u�lising the
significant profit on the pre-exis�ng hedge arrangements to extend the term of the hedges by 12 months28. As a result of
this treasury management exercise, SUPR's cost of debt is now fixed at an average rate of 3.1%.

A testament to the strength of the investment proposi�on is SUPR's con�nued access to liquidity, despite concerns in other
commercial real estate sectors. During the year the Company refinanced its term loan with BLB. This was achieved during the
period following the collapse of Silicon Valley Bank and Credit Suisse, calling into ques�on the availability for financing for
commercial real estate. We also added Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corpora�on ("SMBC") as a new rela�onship bank,
highligh�ng lender appe�te for supermarkets. Fitch also reaffirmed SUPR's BBB+ investment grade credit ra�ng in February
2023.

The debt maturity profile below, which includes uncommi�ed extension op�ons, highlights the spread of maturi�es and
diverse rela�onship lenders which support the Company.

 

The Company's debt maturity profile

SUPR has covenant headroom across its debt facili�es along with over £100 million of undrawn debt capacity. The Company
is well posi�oned and importantly, retains addi�onal capital capacity to be acquisi�ve if compelling opportunis�c investment
proposi�ons arise29.

 

Q: What has been the impact on SUPR's por�olio/valua�on?

The total net ini�al yield moved out on the por�olio by 100bps from 4.6% to 5.6% during the year; a fall in valua�on of 14%
on a like-for-like basis. This compares to the MSCI UK All Property Capital Values Index which fell 19% in the same period,
reflec�ng the high quality of the Company's assets and defensive nature of supermarkets. The por�olio's infla�on-linked rent
reviews also provide an element of natural hedge to the higher infla�on and interest rates environment, par�ally offse�ng
the por�olio yield shi�.

The decline in property values occurred quickly during autumn 2022 and the impact on SUPR's EPRA NTA was reflected in the
Company's interim results for the period to 31 December 2022. During the second half of SUPR's financial year valua�ons
stabilised and therefore the reported June 2023 valua�ons are essen�ally flat compared to those reported as at December
2022. This is supported by good transac�onal evidence from a par�cularly liquid investment market rela�ve to the UK
property market as a whole. The elevated liquidity observed in the UK supermarket property market is a result of investors
being a�racted to the a�rac�ve risk/return profile of grocery assets following the repricing that has taken place.



Recent transac�onal evidence would imply that peak cycle yields in supermarket property may well be behind us, and
further, that yields on high-quality omnichannel stores are actually star�ng to �ghten. However, we remain acutely aware
that a long-term yield �ghtening trend can only occur once the market is convinced that UK base rates have reached the top
of this cycle.

 

INVESTMENT MARKET

Q: What impact has the high infla�on environment had on the supermarket investment market?

Higher interest rates as a policy response to infla�on have driven a rapid repricing of commercial real estate assets and
supermarkets have not been immune. However, this now means that supermarkets are in our view one of the most
a�rac�ve asset classes in commercial real estate.

Investment Property Databank ("IPD") net ini�al yields 2006-2023 (YTD)30

Total market volume during the year was £1.7 billion. As shown below, Tesco and Sainsbury's store buybacks represent a
substan�al share of this volume, alongside which we see purchasers ac�ve in two broad strategies.

Supermarket investment volumes FY 2019 - 202331

Firstly, value oriented, levered purchasers are targe�ng higher yielding opportuni�es at c. 7% NIY. These value players are
opportunis�cally targe�ng Asda and Morrisons stores, buying at historically wide yields due to weaker levered covenants and
in some cases weak store trading. Secondly there are buyers of high-quality supermarkets at yields of c. 5%, which is more
closely aligned with the type of assets in the SUPR por�olio. These assets are typically let to the strong covenants of
Sainsbury's and Tesco on long leases. Buyers are looking to the a�rac�ve returns that can be achieved, with current
valua�ons represen�ng a significant value opportunity in our view. This is par�cularly the case as higher infla�on arguably
supports higher market rental growth.

Significant ins�tu�onal demand for grocery real estate is par�cularly evidenced by the success of the recently announced
Asda sale and leaseback, which is reported to have achieved a £650 million transac�on price despite challenging market
condi�ons.

 

Q: Should we expect to see more sale and leaseback ("SLB") ac�vity by the operators?

Not necessarily, as it depends on the operators' funding requirements and strategic objec�ves.

The more highly levered operators, Asda and Morrisons, have demonstrated appe�te for SLBs. This is likely to con�nue as an
a�rac�ve source of finance compared to the prospec�ve cost of leveraged finance in the current environment, given peak
leverage for Asda of c. 7x and for Morrisons c. 9x32. Asda is expected to use the £650 million proceeds of its SLB at a 6.4% NIY
to fund part of the cost of acquiring EG Group. The cost of the SLB compared favourably to the debt leverage for the
acquisi�on provided by Apollo which was priced at c. 11%.

It is worth no�ng that these operators have historically preferred to own their stores, with only c. 15% of their stores being
leasehold. That gives both significant capacity for SLB ac�vity while maintaining a propor�on of freehold stores in line with
Tesco and Sainsbury's.

On the other hand, we have seen Tesco and Sainsbury's u�lising free cashflow genera�on for store buybacks, alongside bond
repurchases to de-lever their balance sheets. They have balanced this with returning cash to shareholders through share
buybacks. Since SUPR's IPO in 2017, Tesco has increased the propor�on of its store ownership from 52% to 58%33. The most
notable recent example of operator store buybacks was the sale to Sainsbury's of SUPR's interest in the Sainsbury's Reversion
Por�olio, with the por�olio of 21 stores acquired by Sainsbury's valued at over £1 billion.

Operator buybacks and SLBs on long leases highlight the mission cri�cal nature of supermarket real estate. Operators seek to
own or secure decades of occupa�on of their best performing stores, which are also the stores targeted by SUPR.

 

PORTFOLIO

Q: What makes supermarket property 'mission cri�cal' to the operators?

Stores are vital to grocers' opera�ons. Whether sales are achieved through tradi�onal in-store shopping or online, the store
network and associated supply chain infrastructure is cri�cal to genera�ng revenue.



The flexibility of omnichannel stores, such as those in SUPR's por�olio, has been clearly demonstrated in the last few years,
as operators are able to reposi�on resources to fulfil orders through consumers' chosen channel. Pure play operators,
whether solely online or physical, are not able to flex between channels in the same way.

While online market share is significantly higher than pre pandemic levels, as expected, it has come off the peak of 15%,
se�ling at c. 12%. Whilst we expect growth to revert to the modest long-term trend from here, the ability of the grocers to
rapidly respond to changing consumer habits is a key barrier to entry to the market.

Tesco's latest results highlight how valuable large format stores are for operators. These stores are Tesco's largest growth
channel with sales up 9.9%. An element of this growth is a result of cost-conscious consumers seeking to achieve be�er value
through the lower price point and greater promo�onal ac�vity. However, another a�rac�on is also the broader product
range at large format stores, providing greater opportunity to shop across product ranges including premium and value
op�ons.

 

Q: Given the majority of SUPR's assets are occupied under full repairing and insuring ("FRI") leases, what ac�on is being
taken to demonstrate the Company's commitment to sustainability?

At the asset level, at sites which are not fully demised to the tenants under FRI leases, we are looking to enhance
sustainability wherever possible. That starts with electric vehicle charging points, which we are targe�ng for eight sites so far,
while at the �me of wri�ng construc�on has begun at two sites.

We have also worked with Tesco and Atrato Onsite Energy (LSE: ROOF) to support the installa�on of a roo�op solar array at
our Tesco store in The�ord. This solar array energised in September 2023. We are looking to roll out solar installa�ons across
as many stores as possible in the por�olio.

Our grocery tenants have formal Net Zero commitments, resul�ng in very good engagement with SUPR on sustainability
ini�a�ves as these are beneficial for both landlord and tenant alike. We are now receiving energy consump�on data from c.
85% of tenants and are looking to increase this further. We are delighted to have produced our first annual report which
includes voluntary repor�ng in-line with the recommenda�ons of the TCFD.

A benefit of the supermarket operator sustainability commitments coupled with long-dated, FRI leases is that tenants
therefore invest in modernising and decarbonising stores within our por�olio at their own expense.

In all new leases we do our utmost to nego�ate 'green' lease provisions, which permit the Company to access greater
sustainability data from tenants, further aligning the interests of SUPR and its tenants.  

 

OUTLOOK

Q: What will be the key areas of focus for the fund in FY 2024?

Strategically we have posi�oned the Company to have a very robust balance sheet thus protec�ng it from any further
macroeconomic surprises, whilst maintaining sufficient capital capacity to enable the Company to invest opportunis�cally
into compelling investment opportuni�es that may arise as a result of the challenging broader market backdrop.

In the near term we will con�nue to ac�vely manage the por�olio, seeking to generate value for shareholders.

We have progressed plans to develop complementary retail units at a number of our larger sites34. We are nego�a�ng terms
to develop discount food stores of c. 20,000 sq.�. alongside our strong performing exis�ng supermarkets. Such development
can drive addi�onal foo�all, making a more appealing grocery des�na�on to consumers and increasing total grocery spend
at the site.

Whilst we invest in stores with a long-term hold objec�ve, the Company regularly receives approaches on individual assets
from poten�al buyers. As demonstrated by the sale of the SRP during the year, there may be an opportunity to selec�vely
dispose of assets. Proceeds can then be reinvested opportunis�cally in the current market environment, which can be value
accre�ve whilst fully u�lising our sector specialism.

       

   THE COMPANY'S PORTFOLIO

The Company has built a handpicked por�olio of strong trading, 'mission cri�cal' omnichannel supermarkets backed by the
UK's leading grocery operators.

A key pillar of the Company's investment policy is to acquire omnichannel supermarkets that form a key part of the UK
grocery network. These stores offer both an online provision and in-store shopping, helping to capture a greater share of the
UK grocery market. Currently 93% of our supermarket assets are omnichannel, by value.

The leases on our stores benefit from long, unexpired lease terms with predominately upwards only, index linked rent
reviews, helping to provide long-term income with contractual rental growth. The por�olio benefits from affordable rents.
Our Direct Por�olio average rent to turnover ("RTO") is 3.8%35 compared to a sector benchmark RTO of 4.0%. We have high
security of income with 100% rent collec�on during the year.

The Company's assets are predominantly let to the leading UK grocery tenants with Tesco and Sainsbury's accoun�ng for
77% of the Company's rent roll.

As part of the Company's investment strategy to acquire high-quality, strong trading supermarkets, it is some�mes necessary
to acquire complementary non-grocery units that are co-located with the store. These units o�en form a retail des�na�on
helping to drive further foo�all into the supermarket. Non-grocery assets represent 6.2% of the Direct Por�olio by value.

The Company disposed of its joint venture interest in the SRP for a combined total of £430.936 million. The considera�on was
based on a blended net ini�al yield of 4.3% for the underlying stores. There is further informa�on on the SRP investment on
page 29.

During the year, the Company selec�vely strengthened its Direct Por�olio with the addi�on of nine supermarkets for a
combined total of £362.6 million37 at eleven different loca�ons, including a further two a�er the year end.

·    July 2022: A Tesco superstore and M&S Foodhall in Chineham, Basingstoke, including non-grocery units for £71.9
million37. The Tesco superstore had a 12-year unexpired lease term and is subject to 5-yearly, upwards only open
market rent reviews.

·    August 2022: A Sainsbury's supermarket and M&S Foodhall in Glasgow with non-grocery units for £34.5 million37.
The unexpired lease terms of the two stores were 10 and 15 years respec�vely and both are subject to 5-yearly
upwards only, open market rent reviews.

·    August 2022: A Tesco supermarket in Newton-le-Willows, Merseyside, for £16.6 million37. The store had a 12-year
unexpired lease term and is subject to annual, upwards only RPI-linked rent reviews.

·    August 2022: A Tesco in Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, for £25.4 million37. The store had a 12-year unexpired lease
term and is subject to annual, upwards only RPI-linked rent reviews.

·   eptember 2022: A Tesco supermarket in Llanelli, South Wales, for £66.8 million37. The store had a 12-year unexpired
lease term and is subject to annual, upwards only RPI-linked rent reviews.

·    September 2022: A Tesco supermarket, Iceland Food Warehouse and complementary non-grocery units in Bradley
Stoke, Bristol, for £84.0 million37. The Tesco store had a 14-year unexpired lease term and is subject to annual,
upwards only RPI-linked rent reviews.

·    April 2023: A Tesco in Worcester, for £38.3 million37. The store had a 12-year unexpired lease term and is subject to
annual, upwards only RPI-linked rent reviews.



·    May 2023: A Sainsbury's in Ke�ering, for £12.0 million37. The store has a 10-year unexpired lease term and is subject
to 5-yearly upwards only, open market rent reviews.

·    May 2023: A Sainsbury's in Denton, for £13.2 million37. The store has a 10-year unexpired lease term and is subject
to 5-yearly upwards only, open market rent reviews.

Post balance sheet, following the receipt of the second tranche of SRP disposal proceeds the Company announced that it had
acquired a further two supermarkets from Sainsbury's that were previously held within the SRP for a purchase price of £36.4
million38.

·    July 2023: A Sainsbury's in Gloucester, for £17.4 million38. The store has a 10-year unexpired lease term and is
subject to 5-yearly upwards only, open market rent reviews.

·    July 2023: A Sainsbury's in Derby, for £19.0 million38. The store has a 10-year unexpired lease term and is subject to
5-yearly upwards only, open market rent reviews.

Acquisi�ons during the year were financed using proceeds received from the unwind of the SRP, exis�ng headroom within
unsecured debt facili�es and the proceeds from the equity raise in April 2022. For more informa�on on financing
arrangements refer to note 20 of the financial informa�on.

A table summarising the proper�es in the Direct Por�olio can be found in the Por�olio sec�on on the Group's website:
www.supermarke�ncomereit.com

Tenant exposure:

Tenant
Exposure by

      rent roll
Exposure by

Valua�on

Tesco 48.2% 48.9%
Sainsbury's 28.7% 30.4%
Morrisons 6.2% 5.6%
Waitrose 4.7% 5.2%
Asda 2.1% 2.0%
Aldi 0.8% 0.8%
M&S 0.8% 0.9%
Non-food 8.5% 6.2%
Total 100.0% 100.0%
*Including post balance sheet events
 

The strength of the Direct Por�olio is underpinned by long-term, secure income with a weighted average unexpired lease
term of 13 years39. In addi�on, our por�olio is heavily weighted towards upwards only infla�on-linked rent reviews which
provide protec�on in the current infla�onary environment and help to reduce the impact of rising debt costs. The Direct
Por�olio's weigh�ng towards upwards only, infla�on-linked rent reviews is 78% with 54% reviewing annually (including post
balance sheet acquisi�ons).

Indexa�on Income mix by
rent review type

RPI 71.2%
CPI 6.7%
Fixed 2.1%
OMV 20.0%
Total 100.0%
*Including post balance sheet events
 

 
WAULT

 
 
 

Supermarket WAULT
breakdown

0-5 years 0.2%
5-10 years 19.3%
10-15 years 45.8%
15-20 years 29.6%
20+ years 5.2%
Total 100.0%
*Including post balance sheet events
 

The environmental efficiency of our stores con�nues to be a key priority through asset management ini�a�ves, selec�ve
acquisi�ons and is supported by the ongoing investment by grocery tenants into respec�ve store estates. A breakdown of
supermarket EPC ra�ngs can be seen below:

Supermarket EPC breakdown  

EPC ra�ng
% of supermarket

Por�olio
A 4.2%
B 46.2%
C 33.7%
D 15.8%
Total 100.0%
*Including post balance sheet events
 

 

Por�olio case studies:

1)    Tesco, Bishop's Cleeve

The standalone Tesco Supermarket was acquired in August 2022 in an off-market transac�on. The 44k sq.�. store was
constructed in 1998 and is situated on a 4-acre site within the town centre. At acquisi�on, the store had an unexpired lease
term of 12 years, subject to annual RPI linked reviews (0% floor and 5% cap).

Post-acquisi�on, Tesco introduced a two bay Click & Collect opera�on within the car park, which demonstrates the ease of
omnichannel expansion within strong, pre-exis�ng grocery loca�ons.

http://www.supermarketincomereit.com/


 

2)    Tesco, Llanelli

This Tesco supermarket was acquired by the Company in September 2022 in an off-market transac�on. The large format 120k
sq.�. store was built in the late 1980s and was extended in 2006. Its strategic loca�on provides omnichannel capacity for
Tesco in South Wales, opera�ng ten delivery vans and a dedicated three bay Click & Collect facility in the car park. There is
only one alterna�ve Tesco store opera�ng home delivery within a 25 minute drive �me radius.

At acquisi�on, the store had an unexpired lease term of 12 years, subject to annual RPI linked reviews (0% floor and 5% cap).

The store adds to the Group's weigh�ng to infla�on-linked leases within the por�olio and emphasises the Company's
strategy of acquiring strong trading, omnichannel hubs in geographically diverse loca�ons.

 

3)    Tesco, Worcester

In April 2023, the Company acquired a strong performing 65k sq.�. Tesco supermarket in Worcester in an off-market
transac�on. Tesco has a long trading history at the store, having operated at the site since the early 1990s which was
subsequently expanded in 2008. The store is an online hub for Tesco, opera�ng nine delivery vans and a Click & Collect
facility helping to supply the predominantly residen�al local catchment. There is only one alterna�ve Tesco store opera�ng
home delivery within a 25 minute drive �me radius.

At acquisi�on, the store had an unexpired lease term of 12 years, subject to annual RPI linked rent reviews (0% floor and 4%
cap).

The store further increases rental indexa�on within the por�olio and increases the Company's exposure to the UK's strongest
grocery tenants.

 

Sainsbury's Reversion Por�olio

Between May 2020 and January 2023, the Company built a c. 51% stake in the Sainsbury's Reversion Por�olio firstly through
a joint venture with BAPTL and then through buying out BAPTL's stake. The SRP consisted of the freehold interest in 26
geographically diverse high-quality Sainsbury's supermarkets, with a London and southeast loca�on bias.

Sainsbury's occupied the stores in the SRP under leases due to expire during 2023. The investment case for acquiring the
stakes in the SRP was based on the Company's convic�on that Sainsbury's would remain in occupa�on of a large majority of
the stores.

This proved to be correct with Sainsbury's exercising op�ons to acquire 21 stores within the SRP (the Op�on Stores) for
£1,040 million from the SRP and entering into new 15-year leases on four of the five remaining stores within the SRP (the
Non-Op�on Stores).

In January 2023, the Company acquired BAPTL's interest in the SRP for £188.8 million (excluding acquisi�on costs). This
acquisi�on was wholly funded by a receivables loan from J.P. Morgan secured against the Company's share of proceeds from
the sale of the 21 Op�on Stores.

In March 2023, the Company sold its 51.0% beneficial interest in the SRP to Sainsbury's for a gross considera�on of £430.9
million (excluding costs) payable in tranches.

The first tranche of £279.3 million was received on 17 March 2023 and the second of £116.9 million on 10 July 2023.

The Company received the third tranche when it acquired the four Non-Op�on Stores for a total considera�on of £61.6
million. The remaining store will be sold at vacant possession value and the Company will receive 51.0% of the net proceeds,
which are expected to be approximately £1.5 million.    

The net proceeds from the sale of the Company's interest in the SRP have been used to reduce the Company's exis�ng debt
facili�es, providing the Company with balance sheet flexibility and the ability to take advantage of opportunis�c value add
transac�ons.

 

Por�olio valua�on

Cushman & Wakefield valued the Direct Por�olio as at 30 June 2023, in accordance with the RICS Valua�on - Global
Standards which incorporate the Interna�onal Valua�on Standards and the RICS UK Valua�on Standards edi�on current at
the valua�on date.

The proper�es were valued individually without any premium/discount applying to the Direct Por�olio as a whole. The Direct
Por�olio market value was £1,685.7 million, an increase of £124.1 million reflec�ng a valua�on decline of £253.2 million
offset by new acquisi�ons of £377.3 million. This valua�on reflects a net ini�al yield of 5.6% and a like-for-like valua�on
decline of 13.7% since 30 June 2022. The benchmark MSCI All Property Capital Index during the same period was down 19%.

The decline in valua�on reflects the outward shi� in property yields applied by valuers across the real estate sector as a
result of higher interest rates and the macroeconomic environment. This was largely recognised in the first half of the year,
with a like-for-like valua�on decline of 13.4% reported in the Company's valua�on as at 31 December 2022. Valua�ons
remained broadly flat in the second half of the year.

The valua�on decline in the year has however been par�ally mi�gated by our contractual infla�on-linked rental upli�s. The
average annualised increase in rent from rent reviews performed during the year was 4.1%. 80% of the Company's leases

benefit from contractual rental upli�s, with 78% linked to infla�on and 2% with fixed upli�s.    
 

THE UK GROCERY MARKET

Atrato Capital Limited is the Investment Adviser to the Company. Steven Noble (Chief Investment Officer of Atrato Capital)
discusses the UK grocery market and the outlook for real estate investment in the sector.

 

Q: How has the grocery sector performed over the last few years given the turbulent market macroeconomic backdrop?

The grocery market has demonstrated its defensive characteris�cs yet again over the last few years. Total UK grocery market
sales are up 11% in the year, with the total UK grocery market now expected to generate over £240 billion in annual sales in
202340.

In fact, since IPO, the grocery market will have increased by over £50 billion from £185 billion in 2017 to an es�mated £242
billion in 2023 represen�ng a compound growth rate of 5% which exceeds both CPIH infla�on and GDP growth over the
same period.

IGD UK Grocery Market Value 2018 - 2028 (forecast)



Grocery is non-discre�onary expenditure which accounts for 14%41 of household spending. The change in consumer
behaviour towards a greater propor�on of �me spent working from home and the increased market penetra�on of online
grocery has resulted in a long-term structural shi� in grocery demand. This has been achieved against a very turbulent five-
year period for the wider UK economy which includes Covid lockdowns, supply disrup�ons, the Ukraine war, infla�on and a
sharp increase in interest rates.

This long-term growth has been driving record flows of investment into the sector from a broad range of ins�tu�onal
investors, including the £14 billion of net investment from the sale of Asda in 2021 and Morrisons in 2022. This year there
has also been £1.7 billion42 of capital investment into the supermarket property sector from investors looking for assets that
offer consistent returns, underpinned by solid corporate covenants and low rent to turnover ra�os.

The outlook for the sector remains posi�ve, with structural long-term growth drivers, which in turn support property rental
growth over the medium to long-term.

 

Q: What operators have been capturing this growth and who are the largest operators in the UK grocery market?

Six major supermarket operators fulfil over 83% of UK grocery demand with the majority fulfilled via a combined network of
over 4,500 stores across the UK.

 

Kantar Worldpanel June 2023 - UK grocery market share by operator

Tesco, Sainsbury's, Asda and Morrisons are the larger mul�-channel grocers who boast a combined market share of
approximately 65%. Each of these businesses has mul�-billion-pound revenues, an established consumer brand and core
supermarket loca�ons across the UK. These operators play an integral role in the UK market, successfully opera�ng a strategy
of price and assortment management through a mul�-channel brand focused strategy. Their combined market share is
largely unchanged since 2019, mee�ng demand of the enlarged market through their exis�ng network of stores and deep-
rooted "farm to fork" supply chains which provide a significant barrier to entry to the UK market.

We are seeing some short-term pressure on margins, as the grocers seek to shield consumers from price rises. However,
these well-established mul�-channel operators have been genera�ng consistent profitability and free cashflows with net
profit margins that typically averaged around 4% over the long-term. 

The second largest group of operators is the lower-price grocery operators ("Discounters") such as Aldi and Lidl. They have
grown through ambi�ous new store opening programmes which have captured a combined market share of 18%. However
recent significant increases in construc�on costs are expected to result in a decline in the number of new stores in the
coming years. The Discounters' lower cost, low-margin business model requires simplicity and standardisa�on of range which
is a�rac�ve to price sensi�ve customers.

This discount market remains highly compe��ve and the sector typically operates a lower net profit margins of between 1%
to 2%. These fine margins mean that the Discounters are infla�ng prices quicker than other operators, having peaked at 26%
compared to 15% for Tesco and Sainsbury's43. Therefore, we see an element of market share gain coming simply through
higher prices.

 

Q: What changes have you seen in the various grocery formats over the last 5 years?

As illustrated below, over the last five years the supermarket channel has remained the dominant sales channel in the UK
grocery market, while online grocery has been the fastest growing, despite paring back from pandemic peaks over the last
year.

Ins�tute of Grocery Distribu�on ("IGD") UK Grocery Channel forecasts



In the last 5 years we have seen a drama�c change in the online grocery channel. In 2018 online accounted for 8% of market
share. The channel's market share rapidly increased, peaking at 15% in 2021 at the height of the pandemic and it has since
fallen to around 12% today. Online grocery is, however, set to remain one of the fastest growth channels in the grocery
sector according to IGD's forecasts.

The larger mul�-channel operators have responded rapidly and effec�vely to capture this growth, increasing home delivery
and Click & Collect capacity from a network of stores ac�ng as last mile fulfilment centres. This agility has pioneered the new
omnichannel store model that combines the largest channel with the fastest growing.

Larger supermarkets with in-store pick capacity have been well posi�oned to fulfil this growth with over 80%44 of online
grocery sales es�mated to now be fulfilled from these omnichannel stores. At the extreme, our research has shown that the
turnover of some individual omnichannel grocery stores is now 50% online and 50% physical shopping, and a 25%:75% split
is not uncommon.

The UK's large mul�-channel grocers pioneered the development of the omnichannel business model towards which we are
seeing a global convergence. The seamless integra�on between online and offline is a very significant development within
the grocery industry empowering the operator to be truly blind to channel. Future grocery strategy can therefore be
focussed purely on the customer and be agnos�c to where the sale takes place - in-store, or online via delivery or Click &
Collect.

Our investment strategy is aligned with this future model of grocery. A key pillar of the Company's strategy is inves�ng in
omnichannel supermarkets to capitalise on the long-term structural trend towards growing omnichannel opera�ons. We
believe that our high-quality por�olio of omnichannel supermarket proper�es will deliver sustainable income and capital
growth over the long-term.

 

Q: What is a typical supermarket lease structure?

Supermarket lease agreements are o�en long-dated and infla�on-linked. Original lease tenures range from 15 to 30 years
without break op�ons. Rent reviews o�en link the growth in rents to an infla�on index such as RPI, RPIX or CPI (with typically
4% caps and 0% floors), or, alterna�vely, may have fixed annual growth rates or open market rent reviews.

An open market review means that the rent is adjusted (usually upwards only) to reflect the rent the landlord could achieve
on a le�ng in the open market. Such rent reviews take place either annually or every five years, with the rent review
delivering an increase in the rent at the growth rate, compounded over the period.

Landlords usually benefit from "full repairing and insuring leases". These are lease agreements whereby the tenant is
obligated to pay all taxes, building insurance, other outgoings and repair and maintenance costs of the property, in addi�on
to the rent and service charge.

Operators o�en have the op�on to acquire the leased property at the lease maturity date at market value. Furthermore, to
ensure that the operator does not transfer its lease obliga�on to other par�es, assignment of the lease by the tenant is
restricted.

 

Q: How has supply and demand for supermarket property performed?

The supermarket sector is a highly a�rac�ve asset class within real estate investment. The financial performance by the UK's
major grocery operators against a backdrop of growing UK grocery market and infla�on has a�racted increasing numbers of
domes�c and interna�onal ins�tu�onal investors to invest in UK supermarket property.

Supermarkets have been less vola�le than the broader UK property market when you examine investment performance
trends over the last 15 years, illustra�ng the long-term strength and stability of this asset class, and underlining its ability to
provide highly a�rac�ve and resilient income.

The significant level of grocery market growth and current high levels of infla�on have driven the increase in store turnovers
materially above rental caps making supermarket store leases look increasingly good value.

In addi�on, the combina�on of yields offered by supermarket proper�es and the rental review structures from which our
market benefits mean they offer highly a�rac�ve long-term returns. As such, it is not surprising to see over £1.7 billion level
of investment in this asset class over the 12-month period ending 30 June 2023.

There has been some supply of new grocery investment property opportuni�es due to the growth in the store network of
the Discounters and the recent sale and leaseback ac�vity from Asda and Morrisons, however, the buyback of supermarket
property by Tesco and Sainsbury's over the last five years has resulted in a net overall contrac�on of leasehold supply. We
believe this will be favourable to long-term yield compression in our sector.

The defensive characteris�cs displayed by supermarket property coupled with ongoing demand for long-term secure income
is expected to con�nue to generate strong investor demand in this asset class for the foreseeable future.

       

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Atrato Capital Limited, the Investment Adviser to the Group, is pleased to report the financial results of the Group for the 12
months ended 30 June 2023.

IFRS net rental income for the year to 30 June 2023 increased by 32% to £95.2 million, up from £72.1 million in the prior
year. Contracted infla�on rent reviews in the year resulted in average passing rent increases in the Por�olio of 4.1%
compared to 3.7% in the prior year, with the majority of reviews hi�ng their maximum rental caps. The like-for-like rental
growth for proper�es held for a full year was 2.7%. A further £15.2 million of rental income was also recognised from new
acquisi�ons during the year, which were purchased at an average NIY of 5.4%. 

Administra�ve and other expenses, including management and advisory fees and other costs of running the Group, were
£15.4 million (30 June 2022: £13.9 million) genera�ng an EPRA cost ra�o (including direct vacancy costs) for the year of
15.5% (30 June 2022: 16.5%).



Net financing costs for the year were £24.7 million (30 June 2022: £13.0 million). The increase in net financing costs reflects
higher leverage in the period, with the weighted average debt for the year being £672.3 million (30 June 2022: £491.4
million). The Company fixed 100% of its drawn debt during the year which provided security during a �me of significant
interest rate vola�lity (see financing and hedging sec�on below). Subsequent to the year end, the Company completed a
debt refinancing exercise, maintaining its weighted average maturity of debt to just over four years45. At the same �me the
Company extended the term of its hedging by 12 months, fixing 100% of the Company's drawn debt at a weighted average
cost of debt of 3.1%.

Net financing costs reflect a one-off non-recurring finance charge of £1.5 million, resul�ng from the accelera�on of
unamor�sed arrangement fees as a result of the Company restructuring 50% of its debt from a secured to an unsecured debt
structure. Financing costs were further impacted by the upfront amount payable to J.P. Morgan in respect of the short-term
facility taken out in January 2023 to fund the Group's purchase of BAPTL's 50% interest in the Joint Venture.  

The Group's opera�ng profit, before changes in fair value of investment proper�es and share of income from the joint
venture, as reported under IFRS, increased by 37.2% to £79.8 million (30 June 2022: £58.2 million).

The net decrease in fair value of the Direct Por�olio investment proper�es in the year was £256.1 million (30 June 2022:
£21.8 million increase), which comprised of a £253.2 million valua�on reduc�on in addi�on to £2.9 million of rent
smoothing, lease incen�ve and rental guarantee adjustments. As noted above, the decline in valua�on reflects the outward
shi� in property valua�on yields due to rising interest rates and the macroeconomic environment. As at 30 June 2023, the
Group's EPRA NTA per share was 93 pence (31 December 2022: 92 pence, 30 June 2022: 115 pence).

In January 2023, the Group increased its interest in the joint venture rela�ng to the SRP, with the acquisi�on of an addi�onal
25% stake for £188.8 million (excluding transac�on costs). This was fully funded by a short-term loan from J.P. Morgan, which
was repaid in full on receipt of the first tranche of proceeds received in March 2023 (see financing and hedging sec�on
below).

The Company subsequently sold its stake in the SRP to Sainsbury's in March 2023. The share of income from the joint
venture prior to disposal was £23.2 million (30 June 2022: £43.3 million). However, the share of income (excluding fair value
movements) in the year was £11.7 million (30 June 2022: £12.2 million).

Following the sale of the Company's interest in the SRP, the Group generated gross proceeds of £430.9 million, resul�ng in a
profit on disposal of £19.9 million. The proceeds were structured in three tranches, where a receivable of £136.4 million was
recognised as at 30 June 2023.

The first tranche of £279.3 million was received on 17 March 2023 and the second tranche of £116.9 million was received on
10 July 2023. The �ming of the third tranche of £34.7 million was condi�onal on the sale of the remaining five stores in the
SRP.

Four of the five stores were purchased by the Group for £61.6 million in March 2023 and July 2023, u�lising £33.3 million of
the outstanding receivable.

The Group is a qualifying UK Real Estate Investment Trust ("REIT") which exempts the Group's property rental business from
UK Corpora�on Tax46.

Financing and hedging

During the year, the Group extended and broadened its banking rela�onships as follows.

·    In July 2022, the Group secured a new £412.1 million unsecured credit facility with a bank syndicate comprising
Barclays, Royal Bank of Canada, Wells Fargo and Royal Bank of Scotland Interna�onal. This was priced at 1.5% above
SONIA with a weighted average term of six years (inclusive of uncommi�ed extension op�ons).
 

·    In September 2022, the Group agreed a further two-year extension (inclusive of a one-year accordion op�on at the
lender's discre�on) of its £150.0 million Revolving Credit Facility with HSBC. All other terms of the facility remained
unchanged.
 

·    In January 2023, the Group secured a new £202.8 million secured debt facility provided by J.P. Morgan. The Facility
had an interest rate of 5.3% and was fully repaid in March 2023 following receipt of £279.3 million in respect of the
first tranche of proceeds from the sale of the Group's interest in the SRP to Sainsbury's.
 

·    In March 2023, the Group refinanced its exis�ng loan facili�es with Bayerische Landesbank, with a new three-year
£86.9 million term loan fixed at an all-in rate of 4.29%.
 

·    Post year end, the Group completed a comprehensive debt refinancing exercise securing a new £67.0 million facility
with Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corpora�on ("SMBC") priced at 1.4% above SONIA, whilst reducing its HSBC facility
from £150.0 million to £50.0 million and cancelling its Barclays/RBC facility of £77.5 million. The average maturity of
the Group's facili�es (including extension op�ons) is now over 4 years.

 

During the year, the Group made the decision to fix 100% of its floa�ng rate debt exposure. This was achieved by entering
into three interest rate swaps. This hedged £381.0 million of drawn floa�ng unsecured debt for a weighted average term of
four years. The cost of acquiring the hedges was £35.5 million.

The Group also purchased an interest rate cap to fix the variable rate of interest on £96.5 million of its Revolving Credit
Facility with HSBC un�l August 2024 for £6.0 million.

In March 2023, in line with the refinanced Bayerische Landesbank loan facili�es, the Group se�led early its exis�ng in-the-
money hedges for this facility for a profit of £2.9 million. The proceeds were used to enter into new interest rate swaps that
matched the terms of the new refinanced loan facility of £86.9 million maturing in May 2026. The cost of acquiring the new
hedges was £2.8 million.

The interest rate deriva�ves entered into during the year had a weighted average fixed rate on the associated debt of 3.1%
(including margin). The cost of acquiring these interest rate deriva�ves was £44.3 million and were valued at year end at
£54.3 million. The effect on the income statement for the new deriva�ves for the period are a profit on fair value of the
deriva�ves of £10.0 million and finance income received from the quarterly se�lement of the deriva�ves of £9.7 million.

Post year end, the Group used the value of its exis�ng in-the-money interest rate hedges to extend the term of its hedging
arrangements to match the maturity of its extended debt facili�es at no addi�onal cost to the Company. 100% of the
Company's drawn debt is now either fixed rate or hedged to a fixed rate, represen�ng a weighted average all-in cost of debt
of 3.1%.

 

A summary of the Group's credit facili�es as at the year end and a�er the balance sheet date is provided below:

Lender Facility Maturity Extended

Maturity*

Margin Sonia/swap

rate**

Loan commitment

(30-June-23)

£m

Amount drawn

(30-June-23) £m

Barclays

and RBC

Revolving Credit Facility Jan-24 Jan-26 1.50% SONIA

 

77.5 -

Bayerische

Landesbank

Term Loan Mar-26 Mar-26 1.65% 2.64% 86.9 86.9

Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.35% 0.54% 47.6 47.6



Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.35% 0.70% 28.9 28.9

Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.40% 0.32% 20.0 20.0

HSBC Revolving Credit Facility

 

Aug-24 Aug-25 1.65% 1.12% 96.5 78.1

HSBC Revolving Credit Facility Aug-24 Aug-25 1.65% SONIA

 

3.5 -

HSBC Revolving Credit Facility Aug-24

 

Aug-25

 

1.75% SONIA 50.0 -

Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility Jul-25 Jul-27 2.00% 0.19% 30.0 30.0

Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility Jul-25 Jul-27 2.00% SONIA 9.0 0.0

Unsecured

Syndicate

Revolving Credit Facility Jul-27 Jul-29 1.50% 1.34% 250.0 218.5

Unsecured

Syndicate

Term Loan Jul-25 Jul-27 1.50% 1.34% 100.0 100.0

Unsecured

Syndicate

Term Loan Jan-24 Jan-25 1.50% 1.34% 62.1 62.1

Total      862.1 672.1

        

 
 
 

Lender Facility Maturity Extended

Maturity*

Margin Sonia/swap

rate**

Loan commitment

(Post balance sheet)

£m

Amount drawn

(Post balance sheet)

£m

Bayerische

Landesbank

Term Loan Mar-26 Mar-26 1.65% 2.64% 86.9 86.9

Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.35% 0.54% 47.6 47.6

Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.35% 0.70% 28.9 28.9

Deka Bank Term loan Aug-24 Aug-26 1.40% 0.32% 20.0 20.0

HSBC Revolving Credit Facility

 

Sept-26 Sept-28 1.70% SONIA 50.0 -

SMBC Term Loan Sept-26 Sept-28 1.40% 1.57% 67.0 67.0

Unsecured

Syndicate

Revolving Credit Facility Jul-27 Jul-29 1.50% 1.76% 250.0 204.3

Unsecured

Syndicate

Term Loan Jul-25 Jul-27 1.50% 1.21% 50.0 50.0

Unsecured

Syndicate

Term Loan Jul-26 Jul-27 1.50% 1.48% 50.0 50.0

Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility Jul-25 Jul-27 2.00% 1.21% 30.0 30.0

Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility Jul-25 Jul-27 2.00% SONIA 9.0 0.0

Total      689.4 584.8

        

 
* Inclusive of uncommi�ed extension op�ons
**Interest cost is inclusive of hedging arrangements where applicable. Amounts stated do not include unamor�sed arrangement fees.
 
The overall facili�es and hedging arrangements (including post balance sheet events) have a weighted average debt maturity
of 4 years (including extension op�ons) (30 June 2022: 4 years) and a cost of borrowing of 3.1% (30 June 2022: 2.8%).

The Group con�nues to have a conserva�ve leverage policy, with a medium-term LTV target of 30%-40%. At the year end,
total net debt was £630.0 million, resul�ng in a net loan to value (LTV) ra�o of 37.4% (30 June 2022: 19.0%). Including post
balance sheet events, the Group's Gross LTV currently stands at 34.0%. The Group has further balance sheet capacity to
u�lise for opportuni�es which may come to market.

Each of the loans under the secured credit facili�es requires interest payments only un�l maturity and are secured against
both the subject proper�es and the shares of the property-owning en��es. Each property-owning en�ty is either directly or
ul�mately owned by the Group.

Each of the loans under the unsecured credit facili�es requires interest payments only un�l maturity.

The Group con�nues to maintain significant headroom on its LTV covenants which contain a maximum 60% LTV threshold
and a minimum 190% interest cover ra�o for each asset in the Por�olio. As at 30 June 2023, the Group could afford to suffer
a fall in secured property values of 48% before being in breach of its LTV covenants. With current hedging arrangements in
place the Group has significant interest cover headroom.

Further analysis on the Group's liquidity and banking covenant compliance strength is set out in note 1 to the financial
informa�on. Details of the Group's debt and interest rate hedging can be found in Notes 20 and 21 to the financial
informa�on.

 

Dividends

The Company has declared four interim dividends for the year as follows.

·    On 21 September 2022, a first interim dividend of 1.5 pence per share, which was paid on 16 November 2022.
·    On 12 January 2023, a second interim dividend of 1.5 pence per share, which was paid on 23 February 2023.
·    On 11 April 2023, a third interim dividend of 1.5 pence per share, which was paid on 26 May 2023.
·    On 6 July 2023, a fourth interim dividend of 1.5 pence per share, which was paid on 4 August 2023.

The Group's adjusted dividend cover ra�o was 0.97x for the year (30 June 2022: 1.08x). The decrease is reflec�ve of the
increased debt levels of the Group for the year, interest rate increases and the �ming of the receipt of the SRP proceeds to
reinvest into increasing the earnings of the Group.

The Company is targe�ng to increase the dividend for the year to 30 June 2024 to 6.06 pence per share, which will be the
sixth consecu�ve year of annual dividend increases.

 
Atrato Capital Limited
Investment Adviser
19 September 2023

  



TCFD COMPLIANT REPORT

ESG Statement

The UK is targe�ng Net Zero emissions by 2050. Achieving this will require the full commitment of the real estate sector,
among many others. Supermarket Income REIT plc acknowledges that it has a role to play within that commitment and
therefore must iden�fy and manage its sustainability risks accordingly. The Company believes that this approach aligns with
the interests of its key stakeholders.

Enhanced collabora�on between landlords and tenants is necessary if zero carbon ini�a�ves are to be successful and the
Company is especially focused on this, given the (full repairing and insuring) nature of the majority of its leases. The
Company's sector has proved itself to be agile in �mes of hardship through the "feed the na�on" enterprises; now is the �me
to deliver on zero carbon ini�a�ves throughout its opera�ons. 

In addi�on to the Company's disclosures in line with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
recommended disclosures, the Company will publish its first Sustainability Report in 2023. The Sustainability Report contains
disclosures on other environmental, social and governance (ESG) topics, including outlining the Company's work to
consolidate its approach, by integra�ng sustainability into all levels of the fund and its investment process. 

Highlights from the Sustainability Report, beyond the Company's climate-related ac�vi�es and commitments, will include
environmental asset management ini�a�ves to benefit occupiers and communi�es, further improvements to its ESG
Governance following the establishment of the ESG Commi�ee during FY 2022, and community engagement through
charitable giving and community partnerships. 

The Company's approach to ESG is underpinned by the Board's commitment to good stewardship and long-term value
crea�on for our stakeholders. Our aim is to con�nue to enhance and refine our sustainability strategy and repor�ng moving
forward.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repor�ng ("SECR")

The below table and suppor�ng narra�ve summarise the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repor�ng (SECR) disclosure. As a
listed en�ty, the Company is required to comply with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repor�ng (SECR) regula�ons under
the Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regula�ons 2018. Only data
for the year ended 30 June 2023 is included as this is the Company's first year of SECR.

Repor�ng year
Current repor�ng year:

1st July 2022 - 30th June 2023

Loca�on UK
Emissions from the combus�on of fuel and opera�on of facili�es
(tCO2e) (Scope 1) 10

Emissions from purchase of electricity (loca�on-based) (tCO2e)
(Scope 2)

101

Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned
vehicles where company is responsible for purchasing the fuel
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)47

N/A

Voluntary: Emissions from Fuel and Energy related ac�vity
(tCO2e) (Scope 3) 37

Voluntary: Emissions from Purchased Goods and Services (tCO2e)
(Scope 3)

3,132

Voluntary: Emissions from Capital Goods (tCO2e) (Scope 3) 463

Voluntary: Emissions from Downstream Leased Assets (tCO2e)
(Scope 3)

77,274

Total gross emissions based on the above (tCO2e)48 81,017

Energy consump�on used to calculate Scope 1 emissions (kWh) 606,629

Energy consump�on used to calculate Scope 2 emissions (kWh) 521,321

Energy consump�on used to calculate Scope 3 emissions (kWh)49 186,704,059

Total energy consump�on based on above (kWh) 187,832,009

Intensity ra�o: tCO2e (gross Scope 1 + 2) per m2 of floor area 0.00045

Intensity ra�o: tCO2e (gross Scope 1, 2 + 3) per m2 of floor area 0.13

 

Methodology

The 2022/23 SECR footprint is equivalent to 81,017 tCO2e, with the largest por�on being made up of emissions from
downstream leased assets at 77,273 tCO2e.

The Company has calculated the above greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to cover all material sources of emissions for which
the Company is responsible. The methodology used was that of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accoun�ng and
Repor�ng Standard (revised edi�on, 2015). Responsibility for emissions sources was determined using the opera�onal
control approach. All emissions sources required under The Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships
(Energy and Carbon Report) Regula�ons 2018 are included.

Raw data captured in spreadsheets including energy spend and consump�on data has been collected from the Company.
Where actual consump�on data was available for natural gas and electricity use, this was used. To address data gaps, the
most appropriate proxy was applied by using either previous year's data, actual data to calculate average monthly
consump�on, or by applying the average floor area intensity from sites with actual data. Fuel oil was es�mated by applying
the average 2022 UK fuel oil price to the budgeted spend for fuel oil. Energy was then converted to GHG emissions using the
UK Government's GHG Conversion Factors for Company Repor�ng 2022.

Scope 3 emissions have been calculated for relevant material categories using consump�on data, spend data, floor area and
EPC data. Fuel and Energy related ac�vi�es includes well-to-tank ("WTT") and transmission and distribu�on ("T&D")
upstream emissions from Scope 1&2. For Purchased Goods and Services, Environmentally Extended Input Output ("EEIO")
has been used. Spend data was provided per supplier by the Company's Finance team and mapped to 2022 DEFRA



Input/Output ("IO") categories. Embodied emissions from two newly built sites were es�mated for Capital Goods, based on
LETI factors. Where actual data was not available for Downstream Leased Assets, a combina�on of CIBSE benchmarks were
used against EPC data on energy use and hea�ng type. Publicly available air condi�oning ("AC") cer�ficates were used to
determine the type and amount of refrigerants, where this was not available other similar sites were used as proxies. As per
EPA data, the size of the air condi�oning equipment used was dependent on the amount of refrigerant used and the floor
area. Supermarket refrigera�on and non-food air condi�oning was es�mated using an intensity es�mate from EPA data as no
ac�vity data was available. Refrigerant loss rate for refrigera�on was taken from Direct Emissions from Use of Refrigera�on,
Air Condi�oning Equipment and Heat Pumps from DEFRA.

Energy Efficiency Ac�on

The Company has made efforts to improve energy efficiency across landlord-controlled areas between 1 July 2022 and 30
June 2023. The car park and communal ligh�ng has been upgraded to LED at Winchester, West End Retail Park (50%
complete), Willow Brook Centre (99% complete) and Wisbech sites. Further upgrades to LED ligh�ng are planned for other
sites. The Company is also in the process of replacing the Air Handling Unit at the Beaumont Leys site and implemen�ng a
sustainable hea�ng solu�on for the mall. A Ba�ery Management System upgrade, PIR controls and monitoring and educa�on
has also been put in place at the Willow Brook Centre.

Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

Introduc�on

The effects of climate change are impac�ng countries, businesses and society in many ways. Such impacts will con�nue to
increase if significant mi�ga�on measures are not taken by all contributors. The UK commercial real estate industry is not
immune from these effects and faces numerous risks associated with climate change that could impact the industry in the
near and long-term. These risks include, but are not limited to, flooding and heat waves, impac�ng tenant opera�ons and
supply chains, as well as regulatory ac�ons requiring emissions reduc�ons and energy efficiency improvements. Along with
these risks also come opportuni�es for improving the industry's readiness, which could offer valuable contribu�ons to
mi�ga�on of climate change's impacts and associated risks.

Supermarket Income REIT plc is dedicated to mi�ga�ng climate-related risks, reducing its environmental impact and
managing its climate-related risk exposure. In an�cipa�on of, and in response to, the impacts that these risks pose to the
Company, its tenants and stakeholders, the Company con�nues to build out an effec�ve governance structure and put
measures in place to enhance its climate risk management strategy. The Company is supported by Atrato Capital Limited (the
"Investment Adviser") which, as a signatory of the United Na�ons' Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) and the Net
Zero Asset Managers (NZAM) Ini�a�ve, is commi�ed to assis�ng the Company achieve its sustainability and climate goals to
combat the climate crisis.

The Company con�nues to build on its voluntary repor�ng in line with the taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure
(TCFD) recommenda�ons and enhance its climate-related strategy to advance the development and implementa�on of a
comprehensive risk management framework. This strategy, developed by the Investment Adviser, in conjunc�on with the
Board of the Company, will include a roadmap derived from climate risk iden�fica�on, scenario analysis and a financial
impact assessment of material risks. This collabora�on between the Investment Adviser and the Board helps to ensure that
the Company's investments will con�nue to be guided by a comprehensive risk management strategy that incorporates
climate risks.

In 2022, the Company reported against the four TCFD pillars in its TCFD-aligned report.  In 2023 the Company is
voluntarily disclosing for the first �me on a basis consistent with all 11 of the TCFD recommenda�ons and
recommended disclosures.

Table 1 summarises the 2023 disclosures and areas iden�fied for improvement in future years. 

Table 1:  The Company's TCFD Statement of the Extent of Consistency with the TCFD Framework

TCFD Category TCFD Recommenda�on 2023 TCFD
compliance

Future planned improvements

Governance Describe how the board
exercises oversight of climate-
related risks and opportuni�es.

Consistent - see
Governance sec�on

N/A

Describe management's role in
assessing and managing climate-
related risks and opportuni�es.

Consistent - see
Governance sec�on

N/A

Strategy Describe the climate-related risks
and opportuni�es the
organisa�on has iden�fied over
the short-, medium-, and long-
term.

Consistent - see
Strategy sec�on

Expand upon risk and
opportunity iden�fica�on
processes to include
engagement with tenants.
Ongoing process 2024

Describe the impact of climate-
related risks and opportuni�es
on the organisa�on's businesses,
strategy, and financial planning.

Consistent - see
Table 2

Refine and publish
quan�ta�ve, financial impacts.
To be completed by Q1 2024

Describe the resilience of the
organisa�on's strategy, taking
into considera�on different
climate-related scenarios,
including a 2°C or lower scenario.

Consistent - see
Strategy sec�on

Build upon the Science Based
Target (SBT) road map into a
more detailed Climate
Transi�on Plan.
Q2 2024

Risk Management Describe the organisa�on's
processes for iden�fying and
assessing climate-related risks.

Consistent - see Risk
Management sec�on

Expand on climate risk and
opportunity iden�fica�on.
Q2 2024

Describe the organisa�on's
processes for managing climate-
related risks.

Consistent - see Risk
Management sec�on

Formalise climate-related
communica�on channels with
tenants.
Q2 2024

Describe how processes for
iden�fying, assessing, and
managing climate- related risks
are integrated into the
organisa�on's overall risk
management.

Consistent - see Risk
Management sec�on

N/A

Metrics and
Targets

Disclose the metrics used by the
organisa�on to assess climate-
related risks and opportuni�es in

Consistent - see
Metrics and Targets -
Table 3

N/A



TCFD Category TCFD Recommenda�on 2023 TCFD
compliance

Future planned improvements

line with its strategy and risk
management process.
Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if
appropriate Scope 3 greenhouse
gas (GHG) emissions and the
related risks.

Consistent- see
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions sec�on

N/A

Describe the targets used by the
organisa�on to manage climate-
related risks and opportuni�es
and performance against targets.

Consistent- see
Metrics and Targets
sec�on

Work is currently ongoing to
model emissions reduc�ons,
develop a roadmap to reduce
those emissions and submit a
target to the Science Based
Targets ini�a�ve (SBTi).
Q4 2023

 

Governance

Describe how the board exercises oversight of climate-related risks and opportuni�es:

The Board and the Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager ("AIFM") are responsible for the investment decisions of the
Company and direc�ng the delivery of services by the Investment Adviser to ensure that climate-related priori�es are
incorporated into the execu�on of the investment strategy. In support of this objec�ve, the Board established the ESG
Commi�ee in May 2022 to ensure that the Company's climate related issues are integrated into its business plan and
corporate performance objec�ves. Following the 2023 repor�ng process, the Board will consider the annual budget
implica�ons of the inaugural climate scenario analysis results and will also consider upda�ng risk management policies as is
deemed appropriate.     

The Board appoints the members of the Commi�ee, which has the delegated authority of the Board to monitor the integrity
and quality of the Company's climate risk strategies, as well as to track progress against climate-related goals and targets,
which will be presented to the Board on a quarterly basis. Many of these goals and targets are new to 2023 (documented
within Table 3 below) and are in the process of being embedded within Board presenta�ons.

The Investment Adviser is responsible for advising the Board and ESG Commi�ee in ma�ers related to climate risk and the
Investment Adviser's Head of Sustainability is responsible for delivery of these services on behalf of the Investment Adviser.
The Board also engages with third party advisers to develop its understanding of climate-related risks and how they apply to
the Company. 

Figure 1: Governance structure related to climate-related risks and opportuni�es

Describe management's role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportuni�es:

Investment Adviser

The Investment Adviser is responsible for the delivery of the climate risk strategy on behalf of the Company. Steve Windsor,
Principal and Sustainability Champion at the Investment Adviser, is responsible for oversight, monitoring and management of
climate-related risks and opportuni�es. The Investment Adviser's Head of Sustainability is responsible for the opera�onal
delivery of climate-related risks and opportuni�es measures within the Investment Adviser's opera�ons and leads the
provision of climate risk advice to the Company. 

The Head of Sustainability is a standing a�endee at the Investment Adviser's Investment Commi�ee, assuming responsibility
for implementa�on and alignment with the Investment Adviser's sustainability systems and controls, co-ordina�on of third-
party service providers, and delivery of the Company's sustainability strategy. 

Where the Company has appointed a specialist service provider, the Investment Adviser will require and hold regular project
progress mee�ngs with the service provider, where delivery is tracked against an agreed project �meline. The results of the
progress will be communicated to the ESG Commi�ee by the Investment Adviser in the context of its progress against the
agreed sustainability strategy.

Repor�ng - The Investment Adviser has reviewed its repor�ng obliga�ons to the Company over the year. With the
introduc�on of the ESG Commi�ee, key topics such as strategic developments, occupa�onal health and safety events, and



poten�ally material adverse impacts will be reported under a more consistent framework.

Certain topics will be included as standing items in the quarterly informa�on pack provided to the ESG Commi�ee.  These
are designed to:

1.    Provide Commi�ee members with the ability to directly monitor management of the iden�fied climate related risks
and opportuni�es. This will include Energy Performance Cer�ficate ("EPC") ra�ngs and progress against the delivery
of the sustainability plans for the higher risk assets, flood risk assessments and updates on and feedback from the
tenant engagement plan;

2.    Oversee the Investment Adviser's performance against the agreed deliverables under the sustainability strategy as
well as holding it to account for non-performance.

The Investment Adviser has also sought to expand its external repor�ng, having become a signatory to both UNPRI and
NZAM.  It will be making the necessary reports required under these commitments over the next repor�ng period. Finally,
the Investment Adviser has improved its data collec�on in rela�on to its own ac�vi�es to support the public disclosures of
the Company, in par�cular the social and governance aspects.

Sustainability Strategy and Benchmarking - The sustainability ac�vi�es of the Investment Adviser are supplemented by
services from third party providers. During the financial year, the Company has sought advice from CEN-ESG on
improvements it can make to its sustainability strategy and framework, as well as undertaking a benchmarking exercise to
assess the Company's sustainability strategy delivery against its peer group.

The outcome of this exercise has been the development of a gap analysis for more holis�c, ESG disclosures against best
prac�ces and against the Company's peer group. The consultants provided advice on climate and other ESG disclosure
expecta�ons of the independent sustainability ra�ng agencies, and the consequen�al improvements required by the
Company and Investment Adviser in this regard. These recommenda�ons have been reflected in the Company's sustainability
strategy, against which the ESG Commi�ee tracks the Investment Adviser's progress against the agreed deliverables.

These addi�ons have also been included in the review of the Company's Sustainable Investment Management System (SIMS)
which was developed concurrently.

Systems and controls - The Investment Adviser has appointed specialist sustainability systems experts, Quarter Penny
Consul�ng Ltd to expand its sustainability systems and controls to ensure they are effec�ve in delivering the Company's
sustainability strategy. Iden�fica�on of climate-related risks already forms part of the Investment Adviser's investment
process. However, this has been expanded to ensure more accurate data collec�on and asset level risk analysis. These
changes which the Company is in the process of implemen�ng include:

-   Expansion of the exis�ng asset level sustainability improvement tracking to include asset level plans and the
introduc�on of greater oversight of their delivery;

-      Ac�ve analysis and monitoring of flood risk on a loca�on specific basis under different climate scenarios;
-      Formalising a tenant engagement policy with standardised informa�on request templates;
-      Formalising use of the legal risk register to monitor applicable regulatory and legal changes.

Such systems and controls will con�nue to be reviewed and improved in response to the climate scenario analysis performed
in Q2 2023. 

       

Strategy

Describe the climate-related risks and opportuni�es the organisa�on has iden�fied over the short-, medium-, and long-
term:

During the repor�ng period, the ESG Commi�ee approved an updated climate risk strategy for the Company in line with its
con�nual improvement ethos. In addi�on to the review and revision of the Company's previous sustainability commitments,
the strategy iden�fied three key aims for the 2022/23 repor�ng period.

-      Expansion of repor�ng in-line with TCFD applica�on guidance.
-      Introduc�on of climate-related performance targets for the Investment Adviser.
-      Further review and development of the Investment Adviser's systems and controls.

The Board and ESG Commi�ee recognise that to ensure successful implementa�on of the Company's sustainability strategy,
and specifically the integra�on of sustainability factors into the investment process, appropriate training and communica�on
of sustainability considera�ons must be provided to the Investment Adviser's employees. The Investment Adviser will
therefore expand its training programs over the course of the year to more fully incorporate climate risk topics, which it will
con�nue to develop in line with stakeholder expecta�ons and sector developments.

For this repor�ng period, a first stage risk screening was conducted to iden�fy and assess the impact of the Company's
climate-related transi�on and physical risks, as well as corresponding opportuni�es. Relevant and poten�ally material risks
and opportuni�es were iden�fied through a review of exis�ng risk assessments and consulta�on with the Investment
Adviser. These risks were given a 'First Stage Ra�ng', based on the judgement of the Investment Advisers, to enable the
higher priority risks to be taken forward for a more detailed review.

The short-, medium-, and long-term �me horizons were chosen to align with specific climate risks and risk management
strategies. The short-term �me horizon (2023-2030) aligns to the an�cipated compliance deadline for Minimum Energy
Efficiency Standards ("MEES"). The Investment Adviser an�cipates 2030 as the target year for a minimum B-ra�ng across
qualifying sites. Due to the 14-year WAULT of its por�olio, the Company expects few changes to the exis�ng leases
arrangements during this �me period.  The medium �me horizon (2030-2040) aligns with a period of current lease renewals
for the majority of Company's tenants, during which physical and transi�on risks associated with the Company's por�olio
may have greater influence on lease agreements with exis�ng and new tenants. Finally, the long-term horizon (2040-2050)
coincides with a poten�al increase in the likelihood and severity of physical climate risks impac�ng the Company's por�olio
and allows for the crea�on of long-term strategies and planning regarding por�olio management in response to these risks.
The Company expects that the short-, medium-, and long-term horizons will align with those of the Company's forthcoming
climate targets, which will be set in the next repor�ng period.

Table 2 | Scenario analysis results for the Company's climate risks and opportuni�es and First Stage risk ra�ng

Risk descrip�on Scenario (a) Impact(b) LikelihoodI Overall Ra�ng(d) by Time Horizon

Short
(2023-
2030)

Medium
(2030-
2039)

Long
(2040-
2050)

Physical Risk - Flooding
(Acute & Chronic):
Increased insurance
premiums and increased
capital expenditure required
on adapta�ve or
remedia�on measures.

First Stage
Ra�ng Higher Higher Moderate Higher Higher

Below 2oC
Scenario

Moderate Higher Moderate Moderate Moderate

Above 4oC
Scenario

Moderate Higher Moderate Moderate Moderate

Physical Risk - Extreme
Heat (Acute): Increasing
opera�ng costs for tenants
through increased energy
demand required for
cooling; supply chain
disrup�on, stock damage

First Stage
Ra�ng Moderate Higher Moderate Higher Higher

Below 2oC
Scenario

Moderate Lower Lower Lower Lower



Risk descrip�on Scenario (a) Impact(b) LikelihoodI Overall Ra�ng(d) by Time Horizon

Short
(2023-
2030)

Medium
(2030-
2039)

Long
(2040-
2050)

and write off. This may
increase capital
expenditure, repairs and
maintenance, and reduced
tenant demand and/or rent
premiums for less energy
efficient buildings.

Above 4oC
Scenario

Moderate Lower Lower Lower Moderate

Transi�on Risk - Policy and
Legal Risk: Currently
represented by Minimum
Energy Efficiency Standards
(MEES), but could also
include, new, future,
addi�onal regula�ons. Any
proper�es not compliant
with MEES could reduce
tenant demand, reduce rent
premiums or result in fines.

First Stage
Ra�ng(d) Moderate Higher Higher Higher Moderate

Below 2oC
Scenario

Higher Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate

Above 4oC
Scenario

Higher Lower Lower Lower Lower

Transi�on Risk - Market:
Energy Costs may increase
for tenants, shi�ing
preferences for more
energy efficient buildings
and renewables.

First Stage
Ra�ng Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate

Below 2oC
Scenario

n/a - scenario analysis not performed for this risk type
Above 4oC
Scenario

Transi�on Risk -
Reputa�on: Tenants
demand preferences may
shi� to lower carbon, highly
energy efficient buildings,
due to Net Zero
commitments and their
customer demands,
reducing tenant demand
and/or rent premiums.

First Stage
Ra�ng Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Lower

Below 2oC
Scenario

n/a - scenario analysis not performed for this risk type

Above 4oC
Scenario

Opportunity - Market: By
accelera�ng deployment of
energy efficient measures,
se�ng a Science Based
Target (SBT) and be�er
aligning with tenant
preferences, the Company
could gain a compe��ve
advantage rela�ve to other
commercial landlords who
are not as progressive on in
their climate and
sustainability related
ambi�ons. This could
enable increased tenant
demand and rent
premiums.

First Stage
Ra�ng Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Lower

Below 2oC
Scenario

n/a - scenario analysis not performed for this risk type

Above 4oC
Scenario

 
Notes:

(a)   The IPPC Atlas' RCP2.6 scenario and the NGFS's Net Zero 2050 scenario are assumed to represent "Below 2°C scenarios" for
physical and transi�on risks respec�vely. Above 4oC scenarios were included voluntarily for prudent, compara�ve purposes, and
are based on the IPPC Atlas' RCP8.5 scenario and the NGFS's Current Policies scenarios for physical and transi�on risks
respec�vely.

(b)   Impact represents assumed, inherent financial exposure and/or vulnerability of the Company.
(c)   Likelihood represents the probability and/or frequency of occurrence. (d) Overall Ra�ng represents the product of Impact and

Likelihood.
(d)   First Stage ra�ngs were based on ini�al internal discussions and comparison with peer organisa�ons. The top three risk types

with rela�vely higher ra�ngs for impact and likelihood were then taken forward for more detailed scenario analysis in 2023.
Please see Appendix A for further details on the methodology.

(e)   Subsidence was not selected to be included in scenario analysis this year, but it was iden�fied as a climate risk alongside Flooding
and Extreme Heat.
 

The three climate risks and/or opportuni�es judged to be the most material and assigned the highest overall risk or
opportunity ra�ng in the ini�al risk screening were evaluated using climate scenario analysis. The results of this

analysis are shown in Table 2. The scope of this detailed analysis will be expanded in future years to evaluate more risk
and opportunity types and to be�er quan�fy the financial impacts associated with these risks. Addi�onal risks to be
evaluated include energy costs and customer and tenant demand for lower carbon buildings, while opportuni�es

include gaining a compe��ve advantage over peers by offering assets with higher energy efficiency ra�ngs.
Quan�ta�ve financial values at risk have not been published this year, as the corresponding costs of managing the risks

require further research and greater access to and engagement with tenants. This research and engagement will be
performed over the next 12 months. This is considered to be a transi�onal challenge as the Company's scenario
analysis methodology is developed and embedded.

       

Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportuni�es on the organisa�on's businesses, strategy, and financial
planning:

The Company's ability to evolve its commercial strategies to reflect the relevant climate-related risks and opportuni�es
iden�fied, will be fundamental to its con�nued success.  This will include considering the risks and opportuni�es within



specific ac�vi�es, such as: 

Acquisi�ons - The Investment Adviser has already adapted its asset sourcing criteria and approach to acquiring new assets.

-      No asset with an EPC below C can be acquired unless a demonstrable EPC improvement plan is developed, the cost
of which is reflected in the investment case for the asset acquisi�on.

-      Considera�on is given to the costs required to improve all assets to EPC B, based on current an�cipated legisla�ve
changes.

-      A sustainability review is completed for all assets.
-    Opportuni�es for the installa�on of energy efficiency and renewables technology in support of the Net Zero

transi�on are considered as part of the investment case.
-     The credit standing of the Company's tenants is assessed in the context of their ability to manage climate related

risks and opportuni�es.

As the Investment Adviser con�nues to embed the SIMS it will also undertake addi�onal due diligence including future flood
risk assessments under alterna�ve climate scenarios.

Asset Management - The Investment Adviser already maintains records rela�ng to the delivery of sustainability ini�a�ves
across the Company's por�olio. Priority ini�a�ves will be defined through this risk and opportunity iden�fica�on process and
combined with ini�a�ves previously iden�fied through to the Company's engagement with tenants, the acquisi�on due
diligence process. Current example ini�a�ves include feasibility assessments for installa�on of renewable energy solu�ons or
electric charging points.  The Investment Adviser's progress against these plans is reviewed monthly with the Head of
Sustainability and at asset management planning mee�ngs with site managers.

Financial planning - The majority of the Company's assets are on long-term full repairing and insuring (FRI) leases. The
maintenance and opera�on of the assets, including improvements necessary to achieve the required EPC improvements and
the tenant's own Net Zero targets are therefore the responsibility of the tenant during the term of the lease. The Company's
approach to financial planning is reflec�ve of this and includes the following ac�vi�es.

-     Assessment of the costs of improving all assets to an EPC B.  This is currently underway and has not yet been formally
reflected in the Company's financial planning as it is likely that the asset improvement costs may be shared, at least
in part, with its tenants, which requires further engagement.

-      On-going monitoring of the likelihood of poten�al asset level risks. This may prompt a future change to asset values,
provisions for increased insurance premiums and/or increased future rec�fica�on costs.

-      Updates to the future budge�ng process to incorporate the costs of appoin�ng suitable advisers to support its risk
assessment and repor�ng requirements.

-      Updates to the future budge�ng process to incorporate addi�onal acquisi�ons costs to support the more detailed
due diligence around climate related risks and opportuni�es.

Access to Capital - Access to both debt and equity capital will increasingly require the Company to align with the financial
community's requirements for robust climate risk and opportunity management and ac�vi�es rela�ng to Net Zero.  The
Company's sustainability strategy is designed to address this through:

-      Regular engagement via the Investment adviser with Shareholders to understand their requirements and to ensure
�mely responses to their own sustainability due diligence.

-     Increased transparency over risks and opportuni�es and how they are being managed; which includes this TCFD
report.

-      Independent review and support in the prepara�on of climate related disclosures by third party advisers.
-      Horizon scanning for sustainability ini�a�ves to be implemented by relevant regulators.
-     Ongoing dialogue with debt funders around their sustainability policies including relevant lending exclusions and

funding incen�ves linked to green lending criteria.

Describe the resilience of the organisa�on's strategy, taking into considera�on different climate-related scenarios,
including a 2°C or lower scenario:

Each risk type with Moderate-Higher First Stage Ra�ngs have been considered under two future scenarios. The future
scenarios are the IPCC's Representa�ve Concentra�on Pathway (RCP) 2.6 IPCC RCP8.5. The RCP2.6 scenario describes a
scenario where global temperature increases remain below 2°C as a result of sharp decreases in emissions, whilst the RCP8.5
scenario describes a scenario commensurate with much higher emissions and subsequent temperature increases (around
4°C of warming). These scenarios have been included in analysis on the basis that they represent a low-emissions future
scenario as well as a high-emissions future scenario.

Policy and Legal

The Company's current, key regulatory risk is associated with the MEES. MEES impacts the Company's por�olio of assets by
requiring that each asset achieves minimum EPC ra�ngs in order to be leased. It is acknowledged that within the RCP2.6
scenario, other policy and legal changes may be introduced in addi�on to, or in-place of the current MEES regula�on.
Therefore, this risk is intended to represent a broader suite of future climate Policy and Legal interven�ons. Current MEES
readiness and EPC ra�ngs serve as only one indicator for how vulnerable the Company is to the broader risk of climate-
related Policy and Legal changes. Other vulnerability indicators include tenant lease term. The likelihood ra�ng is based on
the proxy of global carbon price data, on the ra�onale that in future scenarios with higher carbon prices, there is an
increased likelihood of policies, such as MEES, that discourage emissions. In the RCP2.6 scenario, carbon prices increase
more rapidly in the short-term than under the RCP8.5 scenario. Further details of this approach have been included in
Appendix A. 

Currently, the MEES regula�on sees compliance as a landlord responsibility, is applied to all commercial leases (subject to
some exemp�ons) and dictates that a property with an EPC lower than an 'E' cannot be let to new tenants or renewed with
exis�ng tenants. Revisions to the legisla�on are currently under consulta�on, but it is widely an�cipated that landlords,
including the Company, will be required to ensure their proper�es are rated at C or be�er by 2028 and B or be�er by 2030 to
con�nue to lease the proper�es to tenants. Although, as aforemen�oned, these regula�ons are subject to exclusions.

The Company's leased supermarket assets in England currently achieve an average ra�ng of C, with 8 of 50 (16%) rated at D
or worse. The Company has undertaken an exercise to understand the capital expenditure required to bring the por�olio up
to a le�able standard, should the legisla�on progress as is an�cipated (i.e. B by 2030). Based on the Investment Adviser's
ini�al analysis of the upgrade costs, these are not expected to be material for the Company. However, the Company is
ac�vely engaging with tenants to improve asset energy efficiency, where possible, since an asset with a lower ra�ng could
invite lower demand and rental income rela�ve to an asset with a compara�vely higher ra�ng.  This is likely to be of greater
concern to the Company over the medium term when the majority of its leases will be due for renewal. While the landlord is
not able to make change without consent from the tenants, the landlord may register an exemp�on should the tenant not
permit access and altera�ons to facilitate improvement.

As a result of this analysis, the Company will be evalua�ng the capital refurbishment plans on those sites with lower EPC
ra�ngs and ensuring that robust plans are in place to comply with, if not exceed, future MEES regula�ons. The financial
impact of this risk will be assessed in future analysis.

Extreme Heat

Heat waves have increasingly impacted businesses in the UK and across Europe, with average impacts es�mated as high as
0.5% of GDP in the last decade (link). The heat wave in July 2022 saw UK temperatures rise above 40°C in some areas,
impac�ng grocery store refrigera�on capability, energy supply, supply chains and opera�ons. Such events impact store
profitability as they lead to increased energy consump�on and associated costs to facilitate greater levels of cooling. Other
impacts include stock loss and the cost of newer, more efficient refrigera�on technology. If this were to dispropor�onately
impact the Company's stores this could reduce their a�rac�veness to the operators, leading to impacts on rental income.

The results of the scenario analysis show that heat waves are generally a low risk for the Company's por�olio in the RCP2.6
scenario, with temperatures rising above 35°C fewer than one day per year on the short-, medium-, and long-term horizon.
In the RCP8.5 scenario, this risk increases but remains low compared to global risk levels, with the number of days with
temperatures of 35°C or greater increasing to over three days per year on average. Higher risk sites were mainly located in
the South West, with the remaining located in the Midlands and the South East of England.

https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-021-26050-z#:~:text=During%20the%20analysed%20years%2C%20heatwaves,2010%20due%20to%20extreme%20heat


Informed by this analysis, the Company will engage with tenants of higher risk sites through site visits and engagement to
be�er understand the opera�onal impacts as a result of extreme heat, if and how it has affected asset opera�ons at these
loca�ons in the past, and the extent to which it may influence a tenant's decision to renew its lease. Tenants are con�nuing
to advance their own refrigera�on and supply chain technology alongside the changing environment, with refrigera�on
upgrades at stores where the equipment is aged, reducing any stock loss associated with inadequate refrigera�on.

Flooding

While there have been no instances of flooding across the Company's por�olio during its period of ownership, flooding has
in some loca�ons impacted other supermarket proper�es across the UK. This impact is expected to increase over �me due to
climate change (see WWF Water Risk Filter). Scenario analysis results for the Company's por�olio show flood risk to be
moderate on the short and medium-term �me horizons in the RCP8.5 scenario. This risk level is reflec�ve of the higher risk
level that the UK faces rela�ve to many other countries. The scenario analysis highlighted regional differences in risk levels
within the Company's por�olio, with higher risk sites distributed equally across the South East, South West and Midlands,
with Wales, the North East and North West compara�vely lower risk. 

These results will inform tenant engagement across the por�olio regarding flood risk, including enhanced communica�on for
any higher risk sites iden�fied. Furthermore, the Company has undertaken a closer review of past flood risk assessments to
understand what adapta�on measures are available and the capital investment required for such measures. Detailed
financial impacts of this risk will be quan�fied over the next 12 months. The Investment Adviser will be reviewing its
investment due diligence and exploring if more detailed analysis of acute and chronic flood risk impacts can be embedded
into its investment strategy and decisions.

Risk Management

Describe the organisa�on's processes for iden�fying and assessing climate-related risks:

The Company's approach to risk assessment is as set out in the Our Principal Risks Sec�on on pages 71 to 84. 

The Board and JTC Global AIFM Solu�ons Limited, the Company's Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager (the AIFM), together
have joint overall responsibility for the Company's risk management and internal controls, with the Audit and Risk
Commi�ee reviewing the effec�veness of the Board's risk management processes on its behalf. The ESG Commi�ee is
responsible under the delegated authority of the Board for the iden�fica�on and monitoring of climate related risks which
are incorporated into the risk management process.

The ESG Commi�ee will consider both physical risk factors such a flood risk as well as exis�ng and future, emerging
regulatory risks, including the implica�ons of the introduc�on of MEES. Addi�onally, the Investment Adviser seeks to ensure
climate related risks are a standing item when engaging with the Company's tenants. Such engagement occurs mul�ple �mes
per year and more frequently with larger site tenants. Where relevant to do so, it will formally incorporate any risks
iden�fied through that engagement channel into the Company's risk register over the next 12 months.

Materiality of climate related risks and opportuni�es is determined based on their rela�ve likelihood and poten�al financial
impact. This is a process that has been reviewed and will con�nue to be enhanced over the course of 2023. At present, the
Company's finance team have fed into a 'First Stage Ra�ng', which has enabled the process of financial quan�fica�on to
commence via the scenario analysis for selected risks. Once the risk quan�fica�on is complete, it will allow a more robust
assessment of materiality to be made.

Describe the organisa�on's processes for managing climate-related risks:

The Investment Adviser undertakes an assessment of each asset against a set of sustainability criteria, incorpora�ng metrics
such as a flood risk assessment into each transac�on review. The Company will not recommend the acquisi�on of assets with
an Energy Performance Cer�ficate (EPC) of D or below unless a deliverable EPC improvement plan is in place, prior to
acquisi�on, to improve an asset to an EPC ra�ng of C or be�er. The cost of delivering the EPC Improvement plan forms part
of the acquisi�on investment case.

Materiality and priori�sa�on determina�ons are made through impact, likelihood, and risk scoring as a part of the risk
register. Inherent and residual probabili�es are assigned to each risk, from which a risk score is derived. Mi�ga�ng ac�ons
are described in detail in the risk register, laying out governance structure and processes in place aimed at mi�ga�ng each
risk. Finally, ac�ons taken to mi�gate risks are tracked and recorded in the register.

Regulatory transi�on risks associated with the Company's por�olio are assessed and included in the risk register. EPC ra�ngs
and scoring are updated on a rolling basis when there are known sustainable improvements to assets, on expiry or following
a change to EPC calcula�on methodology. These ra�ngs, as the Company's responsibility, are undertaken by the Company's
consultants when required. The Company strives to acquire assets with higher EPC ra�ngs in order to mi�gate exposure to
this risk. This is reflected in the Investment Adviser's systems and controls.

Describe how processes for iden�fying, assessing, and managing climate-related risks are integrated into the
organisa�on's overall risk management:

The Company's approach to risk assessment is as set out in the Our Principal Risks Sec�on on pages 71 to 84. 

The Company manages its risk related to emissions regula�ons by monitoring, measuring, and disclosing its Scope 1, 2, and 3
GHG emissions. Emissions mi�ga�on strategies, including specific emissions targets, are being developed to reduce the
Company's emissions and to reduce exposure to this regulatory risk.

Rising energy costs are a key transi�on risk, as tenants facing rising energy, or other, costs would put downward pressure on
rent revenue. To manage this risk, the Investment Adviser priori�ses energy efficiency and alterna�ve energy sources, such
as renewable energy, in communica�ons with tenants. Energy efficiency and energy sources are tracked as part of the EPC
assessments and this informa�on is used to inform risk exposure related to rising energy costs.

The Company's iden�fied physical climate risks include flooding, heat waves, and subsidence. Flood risk across the UK has
historically been high and this risk is expected to increase, per the UK's Third Climate Change Risk Assessment. Should there
be an incidence of flood, it is an�cipated that a flooding report would be submi�ed by the tenants to the Investment Adviser.
These can be consulted to inform the Company's risk and investment strategy.

The Company's tenants maintain their own risk registers related to their site's facili�es and property. As part of building on
its risk management processes, the Investment Adviser plans to link the material site-specific risks of the Company's tenants
to the Company's own risk register. In addi�on, as part of their Scope 3 emissions ini�a�ves, the Investment Adviser plans to
engage tenants through this process in order to enhance dialogue related to emissions reduc�ons strategies.

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the metrics used by the organisa�on to assess climate-related risks and opportuni�es in line with its strategy and
risk management process. Describe the targets used by the organiza�on to manage climate-related risks and opportuni�es
and performance against targets:

The Company uses EPC ra�ngs of its proper�es to assess its progress towards mee�ng and exceeding the MEES. In line with
an�cipated legisla�on, the Company targets an EPC ra�ng of C or be�er on all owned proper�es by 2028 and a ra�ng of B or
be�er by 2030.

The Company has defined 9 metrics, including asset EPC ra�ngs, against which it can measure progress towards its climate
targets. These metrics, their associated targets, and progress to date are shown in Table 3.

Table 3 | Climate-related metrics and targets

 Target Metric Progress (as of June 2023)50

1 All supermarkets51 B or above by 2030 EPC ra�ng 25 of 50 (50%)
2 All supermarkets51 C or above by 2028 EPC ra�ng 42 of 50 (84%)
3 All ancillary units52 B or above by 2030 EPC ra�ng 37 of 107 (35%)

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2022


 Target Metric Progress (as of June 2023)50

 
4 All ancillary units52 C or above by 2028 EPC ra�ng 99 of 107 (93%)
5 Five sites with Company-owned and

managed car parks with electronic vehicle
charging

Number of vehicle
charging sta�ons

0 of 5 (0%)

6 100% of Investment Adviser staff received
training on climate risks and
opportuni�es by end of 2023

Percentage of staff
trained

In progress. Training for staff due in Q3
2023.

7 Reduc�on in the Company's Scope 1 & 2
GHG emissions

Absolute emissions Science-based target (SBT) currently
being developed. SBT to be submi�ed
by the end of 2023.

8 Reduc�on in the Company's Scope 1 & 2
energy emissions (kgCO2e/m2)

Emissions intensity Science-based target (SBT) currently
being developed. SBT to be submi�ed
by the end of 2023.

9 Reduc�on in tenant energy emissions
(kgCO2e/m2)

Emissions intensity Science-based target (SBT) currently
being developed.

 

Metrics and targets are not currently linked to remunera�on policies for the Investment Adviser or other personnel. This will
be considered by the Company over the next 12 months.

Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and the related risks:

The Company completed its first full Scope 1, 2 & 3 GHG inventory in 2023 based on FY 2023 (July 2022 - June 2023) data.
The GHG inventory was calculated following the GHG Protocol Guidance and all relevant scopes and categories have been
included. The Company defines its organisa�onal boundary using the opera�onal control approach. This means that
consump�on rela�ng to areas where the Company has opera�onal control, such as the communal areas of certain sites, are
included in its direct Scope 1 & 2 emissions. Meanwhile, consump�on rela�ng to areas where the Company has limited
opera�onal control, such as sites controlled by its tenants, are included in its indirect Scope 3 emissions. Given that most of
the Company's por�olio is let on full repairing and insuring leases, Scope 3 forms the largest propor�on of its emissions at
99.7% of total Scope 1, 2 & 3 emissions, largely due to tenants' energy use.

FY 2023 represented a normal year of business for the Company. FY 2023 is the repor�ng period that will be used as the
baseline year for the Company's Science-based Target (SBT), which is currently in development. A target is due to be
submi�ed to the Science Based Targets ini�a�ve (SBTi) by the end of 2023.

Data Improvements

The FY 2023 GHG inventory improved upon the Company's ini�al measure of tenant emissions in 2022, which were
es�mated due to a lack of ac�vity data. In 2023, the Investment Adviser worked with the Company's tenants to source
ac�vity data to improve the accuracy of the emissions. This resulted in the percentage of tenant emissions that were
es�mated reducing from 100% in 2022 to 86% in 2023. In 2023, the Company was also able to provide more data for its
direct emissions, such as the energy use in the communal areas of its sites where the Company has opera�onal control, and
its opera�onal Scope 3 emissions, which enabled the Company to compile a complete GHG inventory. The details of this GHG
inventory are provided in Table 4 (see Appendix B for details of the methodology).

Table 4 | Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Scope and
Category

Descrip�on FY23 Emissions
(tCO2e)

FY22 Emissions
(tCO2e)

Scope 1 Fuels used in the communal areas of sites
where the Company as the landlord is
responsible for procuring the energy on behalf
of the tenants.

10 N/A

Scope 2 (loca�on-
based)

Electricity use in the communal areas of sites
where the Company as the landlord is
responsible for procuring the energy on behalf
of the tenants.

101 N/A

Scope 2 (market-
based)

184 N/A

Total Scope 1 & 2 Emissions (market-based) 194 N/A
Scope 3 (1.
Purchased Goods &
Services)

The Company's purchased goods and services,
including emissions rela�ng to the Investment
Adviser, Atrato Capital.

3,131 N/A

Scope 3 (2. Capital
Goods)

Embodied emissions of newly built proper�es
added to the por�olio in the repor�ng period.

463 N/A

Scope 3 (3. Fuel-
and Energy-Related
Ac�vi�es)

Upstream emissions of energy use included in
Scope 1 & 2.

61 N/A

Scope 3 (13.
Downstream
Leased Assets)

Scope 1 & 2 energy use of tenants, including
fugi�ve emissions arising from refrigera�on and
air condi�oning.
Scope 1 & 2 energy use of communal areas
where the Company is not responsible for
procuring the energy (included in FY23 only).

77,273 87,715

Total Scope 3 Emissions 80,929 87,715
Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 Emissions (market-based) 81,123 87,715
Out-of-scope Tenant emissions rela�ng to biomass used to

heat some tenant sites.
22 1,376

Table 5 | Energy Consump�on

Energy Consump�on FY23 FY22
Scope 1 & 2 Company (landlord) Energy Consump�on (electricity and
fuels) (kWh)

574,047
 

N/A

Scope 3 Tenant Energy Consump�on (electricity and fuels) (kWh) 186,704,059
 

224,504,601

Scope 3 Tenant Energy Consump�on (refrigerant losses) (kg) 11,381 10,719
 
Table 6 | Intensity Metrics



Intensity Metric FY23 FY22
Scope 1 & 2 Company (landlord) Emissions Intensity (kgCO2e/ m2) 0.78 N/A

Scope 3 Tenant Energy Emissions Intensity (tCO2e/m2) 117.99 284

Scope 1 & 2 Company (landlord) Energy Intensity (kWh/m2) 2.30 N/A

Scope 3 Tenant Energy Intensity (electricity and fuels) (kWh/ m2) 473.86 715
 

Appendix A: Methodology notes for scenario analysis

Overview

The scenario analysis described in this report is underpinned by a standard, recognised formula for risk:

Likelihood x Impact = Risk

This taxonomy is considered best prac�ce and is informed by approaches taken in major financial risk, climate risk and
transi�onal planning frameworks.

This approach goes beyond many generic climate models which focus more on the likelihood scores and ra�ngs, by
considering company specific inputs, as part of impact scoring. 

First Stage ra�ngs are based on the Investment Adviser's ini�al judgement. This considered previously performed risk
assessment ac�vi�es and secondary research (including peer review). More formally defined materiality thresholds will be
defined in the next 12 months as a result of this inaugural 2023 scenario analysis process.

For scenario analysis ra�ngs, the likelihood and impact are each scored on a scale of 1-5 and are mul�plied together to give a
risk score between 1-25 for each �me horizon. An overall risk score (Overall Ra�ng) is calculated for all scenarios and �me
periods. Moderate-higher risk scores rate between 15-20, whilst higher risk scores rate between 21 and 25. The Overall
Ra�ng and Impact gradings in Table 2 are based on the average across all sites within the por�olio. The Likelihood grading in
Table 2 is based on the average across all �me horizons under a given scenario and risk type. Considera�on is s�ll made for
moderate-higher and higher risk sites that are outliers rela�ve to the average value as explored in the accompanying text.
Inherent risks and the Company response will con�nue to be refined and understood following this assessment. 

A quan�ta�ve, value at risk or value of opportunity figure can be subsequently assigned to the overall risk score in GBP (£),
however this has not been undertaken for the FY 2023 repor�ng. The corresponding costs of managing the risks require
further research and greater access to and engagement with tenants. To publish only the value of inherent risks without the
associated costs of managing the risks, in the reasonable opinion of the Company, was felt to present a repor�ng risk of
misleading users of this informa�on, at this point in �me. Therefore, research and engagement will be performed over the
next 12 months to progress this area of subsequent analysis. This is considered to be a transi�onal challenge as the
Company's scenario analysis methodology is developed and embedded.

Likelihood

A 1-5 likelihood score is assigned to each loca�on for each risk type. This score represents the probability of the risk
occurring in a given loca�on and is based on generic climate scenario data. Here likelihood scores are calculated based on
the IPPC Atlas and Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS) transi�on variables available in the NGFS Scenarios
Database. A specific 'sub-data set' is assigned to each risk type to act as a proxy for the likelihood of that risk occurring. The
'raw unit' values are converted to a con�nuous score between 1-5 as described below.

Risk Type IPPC or
NGFS sub-
data set

Raw Unit Jus�fica�on

Policy and
Legal

Carbon Price
(NGFS)

US$/tCO2

The NGFS presents the shadow carbon price as a proxy for
government policy intensity. In reality, governments are pursuing a
range of fiscal and regulatory policies which have varying costs and
benefits. Carbon price is considered a good proxy to emerging
regula�on and is sensi�ve to the country's level of ambi�on to
mi�gate climate change, �ming of policy implementa�on and
distribu�on of policy measures across sectors.

Scores are rela�ve to policy across other countries interna�onally.

Extreme heat
CMIP6 -
Days above
35ºC (IPCC
Atlas)

ºC

Days above 35ºC are judged to be extreme. While thresholds for Met
Office warnings and 'heat wave' defini�ons are variable across the
UK, over 35 degrees Celsius appears to meet the historical thresholds
required for a Met Office 'heat wave' classifica�on and amber or red
weather warning being issued.

Sites are scored rela�ve to all other UK loca�ons, with a 5
represen�ng the highest 20% of frequencies (over 3.2 or more days
per year), and a 1 represen�ng the lowest 20% of frequencies (fewer
than 0.8 days per year).   

Flooding
WWF's
Water Risk
Filter

Bespoke WWF
risk score
number (1-6.6)

This database specifically considers the physical flood risk indicator
within the tool. Scores are rela�ve to all countries interna�onally.
'Op�mis�c case' scores selected for RCP 2.6, 'Pessimis�c case' for RCP
8.5 scenario.

 

Impact 

Impact assesses the Company's current sensi�vity or vulnerability to specific risks and opportuni�es, based on current or
historic company insight. Similar to likelihood, a 1-5 score is assigned to each indicator, by a relevant loca�on (e.g. ac�vity,
customer, supplier etc.), for each Risk Type. There are a number of considera�ons here.

·    Impact Pathway: An 'impact pathway' is defined for each risk type. An impact pathway is a financial statement line
item (FSLI) that we would expect to be materially affected by a risk type e.g. revenue, cost of sales, opera�ng costs,
fixed assets, cash etc. A risk type may have mul�ple impact pathways; however, the scope of this assessment
considers only one impact pathway. The impact pathway that is judged to be most significantly impacted is selected.
The impact pathways in focus were selected following consulta�on with the Investment Adviser's finance team.

·    Impact indicator: Mul�ple impact indicators can combine to give an overall impact score and can be a combina�on of
the Company's own data points and secondary sources. There are no limits on the nature and extent of indicators
used; we have used one per risk type for the current year repor�ng, however two, three or 10 could be used as the
risk screening evolves.

·    Weigh�ng: Each indicator used is combined to give an overall impact score. The 'weight' each impact indicator
carries is judgmental. At present, because only one indicator has been used per risk, they all carry a weigh�ng of
100%, but should more indicators be added over �me, the Company will reflect on the weigh�ng these carry and
can adjust these within the Excel model as they see fit.

·   Financial materiality alignment: Where possible; we have aligned the upper impact score (a '5 ra�ng') with a
financially material impact.

The below table details the impact scores and jus�fica�ons for the Company's impact ra�ngs: 

https://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/
https://data.ene.iiasa.ac.at/ngfs/
https://data.ene.iiasa.ac.at/ngfs/
https://data.ene.iiasa.ac.at/ngfs
https://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/
https://interactive-atlas.ipcc.ch/
https://riskfilter.org/water/home
https://riskfilter.org/water/home
https://riskfilter.org/water/home


Risk Type Impact Indicator Impact
banding

Raw unit Jus�fica�on

Policy and
Legal

EPC Cer�ficate
ra�ngs per site -
100% weigh�ng

5 EPC E

As of June 2023, it is an�cipated that Minimum
Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) will require asset
EPC ra�ngs to be raised to C by 2028 and to B by
2030. This means that the landlord of any proper�es
not mee�ng these requirements could incur a fine
(exemp�ons do apply - for example where there is a
tenant in situ who will not allow the landlord to make
changes to improve building energy performance).
EPC ra�ngs are an indicator of energy efficiency, so as
the UK transi�ons to Net Zero, higher energy
intensity will indicate a greater risk exposure.
The landlord of any asset currently at a E or below is
more vulnerable to incurring fines as a result of
current regula�on, as they are not compliant. Given
the direc�on of change, D or below would also be
most vulnerable to any other future regula�on
changes that may arise. Moderate-Higher and Higher
impact (bandings 4 & 5 respec�vely) assets may also
harm the Company's reputa�on and reduce the
marketability of the individual asset.
While it is an�cipated that an EPC C will not be
judged as compliant in 2030, the Company has
judged this impact remains as a moderate risk due to
the following factors: there is felt to be sufficient
�me to upgrade to EPC B by 2030 and plans are
already underway to achieve this, many of the
Company's tenants are on long-term leases, and so
are less able and/or likely to terminate or not renew
lease if there were any MEES compliance issues. In
addi�on, the majority of the grocery tenants have
clear plans they are ac�oning in order to improve the
energy performance of their store as this leads to
cost savings, as well as contribu�ng towards their
own sustainability and Net Zero targets.

4 EPC D

3 EPC C

2 EPC B

1 EPC A

Extreme
heat

Energy Intensity
per site (kWh/m2

per year) - 100%
weigh�ng

5 859-706
This is a more specific indicator of energy use and is
not related to regula�on like in the case of EPCs. In
instances of extreme heat, it is assumed that
proper�es will consume more energy for cooling.
Therefore, less efficient or more energy intense
assets are deemed more vulnerable as they are likely
already incurring higher than average energy costs.
The higher energy consump�on will also be pu�ng
pressure on the specific tenant's Net Zero targets and
could indicate assets that are more vulnerable to that
tenant not renewing / applying pressure for the
Company to improve these buildings.
 
The highest impact banding (5) represents the
highest energy intensity 20% of the range. The range
is (859-92 = 767kWh/m2), therefore anything over
705 kWh/m2 is assigned a 5.
 
This scores each site rela�ve to each other - we
cannot yet validate whether the increase in cooling
requirements at a more energy intense site is
material for the tenant; however, this will be
explored in the future years SA.

4 705-552

3 551-399

2 398-245

1 244-92

Flooding
Revenue per site
- 100% weigh�ng

5 >5%
(>£4.4m)

Annual rent collected (revenue) was used as an
indicator for impact. The ra�onale being that the
greater the rent, the more material the impact if a
site was damaged by a flood, which resulted in a
tenant defaul�ng/deferring on lease payment.
 
Bandings are based on a % of total supermarket
revenue where an individual site genera�ng over 5%
of revenue is deemed financially material. Bandings
are not linear but logarithmic (50% of the banding
above), in order to align with the approach
commonly applied in financial audi�ng.

 

4
>2.5%

(>£2.2m)

3
>1.25%

(>£1.1m)

2
>0.6%

(>£0.5m)

1 <0.6%
(<£0.5m)

 

Limita�ons of this analysis

-      EPCs are only one means of assessing the overall energy efficiency of a site and it may be the case that dynamic
standards are introduced in the near future.

-      Two sites (Sainsbury's Denton & Sainsbury's Ke�ering) were missing from the data and were assigned an impact
value of 3 by default.

-      Non-food assets were not screened in this analysis due to limited data availability but will look to be included in next
year's repor�ng following a data remedia�on exercise.

Appendix B: Methodology notes for greenhouse gas inventory

Methodology and Assump�ons

The 2022 Conversion Factors published by the UK Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) and Department for
Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) was the main source used for emission factors. All relevant categories have



been included and any exclusions are described below.

Scope 1 & 2

For electricity and natural gas, some actual consump�on data was provided. Where there were gaps, es�ma�ons were made
using previous year data or floor area intensi�es (based on similar sites within the por�olio) as proxies. For fuel oil, spend
was used as a proxy due to a lack of ac�vity data.

Scope 3 (1. Purchased Goods & Services)

This category was es�mated using spend as a proxy and applying Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA)
input-output factors kgCO2/GBP) to expenditure.

Scope 3 (2. Capital Goods)

There were two sites where development was completed in the repor�ng period. For these sites, embodied carbon
emissions were es�mated by applying a benchmark intensity (kgCO2e/m2) to the floor area.

Scope 3 (13. Downstream Leased Assets)

The majority of emissions relate to tenant energy use. Some tenants provided actual consump�on data for electricity and
hea�ng. Where there were gaps, es�ma�ons were made using benchmark intensity data based on floor area. Refrigerants
were es�mated for all sites. One small non-food site was excluded from the calcula�ons due to a lack of ac�vity data or floor
area required for es�ma�ons.

A smaller amount of emissions arise from the communal areas of sites where the Company owns the land but is not
responsible for paying for the energy. These emissions were es�mated using the floor area intensi�es of similar sites with
actual data.

       

OUR PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Board and JTC Global AIFM Solu�ons Limited, the Company's Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager (the AIFM), together
have joint overall responsibility for the Company's risk management and internal controls, with the Audit Commi�ee
reviewing the effec�veness of the Board's risk management processes on its behalf.

To ensure that risks are recognised and appropriately managed, the Board has agreed a formal risk management framework.
This framework sets out the mechanisms through which the Board iden�fies, evaluates and monitors its principal risks and
the effec�veness of the controls in place to mi�gate them.

The Board aims to operate in a low-risk environment, focusing substan�ally on a single sector of the UK real estate market.
The Board and the AIFM therefore recognise that effec�ve risk management is key to the Group's success. Risk management
ensures a defined approach to decision making that seeks to decrease the uncertainty surrounding an�cipated outcomes,
balanced against the objec�ve of crea�ng value for shareholders.

The Board determines the level of risk it will accept in achieving its business objec�ves, and this has not changed during the
year. We have no appe�te for risk in rela�on to regulatory compliance or the health, safety and welfare of our tenants,
service providers and the wider community in which we work. We con�nue to have a moderate appe�te for risk in rela�on
to ac�vi�es which drive revenues and increase financial returns for our investors.

There are a number of poten�al risks and uncertain�es which could have a material impact on the Group's performance over
the forthcoming financial year and could cause actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results.

The risk management process includes the Board's iden�fica�on, considera�on and assessment of those emerging risks
which may impact the Group.

Emerging risks are specifically covered in the risk framework, with assessments made both during the regular quarterly risk
review and as poten�ally significant risks arise. The quarterly assessment includes input from the Investment Adviser and
review of informa�on by the AIFM, prior to considera�on by the Audit Commi�ee.

The matrix below illustrates our assessment of the impact and the probability of the principal risks iden�fied. The ra�onale
for the perceived increases and decreases in the risks iden�fied is contained in the commentary for each risk category.

The following risks have been added in the current year and are discussed in detail below:

·    The default of one of the supermarket operators would create an excess supply of supermarket real estate.

·    Changes in regulatory policy could lead to our assets becoming unle�able.

 
 
 



The Board considers these risks have increased since last

year

1 The lower-than-expected performance of the Por�olio could

reduce property valua�ons and/or revenue, thereby affec�ng

our ability to pay dividends or lead to a breach of our banking

covenants.

3 The default of one or more of our lessees would reduce revenue

and may affect our ability to pay dividends.

5 Our use of floa�ng rate debt will expose the business to

underlying interest rate movements.

6  A lack of debt funding at appropriate rates may restrict our

ability to grow.

8 There can be no guarantee that we will achieve our investment

objec�ves.

11 The assets within the Group's por�olio that are less energy

efficient may be exposed to downward pressure on valua�on

or increased pressure to invest in the improvement of

individual assets.

13 Vola�le changes in the weather systems may deem the Group's

proper�es no longer viable to tenants.

15 Shareholders may not be able to realise their shares at a price

above or the same as they paid for the shares or at all. 

16 Infla�onary pressures on the valua�on of the por�olio.

    The Board considers these risks to be broadly unchanged

since last year

2 Our ability to source assets may be affected by compe��on for

investment proper�es in the supermarket sector.

4 The default of one of the supermarket operators would create

an excess supply of supermarket real estate, thereby pu�ng

pressure on ERVs leading to a breach in our banking covenants.

7 We must be able to operate within our banking covenants.

9 We are reliant on the con�nuance of the Investment Adviser.

10 We operate as a UK REIT and have a tax-efficient corporate

structure, with advantageous consequences for UK

shareholders.

12 Changes in regulatory policy could lead to our assets becoming

unle�able.

14 The rise in a�empted cyber crime and more recently cyber

risks arising from recent geopoli�cal tensions has increased the

risk for listed companies being targets for market manipula�on

and/or insider trading.

17. Impact of war in Ukraine.

      The Board considers these risks have decreased since last

year

 

 
Property Risk
1.    The lower-than-expected performance of the Por�olio could reduce property valua�ons and/or revenue, thereby

affec�ng our ability to pay dividends or lead to a breach of our banking covenants

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Moderate
(from Low)

High (from Moderate)
An adverse change in our property
valua�ons may lead to breach of our
banking covenants. Market condi�ons
may also reduce the revenues we earn
from our property assets, which may
affect our ability to pay dividends to
shareholders. A severe fall in values may
result in us selling assets to repay our loan
commitments, resul�ng in a fall in our net
asset value.

Our Por�olio is 99.6% let (100% of supermarket assets are
let) with long weighted average unexpired lease terms and an
ins�tu�onal-grade tenant base.

 

All the leases contain upward-only rent reviews, 80% are
infla�on-linked, 18% are open market value and the rest
contain fixed upli�s. These factors help maintain our asset
values.

 

We manage our ac�vi�es to operate within our banking
covenants and constantly monitor our covenant headroom
on loan to value and interest cover. We are reviewing
alterna�ve financing arrangements to lessen any dependence
on the banking sector.

2.    Our ability to source assets may be affected by compe��on for investment proper�es in the
supermarket sector

 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Low Moderate
The Company faces compe��on from other property
investors. Compe�tors may have greater financial
resources than the Company and a greater ability to
borrow funds to acquire proper�es.
 
The supermarket investment market con�nues to be
considered a safe asset class for investors seeking long-

The Investment Adviser has
extensive contacts in the sector
and we o�en benefit from off-
market transac�ons. They also
maintain close rela�onships
with a number of investors and
agents in the sector, giving us
the best possible opportunity to

 



term secure cash flows which is maintaining compe��on
for quality assets. This has led to increased demand for
supermarket assets without a comparable increase in
supply, which could poten�ally increase prices and make it
more difficult to deploy capital.

secure future acquisi�ons for
the Group.

 

The Company has acquired
assets which are anchored by
supermarket proper�es but
which also have ancillary retail
on site, and these acquisi�ons
allow the Company to access
quality supermarket assets
whilst providing addi�onal asset
management opportuni�es.

 

We are not exclusively reliant
on acquisi�ons to grow the
Por�olio. Our leases contain
upward-only rent review
clauses, which mean we can
generate addi�onal income and
value from the current Por�olio.
We also have the poten�al to
add value through ac�ve asset
management and we are
ac�vely exploring opportuni�es
for all our sites.

 

We maintain a disciplined
approach to appraising and
acquiring assets, engaging in
detailed due diligence and do
not engage in bidding wars
which drive up prices in excess
of underwri�ng.

 
 

3.    The default of one or more of our lessees would reduce revenue and may affect our ability to pay
dividends

 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Moderate
(from Low)

High
Our focus on supermarket property means we directly rely
on the performance of UK supermarket operators.
Insolvencies could affect our revenues earned and
property valua�ons.

Our investment policy requires
the Group to derive at least 60%
of its rental income from a
Por�olio let to the largest four
supermarket operators in the
UK by market share. Focusing
our investments on assets let to
tenants with strong financial
covenants and limi�ng exposure
to smaller operators in the
sector decreases the probability
of a tenant default.

As at 30 June 2023, 76% of
SUPR's income is from assets let
to Sainsbury's and Tesco who
are deemed investment grade
credit quality, with 2% of rental
exposure to Asda and 1% for
Aldi. The por�olio however
con�nues to be geographically
diversified with no individual
tenant opera�ng within more
than 10-15 minutes of one of
the Group's assets in any single
geographical area.

Before inves�ng, we undertake
a thorough due diligence
process with emphasis on the
strength of the underlying
covenant and receive a
recommenda�on on any
proposed investment from the
AIFM.

Our investment strategy is to
acquire strong trading grocery
loca�ons, which in many cases
have been supermarkets for
between 30 and 50 years. 

Our investment underwri�ng
targets strong tenants with
strong property fundamentals
(good loca�on, large sites with
low site cover) and which
should be a�rac�ve to other
occupiers or have strong
alterna�ve use value should the
current occupier fail.

 



 

 

4.    The default of one of the supermarket operators would create an excess supply of supermarket real
estate, thereby pu�ng pressure on ERVs leading to a breach in our banking covenants

 

Probability
High

 Impact
High
A severe fall in values may result
in us selling assets to repay our
loan commitments, resul�ng in a
fall in our net asset value

Mi�ga�on
The failure of a single operator in any given
town would place strain on the immediate
surrounding retailers as demand previously
supplied by the failed operator would be taken
up by exis�ng retailers.
 
The poten�al demise of a major supermarket
operator would therefore result in the real
estate being poten�ally acquired by another
operator and would con�nue to be used as a
supermarket.
Our investment strategy is to acquire strong
trading grocery loca�ons, which in many cases
have been supermarkets for between 30 and 50
years.
 
Our investment underwri�ng targets strong
property fundamentals (good loca�on, large
sites with low site cover) and which should be
a�rac�ve to other occupiers or have strong
alterna�ve use value should the current
occupier fail. 

 

 

       Financial Risk  

5.    Our use of floa�ng rate debt will expose the business to underlying interest rate movements as interest
rates con�nue to rise

 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

High (from
Moderate)

High (from Moderate)
Interest on the majority of our debt
facili�es is payable based on a margin over
SONIA. Any adverse movements in SONIA
could significantly impair our profitability
and ability to pay dividends to
shareholders.

We have entered into interest rate swaps to
par�ally mi�gate our direct exposure to
movements in SONIA, by capping our exposure
to SONIA increases.

We aim to hedge prudently our SONIA
exposure, keeping the hedging strategy under
constant review in order to balance the risk of
exposure to rate movements against the cost of
implemen�ng hedging instruments.

We selec�vely u�lise hedging instruments with
a view to keeping the overall exposure at an
acceptable level.

As at the year end 100% of SUPR's drawn debt
is fixed.

 

6.    A lack of debt funding at appropriate rates may restrict our ability to grow  

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Moderate
(from Low)

Moderate (from Low)
 
Impacts of both macroeconomic events
and banks' exposure to offices in the US
has resulted in many lenders reducing
their exposure to real estate globally.
 
Without sufficient debt funding we may be
unable to pursue suitable investment
opportuni�es in line with our investment
objec�ves.
 

The Board reviews the Group's financing
arrangements and considers op�ons for
refinancing well ahead of maturity.

The Board keeps our liquidity and gearing levels
under review. We have recently broadened our
capital structure by star�ng to transi�on our
balance sheet to an unsecured structure,
reducing our reliance on a single source of
funding.

Supermarket property con�nues to remain
popular with lenders, owing to long leases and
le�ng to single tenants with strong financial
covenants and being seen as a safe asset class
in �mes of market uncertainty. We con�nue to
see appe�te from both new and exis�ng
lenders to provide financing to SUPR which has
been demonstrated by the new facili�es
entered during and a�er the year end.

The Company has had a cash liquidity event
from the sale of the SRP which has provided
increased liquidity. We believe that this
indicates that the Company is not reliant in the
short to medium-term on bank funding,
however note the recent refinancing events
a�er the year end shows appe�te from banks
to lend to SUPR.

 

7.    We must be able to operate within our banking covenants  

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Low Moderate
The Group's borrowing facili�es contain
certain financial covenants rela�ng to

We and the AIFM con�nually monitor our
banking covenant compliance to ensure we

 



Loan to Value ra�o and Interest Cover
ra�o, a breach of which would lead to a
default on the loan. The Group must
con�nue to operate within these financial
covenants to avoid default.

have sufficient headroom and to give us early
warning of any issues that may arise.
 
We will enter into interest rate caps and swaps
to mi�gate the risk of interest rate rises and
also invest in assets let to ins�tu�onal grade
covenants.

Corporate Risk  

8.    There can be no guarantee that we will achieve our investment objec�ves  

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Moderate
(from Low)

Low
Our investment objec�ves include
achieving the dividend and total returns
targets. The amount of any dividends paid
or total return we achieve will depend,
among other things, on successfully
pursuing our investment policy and the
performance of our assets.
 
Future dividends are subject to the
Board's discre�on and will depend, on our
earnings, financial posi�on, cash
requirements, level and rate of
borrowings, and available distributable
reserves.
 
 
 
 
 

The Board uses its expertise and experience to set
our investment strategy and it seeks external
advice to underpin its decisions, for example
independent asset valuations. There are complex
controls and detailed due diligence arrangements
in place around the acquisition of assets, designed
to ensure that investments will produce the
expected results.

Significant changes to the Portfolio, both
acquisitions and disposals, require specific Board
approval.

The Investment Adviser's significant experience in
the sector should continue to provide us with
access to assets that meet our investment criteria
going forward.

Rental income from our current Portfolio, coupled
with our hedging policy, supports the current
dividend target. Movement in capital value is
subject to market yield movements and the ability
of the Investment Adviser to execute asset
management strategies

 

9.    We are reliant on the con�nuance of the Investment Adviser.  

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Low Moderate
We rely on the Investment Adviser's
services and reputa�on to execute our
investment strategy. Our performance will
depend to some extent on the Investment
Adviser's ability and the reten�on of its
key staff.

A new Investment Advisory Agreement was
entered into on 14 July 2021; this revised
agreement provides that unless there is a default,
either party may terminate by giving not less than
two years written notice. This provides additional
certainty for the Company. The Board keeps the
performance of the Investment Adviser under
continual review and undertakes a formal review
at least annually.

The interests of the Company and the Investment
Adviser are aligned due to (a) key staff of the
Investment Adviser having personal equity
investments in the Company and (b) any fees paid
to the Investment Adviser in shares of the
Company are to be held for a minimum period of
12 months. The Board can pay up to 25% of the
Investment Adviser fee in shares of the Company.

In addition, the Board has set up a management
engagement committee to assess the
performance of the Investment Adviser and
ensure we maintain a positive working
relationship.

The AIFM receives and reviews regular reporting
from the Investment Adviser and reports to the
Board on the Investment Adviser's performance.
The AIFM also reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board on any
investments or significant asset management
initiatives proposed by the Investment Adviser.

 

Taxa�on Risk  

10.  We operate as a UK REIT and have a tax-efficient corporate structure, with advantageous consequences
for UK shareholders. Any change to our tax status or in UK tax legisla�on could affect our ability to
achieve our investment objec�ves and provide favourable returns to shareholders

 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

Low Moderate
If the Company fails to remain a REIT for
UK tax purposes, our profits and gains will
be subject to UK corpora�on tax.

The Board takes direct responsibility for
ensuring we adhere to the UK REIT regime by
monitoring the REIT compliance. The Board has
also engaged third-party tax advisers to help
monitor REIT compliance requirements and the
AIFM also monitors compliance by the
Company with the REIT regime.
 
 

 

Climate Risks
11.  The assets within the Group's por�olio that are less energy efficient may be exposed to downward

pressure on valua�on or increased pressure to invest in the improvement of individual assets

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Moderate
(from Low)

Moderate An ESG commi�ee has been created to develop a
road map for an energy efficient property por�olio

 



As investors increase their focus on
climate risk, there is likely to become
a larger pool of capital looking to
invest in energy efficient assets.
 
Although this represents an
opportunity for those best-in-class
assets to achieve a 'green premium',
there is likely to be an impact on
yield demanded, and therefore
valua�on on assets within the
por�olio which are less energy
efficient.
 
Given the unexpired lease terms
across the por�olio, this trend may
impact the residual values implicit in
valua�ons and reduce tenant
demand for these proper�es 

including an appropriate policy for minimum
energy performance across the Group's assets.
 
Many of the supermarket operators have published
targets to achieve Net Zero and are ac�vely
upgrading stores to make them more energy
efficient.
 
The Company con�nues to work with its tenants to
help them meet this target and has entered into a
framework agreement with Atrato Onsite Energy
plc to install roo�op solar panels across SUPR's
por�olio.
 
We are conduc�ng ongoing work to update our
physical risk assessments on an annual basis and
integrate the outcomes of the analysis into our
asset and property management ac�vi�es. Further
detail has been included within the TCFD report on
pages 48 to 70.

 
Climate Risks
12.  Changes in regulatory policy could lead to our assets becoming unle�able 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Moderate Moderate

Changes in regula�ons (currently
represented by Minimum Energy
Efficiency Standards (MEES) could
lead to the possibility of our assets
becoming unle�able. Any proper�es
not compliant with MEES could
a�ract reduced tenant demand,
reduced rental income and/or be
subject to fines.

The ESG commi�ee stays informed about
changes in legisla�on by working closely with the
Investment Adviser and seeks input from
specialist ESG experts where necessary.
 
Proposed updates to MEES, together with
updates on businesses to develop Net Zero
transi�on plans are being closely monitored.
 
Further detail has been included within the TCFD
report on pages 48 to 70.
 
 

Climate Risks
13.  Vola�le changes in the weather systems may deem the Group's proper�es no longer viable to

tenants.

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Moderate
(from Low)

Moderate
Given the impact of global warming,
there is likely to be an increased risk
of floods and natural disasters which
could result in physical damage to
the Group's proper�es.
 
Rising temperatures may also result
in increased energy demand required
for cooling, reducing tenant demand
for less energy efficient buildings

The Company obtains environmental surveys on
all acquisi�ons, which address the short-term
risk of climate related damage to group
proper�es.
 
 
A specialist ESG consultant was engaged during
the year to understand the impacts of climate
change on the por�olio, using scenario analysis.
Work is ongoing in this area, where further detail
has been included within the TCFD report on
pages 48 to 70.
 
The Investment Adviser's asset management
team con�nue to monitor the changing physical
risk as it develops through regular site visits to
the
Group's assets.

  

 
Cyber Risks
14.  The rise in a�empted cyber crime and more recently cyber risks arising from recent geopoli�cal

tensions has increased the risk for listed companies being targets for market manipula�on and/or
insider trading

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Low Moderate

Given the increase in remote and
hybrid working, this greater reliance
on technology has resulted in
organisa�ons becoming more
vulnerable to cyber threats and online
hacking.
 
As an externally managed REIT, all
services are contracted with external
third party service providers. A cyber
a�ack on any of the Group's third
party service providers could lead to
wider business disrup�on or loss of
market sensi�ve informa�on.

The Company's main service provider is the
Investment Adviser.  The Investment adviser's
Cyber Security Policy reflects the NCSC's 10 steps
to Cyber Security guidance.  Robust network
security measures have been implemented,
including real �me system oversight, combined
with offsite data back-up and access controls
based on the principle of least privilege. The
Investment Adviser frequently reviews its cyber
security arrangements, alongside business
con�nuity plans to address a major disrup�on to
the organisa�on. Members of the Investment
Adviser team receive regular training on cyber
security issues.
 
When onboarding other service providers, the
Investment Adviser undertakes detailed
background checks including a review of data
security when relevant.  Addi�onal due diligence

 



is undertaken where access to the Investment
Adviser's systems is required, with enhanced
controls implemented, again based on the
principle of least privilege.

Market Price Risk  

15.  Shareholders may not be able to realise their shares at a price above or the same as they paid for the
shares or at all

 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on  

High
(from
Moderate)

Moderate
 
The Company's ordinary shares have this
year traded in a wider range to the price at
which they were issued than they have in
previous years. This is largely a func�on of
supply and demand for the ordinary
shares in the market and cannot therefore
be controlled by the Board. The
Company's move to the premium list of
the London Stock Exchange increased
liquidity in shares, thereby reducing the
risk that shareholders will not be able to
sell their shares at all.

The Company may seek to address any
significant discount to NTA at which its ordinary
shares may be trading by purchasing its own
ordinary shares in the market on an ad hoc
basis. The Directors have the authority to make
market purchases of up to 14.99 per cent of the
ordinary shares in issue as at IPO; being 1.20%
of the total shares in issue as at 30 June 2023.
 
Ordinary shares will be repurchased only at
prices below the prevailing NAV per ordinary
share, which should have the effect of
increasing the NAV per ordinary share for
remaining shareholders. It is intended that a
renewal of the authority to make market
purchases will be sought from shareholders at
each Annual General Mee�ng of the Company.
 
Purchases of Ordinary Shares will be made
within guidelines established from �me to �me
by the Board.
 
Investors should note that the repurchase of
ordinary shares is en�rely at the discre�on of
the Board and no expecta�on or reliance
should be placed on such discre�on being
exercised on any one or more occasions or as to
the propor�on of ordinary shares that may be
repurchased.
 
The recent sale proceeds from the SRP
investment has op�onality to be used for this
purpose.

 

 
Macroeconomic Risks
16.  Infla�onary pressures on the valua�on of the por�olio 

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
High (from
Low)

Moderate
The UK is experiencing historic price
rises with the highest infla�on rate in 40
years, and a slowing economy. The Bank
of England has responded by successive
interest rate increases which could lead
to a sharp decline in economic ac�vity,
stock markets and possibly stagfla�on. A
recessionary environment could impact
real estate valua�ons.
 
Con�nued high infla�on may cause
rents to exceed market levels and result
in the so�ening of valua�on yields.
Where leases have capped rental upli�s,
high infla�on may cause rent reviews to
cap out at maximum values, causing
rental upli�s to fall behind infla�on.

Infla�on is monitored closely by the Investment Adviser.
The Group's por�olio rent reviews include a mixture of
fixed, upward only capped as well as open market rent
reviews, to hedge against a variety of infla�onary
outcomes.
 

Macroeconomic Risks
17.  Impact on the war in Ukraine

Probability: Impact: Mi�ga�on
Low Moderate

Russia's invasion of the Ukraine in
February 2022 has led to a surge in
global energy and food prices. The
extent and impact of military ac�on,
resul�ng sanc�ons and further market
disrup�ons is difficult to predict which
increases the uncertainty, and
challenges of tenant operators as well as
consumer confidence and financial
markets.
 
This could lead to a recession should the
conflict move towards a global one.

Supermarket operators have historically been able to
successfully pass on infla�onary increases through
increasing price increases to the end consumer.
 
Whilst sales volumes may fall in a recessionary
environment, the nature of food means that demand is
rela�vely inelas�c, where the end consumer may decide
to subs�tute luxury brands for supermarket own-branded
products.    
 
Our tenants have strong balance sheets with robust and
diversified supply chains. The tenants are therefore well
posi�oned to deal with any disrup�on that may occur. As
a result, we believe any adverse impact for the Group
would be minimal.



 
The Group invests solely in UK proper�es.

 

Going concern

In light of the current macroeconomic backdrop, the Directors have placed a par�cular focus on the appropriateness of
adop�ng the going concern basis in preparing the Group's and Company's financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2023. In assessing the going concern basis of accoun�ng the Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the
Financial Repor�ng Council.

Liquidity

At 30 June 2023, the Group generated net cash flow from opera�ng ac�vi�es of £84.3 million, held cash of £37.5 million and
undrawn commi�ed facili�es totalling £189.9 million with no capital commitments or con�ngent liabili�es.

From the sale of its interest in the Sainsburys Reversion Por�olio (SRP), the Group received proceeds of £135.1 million post
year end. £97.1 million of this was used for working capital and debt repayment and £38.0 million towards acquiring two
stores (including acquisi�on costs). As at the date of signing the annual report the Gross LTV of the group was 34.0%. The
remainder of the receivable of £1.5 million is condi�onal on the sale of the remaining store in the SRP.

A�er the year end, the Group also reduced its debt capacity from £862.1 million to £689.5 million (see Note 20 for more
informa�on), leaving undrawn commi�ed facili�es of over £100 million available.

The Directors are of the belief that the Group con�nues to be well funded during the going concern period with no concerns
over its liquidity.

Refinancing events

At the date of signing the financial statements, the Deka facility falls due for repayment during the going concern period
(August 2024). It is intended that the facility will be refinanced prior to maturity, or if required, it will be paid down in full
using the Group's available undrawn commi�ed facili�es of over £100 million. All lenders have been suppor�ve during the
year and have expressed commitment to the long-term rela�onship they wish to build with the Company. 

Covenants  

The Group's debt facili�es include covenants in respect of LTV and interest cover, both projected and historic. All debt
facili�es, except for the unsecured facili�es, are ring-fenced with each specific lender.

The Directors have evaluated a number of scenarios as part of the Group's going concern assessment and considered the
impact of these scenarios on the Group's con�nued compliance with secured debt covenants. The key assump�ons that have
been sensi�sed within these scenarios are falls in rental income and increases in administra�ve cost infla�on.

As at the date of this consolidated financial informa�on, 100% of contractual rent for the period has been collected. The
Group benefits from a secure income stream from its property assets that are let to tenants with excellent covenant strength
under long leases that are subject to upward only rent reviews.

The list of scenarios are below and are all on top of the base case model which includes prudent assump�ons on valua�ons
and cost infla�on. No sensi�vity for movements in interest rates have been modelled as the Group has fixed its interest cost
through the use of interest rate deriva�ves throughout the going concern assessment period.

Scenario Rental Income Costs
Base case scenario (Scenario 1) 100% contractual rent received

when due and rent reviews based
on forward looking infla�on
curve, capped at the contractual
rate of the individual leases.

Investment adviser fee based on
terms of the signed agreement
(percentage of NAV as per note
27), other costs 0.35% of NAV.

Scenario 2 Rental income to fall by 25% Costs expected to remain the
same as the base case.

Scenario 3 Rental Income expected to remain
the same as the base case.

10% increases on base case costs
to all administra�ve expenses

 

The Group con�nues to maintain covenant compliance for its LTV and ICR thresholds throughout the going concern
assessment period under each of the scenarios modelled. One of the secured facili�es in the Group has a debt yield
covenant, which is calculated as the passing rent divided by the loan balance for the proper�es secured against the lender.
The debt yield covenant only would be breached for this facility if rental income is reduced by 6% during the going concern
assessment period. The Board considers this scenario highly unlikely given the underlying covenant strength of the tenants.
 Furthermore, there are remedies available at the Group's disposal which includes reducing a por�on of the outstanding debt
from available undrawn facili�es or providing addi�onal security over proper�es that are currently unencumbered.  The
lowest amount of ICR headroom experienced in the worst-case stress scenarios was 22%. Based on the latest bank
commissioned valua�ons, Property values would have to fall by more than 21% before LTV covenants are breached, and 10%
against 30 June 2023 Company valua�ons. Similarly, the strictest interest cover covenant within each of the ring-fenced
banking groups is 225%, where the por�olio is forecast to have an average interest cover ra�o of 572% during the going
concern period. 

Having reviewed and considered three modelled scenarios, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources in
place for at least 12 months from the date of these results and have therefore adopted the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the Annual Report. 

Assessment of viability

The period over which the Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on the Group's viability is the

five-year period to 30 June 2028. This period has been selected because it is the period that is used for the
Group's medium-term business plans and individual asset performance forecasts. The assump�ons underpinning
these forecast cash flows and covenant compliance forecasts were sensi�sed to explore the resilience of the

Group to the poten�al impact of the Group's significant risks, or a combina�on of those risks. The principal risks
on pages 71 to 84 summarise those ma�ers that could prevent the Group from delivering on its strategy. A
number of these principal risks, because of their nature or poten�al impact, could also threaten the Group's

ability to con�nue in business in its current form if they were to occur. The Directors paid par�cular a�en�on to
the risk of a deteriora�on in economic outlook which could impact property fundamentals, including investor and

occupier demand which would have a nega�ve impact on valua�ons, and give rise to a reduc�on in the
availability of finance.  

The sensi�vi�es performed were designed to be severe but plausible; and to take full account of the availability
of mi�ga�ng ac�ons that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the underlying risks.  



Viability Statement  

The Board has assessed the prospects of the Group over the five years from the balance sheet date to 30 June 2028, which is
the period covered by the Group's longer-term financial projec�ons. The Board considers five years to be an appropriate
forecast period since, although the Group's contractual income extends beyond five years, the availability of most finance
and market uncertainty reduces the overall reliability of forecast performance over a longer period. 

The Board considers the resilience of projected liquidity, as well as compliance with secured debt covenants and UK REIT
rules, under a range of RPI and property valua�on assump�ons. 

The principal risks and the key assump�ons that were relevant to this assessment are as follows: 

Risk Assump�on 

Borrowing risk The Group con�nues to comply with all relevant loan covenants. The Group is able to refinance all debt
falling due within the viability assessment period on acceptable terms.

Interest Rate Risk The increase in variable interest rates are managed by reduc�on of variable debt from cash inflows and
u�lising interest rate deriva�ves to limit the exposure to variable debt.

Liquidity risk The Group con�nues to generate sufficient cash to cover its costs while retaining the ability to make
distribu�ons. 

Tenant risk Tenants (or guarantors where relevant) comply with their rental obliga�ons over the term of their
leases and no key tenant suffers an insolvency event over the term of the review.  

 

Based on the work performed, the Board has a reasonable expecta�on that the Group will be able to con�nue in business
over the five-year period of its assessment. 

Other disclosures

Disclosures in rela�on to the Company's business model and strategy have been included within the Investment Adviser's
Interview on pages 18 to 29. Disclosures in rela�on to the main industry trends and factors that are likely to affect the future
performance and posi�on of the business have been included within The UK Grocery Market on pages 34 to 38. Disclosures
in rela�on to environmental and social issues have been included within the TCFD Report on pages 48 to 70. Employee
diversity disclosures have not been included as the Directors do not consider these to be relevant to the Company.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The KPIs and EPRA performance measures used by the Group in assessing its strategic progress have been included on pages
39 to 42.

 

 

Nick Hewson
Chair
19 September 2023  

 

SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

The Directors consider that in conduc�ng the business of the Company over the course of the year ended 30 June 2023, they
have acted to promote the long-term success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders, whilst having regard to the
ma�ers set out in sec�on 172(1)(a-f) of the Companies Act 2006 (the "Act").

Details of our key stakeholders and how the Board engages with them can be found on pages 87 to 91. Further details of the
Board ac�vi�es and principal decisions are set out on pages 105 to 107 providing insight into how the Board makes decisions
and their link to strategy.

Other disclosures rela�ng to our considera�on of the ma�ers set out in s172(1)(a-f) of the Act have been noted as follows:

s.172 Factor Our approach Relevant disclosures

A. The likely
consequences of
any decision in

the long-term

 

The Board has regard to its wider obliga�ons under
Sec�on 172 of the Act. As such strategic discussions
involve careful considera�ons of the longer-term
consequences of any decisions and their implica�ons
on shareholders and other stakeholders and the risk to
the longer-term success of the business. Any
recommenda�on is supported by detailed cash flow
projec�ons based on various scenarios, which include:
availability of funding; borrowing; as well as the wider
economic condi�ons and market performance.

Key decisions of the Board during the
year on page 107.

Our Key Stakeholder Rela�onships on
pages 87 to 91.

Board Ac�vi�es during the year on
pages 105 and 106.

 

B. The interests of
the Company's
employees

The Group does not have any employees as a result of
its external management structure.

The Board's main working rela�onship is with the
Investment Adviser. Consequently, the Directors have
regard to the interests of the individuals who are
responsible for delivery of the investment advisory
services to the Company to the extent that they are
able to do so.

Our Key Stakeholder Rela�onships on
pages 87 to 91.
 

Culture on page 102.

C. The need to

foster the
Company's
business

rela�onships
with suppliers,

customers and
others

The Company's key service providers and customers
include the Investment Adviser, professional firms such
as lenders, property agents, accoun�ng and law firms,
tenants with which we have longstanding rela�onships
and transac�on counterpar�es which are generally
large and sophis�cated businesses or ins�tu�ons.

Our Key Stakeholder Rela�onships on
pages 87 to 92.
 



D. The impact of
the Company's
opera�ons on

the community
and the
environment

As an owner of assets located in communi�es across
the UK, we aim to ensure that our buildings and their
surroundings provide safe and comfortable
environments for all users. 

The Board and the Investment Adviser have commi�ed
to limi�ng the impact of the business on the
environment where possible and engage with tenants
to seek to improve the ESG creden�als of the
proper�es owned by the Company.

Our Key Stakeholder Rela�onships on
pages 87 to 92.
 
Details of the ESG policy and strategy
are included on pages 48 to 70.

The Board's approach to sustainability
is also explained in the Company's first
standalone sustainability report
available on the Company website.

E. The desirability
of the Company
maintaining a

reputa�on for
high standards of
business conduct

The Board is mindful that the ability of the Company to
con�nue to conduct its investment business and to
finance its ac�vi�es depends in part on the reputa�on
of the Board, the Investment Adviser and Investment
Advisory Team.

The risk of falling short of the high standards expected
and thereby risking business reputa�on is included in
the Audit and Risk Commi�ee's review of the
Company's risk register, which is conducted at least
annually.

Chair's Le�er on Corporate Governance
on pages 92 and 93.

Our Principal Risks and Uncertain�es on
pages 71 to 84.

Our Culture on page 102.

F. The need to act
fairly as between
members of the

Company

The Board recognises the importance of trea�ng all
members fairly and oversees investor rela�ons
ini�a�ves to ensure that views and opinions of
shareholders can be considered when se�ng strategy.

Chair's Le�er on Corporate Governance
on pages 92 and 93.

Our Key Stakeholder Rela�onships on
pages 87 to 91.

 

 

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial informa�on for the year ended 30 June 2023. The
Corporate Governance Statement pages 108 to 112 forms part of this report. 

Principal ac�vi�es and status 

The Company is registered as a UK public limited company under the Companies Act 2006. It is an Investment Company as
defined by Sec�on 833 of the Companies Act 2006 and has been established as a closed-ended investment company with an
indefinite life. The Company has a single class of shares in issue which were traded during the year on the Premium List of
the London Stock Exchange's Main Market. The Group has entered the Real Estate Investment Trust regime for the purposes
of UK taxa�on. 

The Company is a member of the Associa�on of Investment Companies (the AIC). 

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the a�ached financial informa�on. It is the policy of the Board to declare and pay
dividends as quarterly interim dividends.

In respect of the 30 June 2023 financial year, the Company has declared the following interim dividends amoun�ng to 6.00
pence per share (2022: 5.94 pence per share).

 

Relevant Period
Dividend per share

(pence) Ex-dividend date Record date Date paid 
Quarter ended
30 September 2022 1.50 6 October 2022 7 October 2022 16 November 2022
Quarter ended
31 December 2022 1.50 19 January 2023 20 January 2023 23 February 2023
Quarter ended
31 March 2023 1.50 20 April 2023 21 April 2023 26 May 2023
Quarter ended
30 June 2023 1.50 13 July 2023 14 July 2023 4 August 2023

Dividend policy 

Subject to market condi�ons and performance, financial posi�on and outlook, it is the Directors' inten�on to pay an
a�rac�ve level of dividend income to shareholders on a quarterly basis. The Company intends to grow the dividend
progressively through investment in supermarket proper�es with upward-only, predominantly infla�on-protected, long-term
lease agreements.

Directors 

The names of the Directors who served from in the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in the Board of Directors sec�on on
pages 94 to 96 together with their biographical details and principal external appointments.

Powers of Directors

The Board will manage the Company's business and may exercise all the Company's powers, subject to the Ar�cles, the
Companies Act and in certain circumstances, are subject to the authority being given to the Directors by shareholders in
general mee�ng. 

The Board's role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Company within a framework of prudent and effec�ve
controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. It also sets up the Group's strategic aims, ensuring that the
necessary resources are in place for the Group to meet its objec�ves and review investment performance. The Board also
sets the Group's values, standards and culture. Further details on the Board's role can be found in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 100 to 104.

Appointment and replacement of Directors

All Directors were elected or re-elected at the AGM on 17 November 2022, with the excep�on of Sapna Shah who was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2023. In accordance with the AIC Corporate Governance Code, all the Directors will re�re



and those who wish to con�nue to serve will offer themselves for elec�on or re-elec�on at the forthcoming Annual General
Mee�ng.

Directors' indemnity

The Company maintains £30 million of Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance cover for the benefit of the Directors, which
was in place throughout the year. The level of cover was increased to £35 million on 17 July 2023 and con�nues in effect at
the date of this report. 

Significant shareholdings 

The table below shows the interests in shares no�fied to the Company in accordance with Chapter 5 of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules issued by the Financial Conduct Authority who have a disclosable interest of 3% or more in
the ordinary shares of the Company as at 30 June 2023.

  

 
Number of shares 

Percentage of
issued share

capital 
Blackrock Inc.

68,196,517 5.46%
Schroders Plc

63,131,941 5.08%
Quilter Plc

62,058,617 4.99%
Ameriprise Financial, Inc.

61,728,272 4.98%
Waverton Investment Management Limited

46,422,935 3.79%
 

Since the year end, and up to 19 September 2023, the Company has not received any further no�fica�ons of changes of
interest in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5. The informa�on provided is correct as at the date of no�fica�on.

Dona�ons and contribu�ons

The Group made no poli�cal or charitable dona�ons during the year (2022: none). 

Branches outside the UK

The Company has no branches outside the UK.

Financial risk management

The Group's exposure to, and management of, capital risk, market risk and liquidity risk is set out in note 21 to the Group's
financial informa�on.

Amendments to the Ar�cles

The Ar�cles may only be amended with shareholders' approval in accordance with the relevant legisla�on.

Employees 

The Group has no employees and therefore no employee share scheme or policies for the employment of disabled persons
or employee engagement. 

An�-bribery policy

The Company has a zero-tolerance policy towards bribery and is commi�ed to carrying out its business fairly, honestly and
openly. The an�-bribery policies and procedures apply to all its Directors and to those who represent the Company.

Human Rights

The Company has a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery and human trafficking and is commi�ed to ensuring its
organisa�on and business partners operate with the same values. The Company's modern slavery and human trafficking
statement can be found on the Company's website.

Research and development

No expenditure on research and development was made during the period.

Related party transac�ons

Related party transac�ons for the year ended 30 June 2023 can be found in note 27 of the financial informa�on. 

Annual General Mee�ng

The Annual General Mee�ng of the Company will be held on 7 December 2023.

Greenhouse gas emissions

As a listed en�ty, the Company is required to comply with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repor�ng (SECR) regula�ons
under the Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regula�ons 2018.
Informa�on regarding emissions arising from the Group's ac�vi�es are included within the TCFD aligned report on pages 48
to 70.

Disclosure of informa�on to auditor 

All of the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any informa�on
needed by the auditor for the purposes of their audit and to establish that the auditor is aware of that informa�on. The
Directors are not aware of any relevant audit informa�on of which the auditor is unaware. 

Significant agreements

The Company entered into a new unsecured borrowing facility on 1 July 2022 provided by a syndicate of lenders. The facility
includes provisions that may require any outstanding borrowings to be repaid or the altera�on or termina�on of the facili�es
in the event of a change of control at the ul�mate parent company level.

There are no agreements with the Company or a subsidiary in which a Director is or was materially interest or to which a
controlling shareholder was party.

Share capital structure

As at 30 June 2023, the Company's issued share capital consisted of 1,246,239,185 ordinary shares of one penny each, all
fully paid and listed on the Premium List of the London Stock Exchange's Main Market. Further details of the share capital,
including changes throughout the year are summarised in note 22 of the financial informa�on.

Subject to authorisa�on by Shareholder resolu�on, the Company may purchase its own shares in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006. At the Annual General Mee�ng held in 2022, shareholders authorised the Company to make market



purchases of up to 186,140,810 Ordinary Shares. The Company has not repurchased any of its ordinary shares under this
authority, which is due to expire at the AGM in 2023 and appropriate renewals will be sought.

There are no restric�ons on transfer or limita�ons on the holding of the ordinary shares. None of the shares carry any special
rights with regard to the control of the Company. There are no known arrangements under which financial rights are held by
a person other than the holder of the shares and no known agreements on restric�ons on share transfers and vo�ng rights.

Post balance sheet events

For details of events since the year end date, please refer to note 28 of the consolidated informa�on.

Corporate Governance

The Company's statement on corporate governance can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 108 to 112
of this Annual Report. The Corporate Governance Report forms part of this directors' report and is incorporated into it by
cross-reference.

Informa�on included in the strategic report

The informa�on that fulfils the repor�ng requirements rela�ng to the following ma�ers can be found on the pages
iden�fied.

 
Subject ma�er Page reference
Likely future developments 18 to 29
 
 
Signed by order of the Board on 19 September 2023

 

 

Nick Hewson 
Chair
19 September 2023  

 

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT FUND MANAGER'S REPORT

Background
The Alterna�ve Investment Fund Managers Direc�ve (the AIFMD) came into force on 22 July 2013. The objec�ve of the
AIFMD was to ensure a common regulatory regime for funds marketed in or into the EU which are not regulated under the
UCITS regime. This was primarily for investors' protec�on and also to enable European regulators to obtain adequate
informa�on in rela�on to funds being marketed in or into the EU to assist their monitoring and control of systemic risk
issues.

 

 The AIFM is a non-EU Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager (a "Non-EU AIFM"), the Company is a non-EU Alterna�ve
Investment Fund (a "Non-EU AIF") and the Company is marketed primarily into the UK, but also into the EEA. Although the
AIFM is a non-EU AIFM, so the depositary rules in Ar�cle 21 of the AIFMD do not apply, the transparency requirements of
Ar�cles 22 (Annual report) and 23 (Disclosure to investors) of the AIFMD do apply to the AIFM and therefore to the
Company. In compliance with those ar�cles, the following informa�on is provided to the Company's shareholders by the
AIFM.
 

1. Material Changes in the Disclosures to Investors
During the financial year under review, there were no material changes to the informa�on required to be made available to
investors before they invest in the Company under Ar�cle 23 of the AIFMD from that informa�on set out in the Company's
prospectus dated 1 October, 2021, save as updated in the supplementary prospectus dated 7 April, 2022, as disclosed below
and in certain sec�ons of the Strategic Report, those being the Chair's Statement, Investment Adviser's Interview, The UK
Grocery Market, TCFD Compliant Report, Our Principal Risks and the Sec�on 172(1) Statement, together with the Corporate
Governance Reports in this annual financial report.

 

2. Risks and Risk Management Policy
The current principal risks facing the Company and the main features of the risk management systems employed by AIFM
and the Company to manage those risks are set out in the Strategic Report (Our Principal Risks), the Audit and Risk
Commi�ee Report and in the Directors' Report.

 

3. Leverage and borrowing
The Company is en�tled to employ leverage in accordance with its investment policy and as described in the Chair's
Statement, the sec�ons en�tled "Financial Highlights" and "Financial Overview" in the Strategic Report and in the notes to
the financial informa�on. Other than as disclosed therein, there were no changes in the Company's borrowing powers and
policies.

 

4. Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Issues and Regula�on (EU) 2019/2099 on Sustainability-Related
Disclosures in the Financial Services Sector (the "SFDR")
As a member of the JTC group of Companies, the AIFM's ul�mate beneficial owner and controlling party is JTC Plc, a Jersey-
incorporated company whose shares have been admi�ed to the Official List of the UK's Financial Conduct Authority and to
trading on the London Stock Exchange's Main Market for Listed Securi�es (mnemonic JTC LN, LEI 213800DVUG4KLF2ASK33).
In the conduct of its own affairs, the AIFM is commi�ed to best prac�ce in rela�on to ESG ma�ers and has therefore adopted
JTC Plc's ESG framework, which can be viewed online at h�ps://www.jtcgroup.com/esg/. JTC Plc's sustainability report can
also be viewed online at h�ps://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-rela�ons/annual-review/.

 

As at the date of this report, JTC Plc is a signatory of the U.N. Principles for Responsible Investment. The JTC group is also
carbon neutral and works to support the achievement of ten of the U.N.'s Sustainable Development Goals. JTC Plc reports
under TCFD and under the SASB framework.

 

From the perspec�ve of the SFDR, although the AIFM is a non-EU AIFM, the Company is marketed into the EEA, so that the
AIFM is required to comply with the SFDR in so far as it applies to the Company and the AIFM's management of the
Company, which the Company has classified as being within the scope of Ar�cle 6 of the SFDR.  

The AIFM and Atrato Capital Limited ("Atrato") as the Company's Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager and Investment
Adviser respec�vely do consider ESG ma�ers in their respec�ve capaci�es, as explained in SUPR's prospectus dated 1
October, 2021, as updated by SUPR's supplementary prospectus dated 7 April, 2022. Copies of both of those documents can
be viewed on the AIFM's website at h�ps://jtcglobalaifmsolu�ons.com/clients/supermarket-income-reit-plc/.

 

https://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-relations/annual-review/
https://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-relations/annual-review/
https://jtcglobalaifmsolutions.com/clients/supermarket-income-reit-plc/


Since the publica�on of those documents, the AIFM, Atrato and the Company have con�nued to enhance their collec�ve
approach to ESG ma�ers and detailed repor�ng on (a) enhancements made to each party's policies, procedures and
opera�onal prac�ces and (b) our collec�ve future inten�ons and aspira�ons is included in the TCFD Compliant Report
included in the Strategic Report and the ESG Commi�ee Report in this annual financial report. The Company is also
publishing a separate Sustainability Report on its website.

 

The AIFM also has a comprehensive risk matrix (the "Matrix"), which is used to iden�fy, monitor and manage material risks
to which the Company is exposed, including ESG and sustainability risks, the la�er being an environmental, social or
governance event or condi�on that, if it occurred, could cause an actual or a poten�al material nega�ve impact on the value
of an investment.  We also consider sustainability factors, those being environmental, social and employee ma�ers, respect
for human rights, an�-corrup�on and an�-bribery ma�ers.

 

The AIFM is cognisant of the announcement published by H.M. Treasury in the UK of its inten�on to make mandatory by
2025 disclosures aligned with the recommenda�ons of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, with a
significant propor�on of disclosures mandatory by 2023. The AIFM also notes the roadmap and interim report of the UK's
Joint Government-Regulator TCFD Taskforce published by H.M. Treasury on 9 November, 2020. The AIFM con�nues to
monitor developments and intends to comply with the UK's regime to the extent either mandatory or desirable as a ma�er
of best prac�ce.

5. Remunera�on of the AIFM's Directors and Employees
During the financial year under review, no separate remunera�on was paid by the AIFM to two of its execu�ve directors,
Graham Taylor and Kobus Cronje, because they were both employees of the JTC group of companies, of which the AIFM
forms part. The third execu�ve director, Ma�hew Tostevin, is paid a fixed fee of £10,000 for ac�ng as a director. Mr Tostevin
is paid addi�onal remunera�on on a �me spent basis for services rendered to the AIFM and its clients. Other than the
directors, the AIFM has no employees.  The Company has no agreement to pay any carried interest to the AIFM. During the
year under review, the AIFM paid £10,000 in fixed fees and £43,478.75 in variable remunera�on to Mr Tostevin.
 

6. Remuneration of the AIFM Payable by the Company
The AIFM was during the year under review paid a fee of 0.04% per annum of the net asset value of the Company up to £1
billion and 0.03% of the Company's net asset value in excess of £1 billion, subject to a minimum of £50,000 per annum, such
fee being payable quarterly in arrears. The total fees paid to the AIFM during the year under review were £480,763.62.

 

JTC Global AIFM Solu�ons Limited
Alterna�ve Investment Fund Manager
19 September 2023
 

 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Gross rental income 3 95,823 72,363
Service charge income 3 5,939 2,086
Service charge expense 4 (6,518) (2,338)
Net Rental Income  95,244 72,111
Administra�ve and other expenses 5 (15,429) (13,937)
Opera�ng profit before changes in fair value of investment proper�es and
share of income and profit on disposal from joint venture

 
79,815 58,174

Changes in fair value of investment proper�es 12 (256,066) 21,820
Total changes in fair value of investment proper�es (256,066) 21,820

 
Share of income from joint venture 14 23,232 43,301
Profit on disposal of joint venture 14 19,940 -
Opera�ng (loss)/profit  (133,079) 123,295
   
Finance income 8 14,626 -
Finance expense 8 (39,315) (12,992)
Changes in fair value on interest rate deriva�ves 19 10,024 -
Profit on disposal of interest rate deriva�ves 2,878 -
(Loss)/Profit before taxa�on (144,866) 110,303
    
Tax charge for the year 9 - -
(Loss)/Profit for the year (144,866) 110,303
    

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

 
 

 

Fair value movements in interest rate deriva�ves 19 1,068 5,566
  
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (143,798) 115,869
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year a�ributable
to ordinary Shareholders

 
(143,798) 115,869

Earnings per share - basic and diluted 10 (11.7) pence 11.3 pence
 

 
 

 

 



 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2023

Notes

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment - 129
Investment proper�es 12 1,685,690 1,561,590
Investment in joint ventures 14 - 177,140
Contract fulfilment asset - 93
Financial asset at amor�sed cost 16 10,819 10,626
Interest rate deriva�ves 19 37,198 5,114
Total non-current assets  1,733,707 1,754,692
Current assets    
Interest rate deriva�ves 19 20,384 -
Financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss 15 - 283
Trade and other receivables 17 142,155 1,863
Cash and cash equivalents 37,481 51,200
Total current assets  200,020 53,346
Total assets  1,933,727 1,808,038

 
Non-current liabili�es   
Bank borrowings 20 605,609 348,546
Total non-current liabili�es  605,609 348,546

 
Current liabili�es    

Bank borrowings due within one year 20 61,856 -

Deferred rental income 21,557 16,360
Trade and other payables 18 26,979 10,677
Total current liabili�es  110,392 27,037
Total liabili�es  716,001 375,583
Net assets  1,217,726 1,432,455

 
Equity    
Share capital 22 12,462 12,399
Share premium reserve 22 500,386 494,174
Capital reduc�on reserve 22 704,531 778,859
Retained earnings (2,957) 141,909

Cash flow hedge reserve 3,304 5,114 

Total equity  1,217,726 1,432,455
    
Net asset value per share - basic and diluted 26 98 pence 116 pence
EPRA NTA per share 26 93 pence 115 pence

 

 

The consolidated financial information was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19
September 2023 and were signed on its behalf by

 

Nick Hewson 
Chair 
19 September 2023 
       

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000
As at 1 July 2022 12,399 494,174 5,114 778,859 141,909 1,432,455
Comprehensive income for
the year
Loss for the year - - - - (144,866) (144,866)
Cash flow hedge reserve to profit
for the year on disposal of
interest rate deriva�ves - - (2,878) - - (2,878)
Other comprehensive income - - 1,068 - - 1,068
Total comprehensive loss for the
year - - (1,810) - (144,866) (146,676)

Transac�ons with owners



Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000

Ordinary shares issued at a
premium during the year 63 6,301 - - - 6,364
Share issue costs - (89) - - - (89)
Interim dividends paid - - - (74,328)                   - (74,328)
As at 30 June 2023 12,462 500,386 3,304 704,531 (2,957) 1,217,726

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000
As at 1 July 2021 8,107 778,859 (452) - 84,796 871,310

Comprehensive income for
the year
Profit for the year - - - - 110,303 110,303
Other comprehensive income - - 5,566 - - 5,566
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - 5,566 - 110,303 115,869

Transac�ons with owners

Ordinary shares issued at a
premium during the year 4,292 504,539 - - - 508,831
Share premium cancella�on to
capital reduc�on reserve - (778,859) - 778,859 - -
Share issue costs - (10,365) - - - (10,365)
Interim dividends paid - - - - (53,190) (53,190)
As at 30 June 2022 12,399 494,174 5,114 778,859 141,909 1,432,455

       

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Opera�ng ac�vi�es  
(Loss)/Profit for the year (a�ributable to ordinary
Shareholders) (144,866) 110,303
Adjustments for:  
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves
measured at fair value through profit and loss 19 (10,024) -
Changes in fair value of investment proper�es and
associated rent guarantees 12 256,066 (21,820)
Movement in rent smoothing and lease incen�ve
adjustments 3 (2,763) (2,654)
Finance income 8 (14,626) -
Finance expense 8 39,281 12,992
Share of income from joint venture 14 (23,232) (43,301)
Profit on disposal of interest rate deriva�ve 19 (2,878) -
Profit on disposal of Joint Venture 14 (19,941) -
Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es before changes
in working capital

 
77,017 55,520

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (548) 1,277
Decrease/(increase) in rent guarantee receivables 191 (87)
Increase in deferred rental income 5,198 4,299
Increase in trade and other payables 2,461 2,004
Net cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es  84,319 63,013

 
Inves�ng ac�vi�es   
Acquisi�on of contract fulfilment assets - (8)
Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 222 -
Acquisi�on of investment proper�es 12 (362,630) (371,093)
Capitalised acquisi�on costs (14,681) (17,603)
Decrease/(Increase) in other financial assets 16   - (10,626)
Receipts from other financial assets 16 290 -
Investment in joint venture 14 (189,528) (3,518)
Proceeds from disposal of Joint Venture 14 292,636 -
Net cash flows used in inves�ng ac�vi�es  (273,691) (402,848)

 
    
 

 

 Notes

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000



Financing ac�vi�es
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary Share Capital 22 - 506,727
Costs of share issues 22 (89) (10,366)
Bank borrowings drawn 20 912,114 402,922
Bank borrowings repaid 20 (598,486) (464,029)
Loan arrangement fees paid (5,010) (2,187)
Bank interest paid (22,408) (9,846)
Se�lement of interest rate deriva�ves 8,646 -
Se�lement of Joint Venture Carried Interest (8,066) -
Sale of interest rate deriva�ves 19 2,878 -
Purchase of interest rate deriva�ve 19 (44,255) -
Bank commitment fees paid (1,708) (681)
Dividends paid to equity holders (67,963) (51,084)

Net cash flows from financing ac�vi�es 175,653 371,456
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year  (13,719) 31,621

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  51,200 19,579
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  37,481 51,200
 

 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1.    Basis of preparation

General information
Supermarket Income REIT plc (the Company) is a company registered in England and Wales with its registered office at 1 King
William Street, London, United Kingdom, EC4N 7AF. The principal ac�vity of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) is
to provide its Shareholders with an a�rac�ve level of income together with the poten�al for capital growth by inves�ng in a
diversified por�olio of supermarket real estate assets in the UK.

At 30 June 2023 the Group comprised the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries as set out in Note 13.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial informa�on set out in this preliminary announcement covers the year to 30 June 2023, with
compara�ve figures rela�ng to the year to 30 June 2022, and includes the results and net assets of the Group. The financial
informa�on has been prepared on the basis of the accoun�ng policies set out in the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2023. Whilst the financial informa�on included in this announcement has been computed in accordance with the
recogni�on and measurement requirements of UK adopted interna�onal accoun�ng standards this announcement does not
itself contain sufficient informa�on to comply with IFRS.

The financial informa�on does not cons�tute the Group's financial statements for the years ended 30 June 2023 or 30 June
2022, but is derived from those financial statements. Those financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabili�es, financial posi�on and results of the Group. Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been
delivered to the Registrar of Companies and those for the year ended 30 June 2023 will be delivered following the
Company's AGM. The auditors' reports on both the 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 financial statements were unqualified;
did not draw a�en�on to any ma�ers by way of emphasis; and did not contain statements under sec�on 498 (2) or (3) of the
Companies Act 2006.

The principal accoun�ng policies applied in the prepara�on of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, other than where new policies have been adopted.

Going concern
In light of the current Macroeconomic backdrop, the Directors have placed a par�cular focus on the appropriateness of
adop�ng the going concern basis in preparing the Group's and Company's financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2023. In assessing the going concern basis of accoun�ng the Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the
Financial Repor�ng Council.

Liquidity

At 30 June 2023, the Group generated net cash flow from opera�ng ac�vi�es of £84.3 million, held cash of £37.5 million and
undrawn commi�ed facili�es totalling £189.9 million with no capital commitments or con�ngent liabili�es.

From the sale of its interest in the Sainsburys Reversion Por�olio (SRP), the Group received proceeds of £135.1 million post
year end. £97.1 million of this was used for working capital and debt repayment and £38.0 million towards acquiring two
stores (including acquisi�on costs). As at the date of signing the annual report the Gross LTV of the group was 34.0%. The
remainder of the receivable of £1.5 million is condi�onal on the sale of the remaining store in the SRP.

A�er the year end, the Group also reduced its debt capacity from £862.1 million to £680.5 million (see Note 20 for more
informa�on), leaving undrawn commi�ed facili�es of over £100 million available.

The Directors are of the belief that the Group con�nues to be well funded during the going concern period with no concerns
over its liquidity.

Refinancing events

At the date of signing the financial statements, the Deka facility falls due for repayment during the going concern period
(August 2024). It is intended that the facility will be refinanced prior to maturity, or if required, it will be paid down in full the
Group's available undrawn commi�ed facili�es of over £100 million. All lenders have been suppor�ve during the year and
have expressed commitment to the long-term rela�onship they wish to build with the Company. 

Covenants

The Group's debt facili�es include covenants in respect of LTV and interest cover, both projected and historic. All debt
facili�es, except for the unsecured facili�es, are ring-fenced with each specific lender.

The Directors have evaluated a number of scenarios as part of the Group's going concern assessment and considered the
impact of these scenarios on the Group's con�nued compliance with secured debt covenants. The key assump�ons that have
been sensi�sed within these scenarios are falls in rental income and increases in administra�ve cost infla�on.

As at the date of issuance of this Annual report 100% of contractual rent for the period has been collected. The Group
benefits from a secure income stream from its property assets that are let to tenants with excellent covenant strength under
long leases that are subject to upward only rent reviews.

The list of scenarios are below and are all on top of the base case model which includes prudent assump�ons on valua�ons
and cost infla�on. No sensi�vity for movements in interest rates have been modelled as the Group is fully hedged during the
going concern assessment period.



Scenario Rental Income Costs
Base case scenario (Scenario 1) 100% contractual rent received

when due and rent reviews based
on forward looking infla�on
curve, capped at the contractual
rate of the individual leases.

Investment adviser fee based on
terms of the signed agreement
(percentage of NAV as per note
27), other costs 0.35% of NAV

Scenario 2 Rental income to fall by 25% Costs expected to remain the
same as the base case.

Scenario 3 Rental Income expected to remain
the same as the base case.

10% increases on base case costs
to all administra�ve expenses

 

The Group con�nues to maintain covenant compliance for its LTV and ICR thresholds throughout the going concern
assessment period under each of the scenarios modelled. One of the secured facili�es in the Group has a debt yield
covenant, which is calculated as the passing rent divided by the loan balance for the proper�es secured against the lender.
The debt yield covenant only would be breached for this facility if rental income is reduced by 6% during the going concern
assessment period. The Board considers this scenario highly unlikely given the underlying covenant strength of the tenants.
 Furthermore, there are remedies available at the Group's disposal which includes reducing a por�on of the outstanding debt
from available undrawn facili�es or providing addi�onal security over proper�es that are currently unencumbered.  The
lowest amount of ICR headroom experienced in the worst-case stress scenarios was 22%. Based on the latest bank
commissioned valua�ons, Property values would have to fall by more than 21% before LTV covenants are breached, and 10%
against 30 June 2023 Company valua�ons. Similarly, the strictest interest cover covenant within each of the ring-fenced
banking groups is 225%, where the por�olio is forecast to have an average interest cover ra�o of 572% during the going
concern period. 

Having reviewed and considered three modelled scenarios, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources in
place for at least 12 months from the date of these results and have therefore adopted the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the Annual Report. 

Assessment of viability
The period over which the Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on the Group's viability is the five-year
period to 30 June 2028. This period has been selected because it is the period that is used for the Group's medium-term
business plans and individual asset performance forecasts. The assump�ons underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensi�sed to explore the resilience of the Group to the poten�al impact of the Group's
significant risks, or a combina�on of those risks. The principal risks on pages 71 to 84 summarise those ma�ers that could
prevent the Group from delivering on its strategy. A number of these principal risks, because of their nature or poten�al
impact, could also threaten the Group's ability to con�nue in business in its current form if they were to occur. The Directors
paid par�cular a�en�on to the risk of a deteriora�on in economic outlook which could impact property fundamentals,
including investor and occupier demand which would have a nega�ve impact on valua�ons, and give rise to a reduc�on in
the availability of finance.  

The sensi�vi�es performed were designed to be severe but plausible; and to take full account of the availability of mi�ga�ng
ac�ons that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the underlying risks.  

 
Viability Statement  

The Board has assessed the prospects of the Group over the five years from the balance sheet date to 30 June 2028, which is
the period covered by the Group's longer-term financial projec�ons. The Board considers five years to be an appropriate
forecast period since, although the Group's contractual income extends beyond five years, the availability of most finance
and market uncertainty reduces the overall reliability of forecast performance over a longer period. 

The Board considers the resilience of projected liquidity, as well as compliance with secured debt covenants and UK REIT
rules, under a range of RPI and property valua�on assump�ons. 

The principal risks and the key assump�ons that were relevant to this assessment are as follows: 

 

Risk Assump�on 

Borrowing risk The Group con�nues to comply with all relevant loan covenants. The Group is able to refinance all debt
falling due within the viability assessment period on acceptable terms.

Interest Rate Risk The increase in variable interest rates are managed by reduc�on of variable debt from cash inflows and
u�lising interest rate deriva�ves to limit the exposure to variable debt.

Liquidity risk The Group con�nues to generate sufficient cash to cover its costs while retaining the ability to make
distribu�ons. 

Tenant risk Tenants (or guarantors where relevant) comply with their rental obliga�ons over the term of their
leases and no key tenant suffers an insolvency event over the term of the review.  

 

Based on the work performed, the Board has a reasonable expecta�on that the Group will be able to con�nue in business
over the five-year period of its assessment. 

Accounting convention and currency
The consolidated financial informa�on (the "financial informa�on") has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except that
investment proper�es, rental guarantees and interest rate deriva�ves measured at fair value.

The financial informa�on is presented in Pounds Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000), except
where otherwise indicated. Pounds Sterling is the func�onal currency of the Company and the presenta�on currency of the
Group.

Adoption of new and revised standards
In the current financial year, the Group has adopted a number of minor amendments to standards effec�ve in the year
issued by the IASB as adopted by the UK Endorsement Board, none of which have had a material impact on the Group.

There was no material effect from the adop�on of other amendments to IFRS effec�ve in the year. They have no significant
impact on the Group as they are either not relevant to the Group's ac�vi�es or require accoun�ng which is consistent with
the Group's current accoun�ng policies.

 
Standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted
The following are new standards, interpretations and amendments, which are not yet effective, and have not been early
adopted in this financial information, that will or may have an effect on the Group's future financial statements:
 

·    Amendments to IAS 1 which are intended to clarify the requirements that an entity applies in determining whether a
liability is classified as current or non-current. The amendments are intended to be narrow-scope in nature and are
meant to clarify the requirements in IAS 1 rather than modify the underlying principles (effective for periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024).

 
The amendments include clarifications relating to:

-      How events after the end of the reporting period affect liability classification



-      What the rights of an entity must be in order to classify a liability as non-current
-      How an entity assesses compliance with conditions of a liability (e.g. bank covenants)
-      How conversion features in liabilities affect their classification

 
The amendment is not expected to have an impact on the presentation or classification of the liabilities in the Group based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
 

·    IFRS S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information. IFRS S1 sets out general
requirements for the disclosure of material information about sustainability-related financial risks and opportunities
and other general reporting requirements (periods beginning after 1 January 2024).

 
·    IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures. IFRS S2 sets out disclosure requirements that are specific to climate-related matters

(periods beginning after 1 January 2024).
 

The Group acknowledges the issue of these new standards by the Interna�onal Sustainability Standards Board's (ISSB) will
monitor the consulta�on and decision process being undertaken by the UK Government and FCA in determining how these
standards are implemented by UK companies.

There are other new standards and amendments to standards and interpreta�ons which have been issued that are effec�ve
in future accoun�ng periods, and which the Group has decided not to adopt early. None of these are expected to have
a material impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The prepara�on of this financial informa�on in accordance with IFRS requires the Directors of the Company to make
judgements, es�mates and assump�ons that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial informa�on.

Key es�mate: Fair value of investment proper�es

The fair value of the Group's investment proper�es is determined by the Group's independent valuer on the basis of market
value in accordance with the RICS Valua�on - Global Standards (the 'Red Book'). Recognised valua�on techniques are used by
the independent valuer which are in accordance with those recommended by the Interna�onal Valua�on Standard
Commi�ee and compliant with IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement."

The independent valuer did not include any material valua�on uncertainty clause in rela�on to the valua�on of the Group's
investment property for 30 June 2023 or 30 June 2022.

The independent valuer is considered to have sufficient current local and na�onal knowledge of the supermarket property
market and the requisite skills and understanding to undertake the valua�on competently.

In forming an opinion as to fair value, the independent valuer makes a series of assump�ons, which are typically market-
related, such as those in rela�on to net ini�al yields and expected rental values. These are based on the independent valuer's
professional judgement. Other factors taken into account by the independent valuer in arriving at the valua�on of the
Group's investment proper�es include the length of property leases, the loca�on of the proper�es and the strength of
tenant covenants.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties as determined by the independent valuer, along with the significant
methods and assumptions used in estimating this fair value, are set out in note 12.

Key estimate: Fair value of interest rate derivatives
Deriva�ves are valued in accordance with IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement" by reference to interbank bid market rates as at
the close of business on the last working day prior to each repor�ng date. The fair values are calculated using the present
values of future cash flows, based on market forecasts of interest rates and adjusted for the credit risk of the counterpar�es.
The amounts and �ming of future cash flows are projected on the basis of the contractual terms.

The fair value of the Group's interest rate deriva�ves, along with further details of the valua�on methods used, are detailed
in note 19.

Key judgement: Joint ventures - joint control
In prior years, the Group entered into a 50:50 joint venture with the Bri�sh Airways Pension Trustees Limited to acquire
100% of the issued share capital in Horndri� Limited for a combined total considera�on of £102 million plus costs. The joint
venture also acquired 100% of the issued share capital in Cornerford Limited for a combined total considera�on of £115
million plus costs (together "the Joint Venture Interest").

Horndri� Limited and Cornerford Limited each hold a 25.2% beneficial interest in a property trust arrangement / bond
securi�sa�on structure (the "Structure") which previously held a por�olio of 26 Sainsbury's supermarket proper�es funded
by bonds which mature in 2023. During the year, Sainsbury's exercised op�ons to acquire 21 of these stores within the
Structure and it has been determined that the exercise of the purchase op�ons by Sainsbury's resulted in the performance
obliga�on being sa�sfied for a sale of the proper�es in accordance with IFRS 15. The JV is deemed to hold a contractual
receivable from Sainsbury's plc in respect of these 21 proper�es.

During the year, the Group acquired the Bri�sh Airways Pension Trustees Limited stake in the joint venture, meaning the
Group had a beneficial interest in over 50% of the underlying property pool, via its 100% ownership in Horndri� and
Cornerford.

The classifica�on and accoun�ng treatment of the Joint Venture Interest in the property trust arrangement in the Group's
consolidated financial informa�on is subject to significant judgement. By reference to the contractual arrangements and
deeds that regulate the Structure, it was necessary to determine whether the Joint Venture Interest, together with the other
key par�es of the Structure had the ability to jointly control the Structure through their respec�ve rights as defined by the
contractual arrangements and deeds of the Structure. The review of the Joint Venture Interest and the other key par�es'
rights required significant judgement in assessing whether the rights iden�fied were substan�ve as defined by IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, principally in respect of whether there were any economic barriers that prevent the joint
venture investment or the other key parties from exercising their rights. Through assessing the expected possible outcomes
either before or upon maturity of the Structure it was determined that there were no significant economic barriers that
would prevent Horndri� Limited, Cornerford Limited or the other key par�es from exercising their rights under the
contractual arrangements and deeds of the Structure.

The Directors therefore concluded that through its Joint Venture Interest, the Group indirectly has joint control of the
Structure as defined by IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. As such the Group's interest in the Structure is accounted
for using the equity method of accoun�ng under IAS 28.

Following the addi�onal Joint Venture interest acquired during the year, the Group was deemed to s�ll jointly control the
Structure as any change to the contractual arrangements and deeds that regulate the Structure, requires unanimous consent
from all beneficial holders. Therefore, the equity method of accoun�ng con�nued to be used un�l the disposal of the
investment in joint venture which occurred during the year (see Note 14).

Key judgement: Acquisition of Joint Venture stake
During the year the Group acquired an additional 50% interest in the Group's existing joint venture, Horner (Jersey) LP, from
British Airways Pension Trustees Limited for total consideration of £188.8 million. At the time of the purchase the Directors
assess whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of an asset or the acquisition of a business.

Under the Defini�on of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3 "Business Combina�ons"), to be considered as a business, an
acquired set of ac�vi�es and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substan�ve process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The op�onal 'concentra�on test' is also applied, where if substan�ally
all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets), the assets acquired
would not represent a business.

The concentra�on test was applied confirming that substan�ally all of the fair value of the assets acquired were
concentrated in an investment in joint venture, being the Structure and was therefore accounted as an asset purchase.



 
Key judgement: Acquisition of investment properties
The Group has acquired and intends to acquire further investment proper�es. At the �me of each purchase the Directors
assess whether an acquisi�on represents the acquisi�on of an asset or the acquisi�on of a business.

Under the Defini�on of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3 "Business Combina�ons"), to be considered as a business, an
acquired set of ac�vi�es and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substan�ve process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The op�onal 'concentra�on test' is also applied, where if substan�ally
all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets), the assets acquired
would not represent a business.

During the year, the group completed nine acquisi�ons. In nine cases the concentra�on test was applied and met, resul�ng
in the acquisi�ons being accounted for as asset purchases.

All £362.6 million of acquisi�ons during the year were accounted for as asset purchases.

Key judgement: Acquisition of financial assets at amortised cost
The Group acquires proper�es under a sale and leaseback arrangements. At the �me of the purchase the Directors assess
whether the acquisi�on represents the acquisi�on of an investment property or a financial asset.

Under IFRS 15, for the transfer of an asset to be accounted for as a true sale, sa�sfying a performance obliga�on of
transferring control of an asset must be met for this to be deemed a property transac�on and accounted for under IFRS 16. If
not, it is accounted for as an asset under IFRS 9.

The Group acquired a property in the prior under a sale and leaseback arrangement with a larger mul�-channel supermarket
operator. In this case, it was deemed that as the lease was for a significant part of the asset's useful economic life, control
was not passed and the asset was therefore accounted for under IFRS 9 as an amor�sed cost asset.

 

2.    Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accoun�ng policies applied in the prepara�on of the consolidated financial informa�on are set out below.

2.1.  Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial informa�on comprises the financial informa�on of the Company and all of its subsidiaries drawn
up to 30 June 2023.

Subsidiaries are those en��es including special purpose en��es, directly or indirectly controlled
by the Company. Control exists when the Company is exposed or has rights to variable returns from
its investment with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee. In assessing control, poten�al vo�ng rights that presently are exercisable are taken
into account.

The financial informa�on of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial informa�on from
the date that control commences un�l the date that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial informa�on, intra group balances, transac�ons and unrealised gains or losses are
eliminated in full.

Uniform accoun�ng policies are adopted for all en��es within the Group.

2.2.  Segmental information

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is currently engaged in a single segment business, being investment in United
Kingdom in supermarket property assets; the non-supermarket proper�es are ancillary in nature to the supermarket
property assets and are therefore not segmented.

2.3.  Rental income

Rental income arising on investment proper�es is accounted for in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
as adjusted for the following:

·   Any rental income from fixed and minimum guaranteed rent review uplifts is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, variable lease uplift calculations are not rebased when a rent review occurs
and the variable payment becomes fixed;

·   Lease incentives are spread evenly over the lease term, even if payments are not made on such a basis. The lease
term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to
continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will
exercise that option.

Con�ngent rents, such as those arising from indexed-linked rent upli�s or market based rent reviews, are recognised in the
period in which they are earned.

Where income is recognised in advance of the related cash flows due to fixed and minimum guaranteed rent review upli�s or
lease incen�ves, an adjustment is made to ensure that the carrying value of the relevant property, including the accrued rent
rela�ng to such upli�s or lease incen�ves, does not exceed the external valua�on.

 

Rental income is invoiced in advance with that element of invoiced rental income that relates to a future period being included
within deferred rental income in the consolidated statement of financial posi�on.

Leases classified under IFRS 9 as financial assets recognise income received from the tenant between finance income and a
reduc�on of the asset value, based on the interest rate implicit in the lease.

2.4.  Service charge income

Service charge income represents amounts billed to tenants for services provided in conjunc�on with leased proper�es
based on budgeted service charge expenditure for a given property over a given service charge year. The Company
recognises service charge income on a straight-line basis over the service charge term.

2.5.  Service charge expense

Service charge expense represents a wide range of costs related to the opera�on and upkeep of the leased proper�es.  These
costs are allocated and charged to tenants based on agreed terms and calcula�ons as outlined in the lease agreements with
a por�on being borne by the landlord where agreed.

2.6.  Finance income

Finance income consists principally of interest receivable from interest rate deriva�ves and income from financial assets held
at amor�sed cost. An adjustment is applied to reclassify amounts received upon periodic se�lement of interest rate
deriva�ves assets from change in fair value to interest income.

2.7.  Finance expense

Finance expenses consist principally of interest payable and the amor�sa�on of loan arrangement fees.

Loan arrangement fees are expensed using the effec�ve interest method over the term of the relevant loan. Interest payable
and other finance costs, including commitment fees, which the Group incurs in connec�on with bank borrowings, are
expensed in the period to which they relate.

2.8.  Administrative and other expenses



Administra�ve and other expenses, including the investment advisory fees payable to the Investment Adviser, are recognised
as a profit or loss on an accruals basis.

2.9.  Dividends payable to Shareholders

Dividends to the Company's Shareholders are recognised when they become legally payable, as a reduc�on in equity in the
financial informa�on. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity dividends will be recognised when
approved by Shareholders at an AGM.

2.10.          Taxation

Non-REIT taxable income
Taxa�on on the Group's profit or loss for the year that is not exempt from tax under the UK-REIT regula�ons comprises
current and deferred tax, as applicable. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised as direct movements in equity, in which case it is similarly recognised as a direct movement in equity.

Non-REIT taxable income continued
Current tax is tax payable on any non-REIT taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substan�vely enacted at
the end of the relevant period.

Entry to the UK-REIT regime
The Group obtained its UK-REIT status effec�ve from 21 December 2017. Entry to the regime results in, subject to con�nuing
relevant UK-REIT criteria being met, the profits of the Group's property rental business, comprising both income and capital
gains, being exempt from UK taxa�on.

The Group intends to ensure that it complies with the UK-REIT regula�ons on an on-going basis and regularly monitors the
condi�ons required to maintain REIT status.

2.11.          Investment properties

Investment proper�es consist of land and buildings which are held to earn income together with the poten�al for capital
growth.

Investment proper�es are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred and are measured
ini�ally at cost, being the fair value of the considera�on given, including transac�on costs. Where the purchase price (or
propor�on thereof) of an investment property is se�led through the issue of new ordinary shares in the Company, the number
of shares issued is such that the fair value of the share consideration is equal to the fair value of the asset being acquired.
Transaction costs include transfer taxes and professional fees for legal services. Any subsequent capital expenditure incurred
in improving investment proper�es is capitalised in the period incurred and included within the book cost of the property. All
other property expenditure is wri�en off in profit or loss as incurred.

A�er ini�al recogni�on, investment proper�es are measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Gains and losses on disposals of investment properties will be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying value of the relevant asset. These will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Ini�ally, rental guarantees are recognised at their fair value and separated from the purchase price on ini�al recogni�on of
the property being purchased. They are subsequently measured at their fair value at each repor�ng date with any
movements recognised in the profit or loss.

2.12.          Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures, including the addi�onal interest acquired during the year, are accounted for using the equity
method of accoun�ng as per IAS 28. The Group's joint ventures are arrangements in which the partners have joint control
and rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in joint ventures are carried in the statement of financial
posi�on at cost
as adjusted by post-acquisi�on changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the joint venture, less any impairment or
share of income adjusted for dividends. In assessing whether a par�cular en�ty
is controlled, the Group considers the same principles as control over subsidiaries as described in
note 2.1.

2.13.          Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprises of roo�op solar panels. Roo�op solar panels are stated at cost less accumulated
deprecia�on and any recognised impairment loss. Deprecia�on is recognised over the useful lives of the equipment, using
the straight-line method at a rate of between 25- 30 years depending on the useful economic life.

Residual value is reviewed at least at each financial year and there is no depreciable amount if
residual value is the same as, or exceeds, book value. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of the roo�op solar panels are
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

2.14.          Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabili�es are recognised when the relevant Group en�ty becomes a party to the uncondi�onal
contractual terms of an instrument. Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts
of financial assets and liabili�es are considered by the Directors to be reasonable es�mates of their
fair values.

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised ini�ally at their fair value. All of the Group's financial assets, except interest rate deriva�ves,
are held at amor�sed cost using the effec�ve interest method, less any impairment.

For assets where changes in cash flows are linked to changes in an infla�on index, the Group updates the effec�ve interest
rate at the end of each repor�ng period and this is reflected in the carrying amount of the asset each repor�ng period un�l
the asset is derecognised.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and short-term deposits in banks with an original maturity of three months
or less.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables, including rents receivable, are recognised and carried at the lower of their original invoiced
value and recoverable amount. Provisions for impairment are calculated using an expected credit loss model. Balances will
be wri�en-off in profit or loss in circumstances where the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised ini�ally at their fair value and subsequently at amor�sed cost.

Bank borrowings
Bank borrowings are ini�ally recognised at fair value net of a�ributable transac�on costs. A�er ini�al recogni�on, bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amor�sed cost, using the effec�ve interest method. The effec�ve interest rate is
calculated to include all associated transac�on costs.

In the event of a modifica�on to the terms of a loan agreement, the Group considers both the quan�ta�ve and qualita�ve
impact of the changes. Where a modifica�on is considered substan�al, the exis�ng facility is treated as se�led and the new
facility is recognised. Where the modifica�on is not considered substan�al, the carrying value of the liability is restated to the
present value of the cash flows of the modified arrangement, discounted using the effec�ve interest rate of the original
arrangement. The difference is recognised as a gain or loss on refinancing through the statement of comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group's deriva�ve financial instruments currently comprise of interest rate swaps/caps. Deriva�ves designated as
hedging instruments u�lise hedge accoun�ng under IAS 39. Deriva�ves not designated under hedge accoun�ng are



accounted for under IFRS 9.

These instruments are used to manage the Group's cash flow interest rate risk.

The instruments are ini�ally recognised at fair value on the date that the deriva�ve contract is entered into, being the cost of
any premium paid at incep�on, and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value at each repor�ng date.

Fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments
The fair value of deriva�ve financial instruments is the es�mated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate
the agreement at the period end date, taking into account current interest rate expecta�ons and the current credit ra�ng of
the relevant group en�ty and its counterpar�es.

The Group uses valua�on techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

A number of assump�ons are used in determining the fair values including es�ma�ons over future interest rates and
therefore future cash flows. The fair value represents the net present value of the difference between the cash flows
produced by the contract rate and the valua�on rate.

Hedge accounting
At the incep�on of a hedging transac�on, the Group documents the rela�onship between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk management objec�ves and strategy for undertaking the hedging transac�on.

The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge incep�on and on an ongoing basis, of whether the deriva�ves that
are used in hedging transac�ons are highly effec�ve in offse�ng changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Assuming the criteria for applying hedge accoun�ng con�nue to be met the effec�ve por�on of gains and losses on the
revalua�on of such instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedging
reserve. Any ineffec�ve por�on of such gains and losses will be recognised in profit or loss within finance income or expense
as appropriate.  The cumula�ve gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from the cash flow
hedge reserve to profit or loss (finance expense) at the same �me as the related hedged interest expense is recognised.

Interest rate deriva�ves that do not qualify under hedge accoun�ng are carried in the Group Statement of Financial Posi�on
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, net of interest
receivable/payable from the deriva�ves shown in the finance income or expense line.

2.15.          Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received, net of directly a�ributable
issue costs. Costs not directly a�ributable to the issue are immediately expensed in profit or loss.

Further details of the accoun�ng for the proceeds from the issue of shares in the period are disclosed in note 22.

2.16.          Fair value measurements and hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would be received on the sale of an asset, or paid to transfer a liability,
in an orderly transac�on between market par�cipants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presump�on that the transac�on takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market. It is based on the assump�ons that market par�cipants would use when
pricing the asset
or liability, assuming they act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account the best and highest value use for that asset.

The fair value hierarchy to be applied under IFRS 13 is as follows:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in ac�ve markets for iden�cal assets or liabili�es.

Level 2: Valua�on techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable.

Level 3: Valua�on techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

For assets and liabili�es that are carried at fair value and which will be recorded in the financial informa�on on a recurring
basis, the Group will determine whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisa�on at the end of each repor�ng period.

 

3.    Gross rental income

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Rental income - freehold property 53,119 44,332

Rental income - long leasehold property 42,669 28,031

Lease surrender income 35 -

Gross rental income 95,823 72,363

 
Year to

30 June 2023
£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

Property insurance recoverable 585 449

Service charge recoverable 5,354 1,637

Total property insurance and service charge income 5,939 2,086

Total property income 101,762 74,449
 

Included within rental income is a £2,512,000 (2022: £2,654,000) rent smoothing adjustment that arises as a result of IFRS 16
'Leases' requiring that rental income in respect of leases with rents increasing by a fixed percentage be accounted for on
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the year this resulted in an increase in rental income and an offsetting entry being
recognised in profit or loss as an adjustment to the investment property revalua�on.

On an annualised basis, rental income comprises £49,620,000 (2022: £34,420,000) rela�ng to the Group's largest tenant and
£27,194,000 (2022: £24,265,000) relating to the Group's second largest tenant. There were no further tenants represen�ng
more than 10% of annualised gross rental income during either year.

 

4.    Service charge expense

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Property insurance expenses 715 639



Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Service charge expenses 5,803 1,699

Total property insurance and service charge expense 6,518 2,338
 

5.    Administrative and other expenses

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Investment Adviser fees (Note 27) 10,292 9,405

Directors' remunera�on (Note 7) 364 269

Corporate administra�on fees 1,108 893

Legal and professional fees 1,626 2,249

Other administra�ve expenses 2,039 1,121

Total administra�ve and other expenses 15,429 13,937
 

The fees rela�ng to the issue of shares in the year have been treated as share issue expenses and offset against the share
premium reserve.

       

6.    Operating (loss)/profit

Opera�ng (loss)/profit is stated a�er charging fees for:

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Audit of the Company's consolidated and individual
financial statements

260 190

Audit of subsidiaries, pursuant to legisla�on 95 64

Total audit services 355 254

Audit related services: interim review 38 32

Total audit and audit related services 393 286
 

The Group's auditor also provided the following services in rela�on to corporate finance services:

 

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Other non-audit services: corporate finance services in connec�on
with the October 2021 and April 2022 placings

- 78

Other non-audit services: corporate finance services in connec�on with the
transi�on to premium segment of LSE

- 45

Other non-audit services: corporate finance services 65 -

Total other non-audit services 65 123

Total fees charged by the Group's auditor 458 409
 

7.    Directors' remuneration

The Group had no employees in the current or prior year. The Directors, who are the key management personnel of the
Company, are appointed under le�ers of appointment for services. Directors' remunera�on, all of which represents fees for
services provided, was as follows:

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

Directors' fees 330 245

Employer's Na�onal Insurance Contribu�on 34 24

Total Directors' remunera�on 364 269
 

The highest paid Director received £75,000 (2022: £70,000) for services during the year.

       

8.    Finance income and expense

Finance income

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Interest received on bank deposits 53 -

Income from financial assets held at amor�sed cost (note 16) 483 -

Finance income on unwinding of discounted receivable (note 17) 2,376 -

Finance income on se�lement of interest rate deriva�ves (note 19) 11,714 -

Total finance income 14,626 -
 

Finance expense

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Interest payable on bank borrowings and hedging arrangements 29,707 9,565

Finance expense on se�lement of interest rate deriva�ves (note 19) - 296

Commitment fees payable on bank borrowings 1,571 969



Finance expense

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Amor�sa�on of loan arrangement fees* 8,037 2,157

Amor�sa�on of interest rate deriva�ve premium (Note 19) - 5

Total finance expense 39,315 12,992
 

*This includes a one-off excep�onal charge in the year to 30 June 2023 of £1.52 million, rela�ng to the accelera�on of
unamor�sed arrangement fees in respect of the modifica�on of the Wells Fargo and Barclays/RBC facili�es under IFRS 9. It
also includes a one-off loan arrangement fee for the short-term J.P. Morgan loan of £4.0 million.

The above finance expense includes the following in respect of liabili�es not classified as fair value through profit and loss:

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Total interest expense on financial liabili�es held at amor�sed cost 37,744 11,723

Fee expense not part of effec�ve interest rate for financial liabili�es held at
amor�sed cost

1,571 969

Total finance expense 39,315 12,692

 

       
9.    Taxation

Tax charge in profit or loss

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Corpora�on tax - -

B) Total tax expense
 

 

Tax charge in profit and loss as per the above - -

Share of tax expense of equity accounted joint ventures (400) 987

Total tax (credit)/expense (400) 987
 

The Company and its subsidiaries operate as a UK Group REIT. Subject to continuing compliance with certain rules, the UK REIT
regime exempts the profits of the Group's property rental business from UK corporation tax.  To operate as a UK Group REIT a
number of conditions had to be satisfied in respect of the Company, the Group's qualifying activity and the Group's balance of
business. Since the 21 December 2017 the Group has met all such applicable conditions.

The reconcilia�on of the (Loss)/profit before tax mul�plied by the blended rate of corpora�on tax for the year of 20.4%
(2022: 19%) to the total tax charge is as follows:

C) Reconciliation of the total tax charge for the year

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
(Loss)/Profit on ordinary ac�vi�es before taxa�on (144,866) 110,303
Theore�cal tax at UK standard corpora�on tax rate of 20.4% (2022: 19%) (29,553) 20,958
Effects of:  
Investment property and deriva�ve revalua�on not taxable 49,680 (4,146)

Disposal of interest rate deriva�ve (587) -
Residual business losses 4,428 -
Other non-taxable items (8,807) -
REIT exempt income (15,161) (16,812)

Share of tax expense of equity accounted joint ventures (400) 987

Total tax (credit)/expense for the year (400) 987
 

UK REIT exempt income includes property rental income that is exempt from UK corpora�on tax in accordance with Part 12
of CTA 2010.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the Group's residual carried forward tax losses of £36.2 million as, given the
Group's REIT status, it is considered unlikely that these losses will be utilised.

 

10.  Earnings per share

Earnings per share (EPS) amounts are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. As there are no dilutive instruments
outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.

The European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) publishes guidelines for calculating adjusted earnings on a comparable basis.
EPRA EPS is a measure of EPS designed by EPRA to enable entities to present underlying earnings from core operating activities,
which excludes fair value movements on investment properties.

The Company has also included an additional earnings measure called "Adjusted Earnings" and "Adjusted EPS." Adjusted
earnings53 is a performance measure used by the Board to assess the Group's financial performance and dividend payments.
The metric adjusts EPRA earnings by deduc�ng one-off items such as debt restructuring costs and the Joint Venture
acquisi�on loan arrangement fee which are non-recurring in nature and adding back finance income on deriva�ves held at
fair value through profit and loss. Adjusted Earnings is considered a be�er reflec�on of the measure over which the Board
assesses the Group's trading performance and dividend cover.

Finance income received from deriva�ves held at fair value through profit and loss are added back to EPRA earnings as this
reflects the cash received from the deriva�ves in the period and therefore gives a be�er reflec�on of the Group's net finance
costs.

Debt restructuring costs relate to the accelera�on of unamor�sed arrangement fees following the par�al transi�on of the
Group's debt structure from secured to unsecured.



The Joint Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee relates to the upfront amount payable to J.P. Morgan in respect of the
short-term facility taken out in January 2023 to fund the Group's purchase of BAPTL's 50% interest in the joint venture. This
was specific debt taken out to finance the transac�on to acquire and then dispose of the joint venture, whilst protec�ng the
Group from any recourse on unwind of the joint venture's financial asset. This adjustment reflects the arrangement fee only,
as the Group largely had other commi�ed undrawn facili�es that it could have u�lised.

 

 

The reconciliation of IFRS Earnings, EPRA Earnings and Adjusted Earnings is shown below:

Year to
30 June 2023

Year to
30 June 2022

 £' 000 £' 000
Net (loss) / profit a�ributable to ordinary shareholders (144,866) 110,303
EPRA adjustments:   
Changes in fair value of investment proper�es and rental guarantees 256,066 (21,820)
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves measured at fair value through
profit and loss (10,024) -
Profit on disposal of interest rate deriva�ves (2,878) -
Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture investment proper�es  (11,486) 6,021
Group share of gain on disposal of joint venture investment proper�es - (37,102)
Gain on disposal of investments in joint venture (19,940) -
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through
profit and loss (9,671) -
EPRA earnings 57,201 57,402
Adjustments for:   
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through
profit and loss 9,671 -
One-off restructuring costs in rela�on to the accelera�on of unamor�sed
arrangement fees 1,518 -
Joint Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee 4,009 -
Adjusted Earnings 72,399 57,402
 Number1 Number1

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,242,574,505 975,233,858

1 Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

       

 

 Year to
30 June 2023

Year to
30 June 2022

 Pence per share ('p')
Pence per share

('p')
Basic and Diluted EPS (11.7) 11.3
EPRA adjustments:   
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves measured at FVTPL (0.8) -
Changes in fair value of investment proper�es
and rent guarantees 20.6 (2.2)
Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture investment proper�es (0.9) 0.6
Profit on disposal of interest rate deriva�ves (0.2) -
Group share of gain on disposal of joint venture investment proper�es (1.6) (3.8)
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value
through profit and loss (0.8) -
EPRA EPS 4.6 5.9
Adjustments for:   
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value
through profit and loss 0.8 -
One-off restructuring costs in rela�on to the accelera�on of unamor�sed
arrangement fees 0.1 -
Joint Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee 0.3 -
Adjusted EPRA EPS 5.8 5.9
 

11.  Dividends

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Amounts recognised as a distribu�on to ordinary Shareholders
in the year:
Dividends paid 74,328 53,190
 

On 8 July 2022, the Board declared a fourth interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2022 of 1.485 pence per share,
which was paid on 22 August 2022 to Shareholders on the register on 15 July 2022.

On 21 September 2022 the Board declared a first interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2023 of 1.5 pence per share,
which was paid on 16 November 2022 to shareholders on the register on 7 October 2022.

On 12 January 2023, the Board declared a second interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2023 of 1.5 pence per share,
which was paid on 23 February 2023 to shareholders on the register on 20 January 2023.

On 11 April 2023, the Board declared a third interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2023 of 1.5 pence per share, which
was paid on 26 May 2023 to shareholders on the register on 21 April 2023.

On 6 July 2023, the Board declared a fourth interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2023 of 1.5 pence per share, which
was paid on 4 August 2023 to shareholders on the register on 13 July 2023. This has not been included as a liability as at 30
June 2023.

 



12.  Investment properties

In accordance with IAS 40 "Investment Property", the Group's investment proper�es have been independently valued at fair
value by Cushman & Wakefield, an accredited independent valuer with 
a recognised and relevant professional qualifica�on and with recent experience in the loca�ons and categories of the
investment properties being valued. The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valua�on - Global Standards
(the "Red Book") and incorporate the recommenda�ons 
 of the Interna�onal Valua�on Standards Commi�ee which are consistent with the principles set out 
 in IFRS 13.

The independent valuer in forming its opinion on valua�on makes a series of assump�ons. As explained in note 2, all the
valua�ons of the Group's investment property at 30 June 2023 are classified as 'level 3' in the fair value hierarchy defined in
IFRS 13.

The valua�ons are ul�mately the responsibility of the Directors. Accordingly, the cri�cal assump�ons used in establishing the
independent valua�on are reviewed by the Board.

 

Freehold
£'000

Long Leasehold
£'000 Total £'000

At 1 July 2022 903,850 657,740 1,561,590

Property addi�ons 131,600 231,030 362,630

Capitalised acquisi�on costs 4,132 10,549 14,681

Revalua�on movement (140,142) (113,069) (253,211)

Valua�on at 30 June 2023 899,440 786,250 1,685,690

At 1 July 2021 723,540 424,840 1,148,380

Property addi�ons 150,363 220,447 370,810

Capitalised acquisi�on costs 7,825 9,778 17,603

Revalua�on movement 22,122 2,675 24,797

Valua�on at 30 June 2022 903,850 657,740 1,561,590
 

Reconcilia�on of Investment Property to Independent Property Valua�on
 

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

 £'000
Investment Property at fair value per Group Statement of Financial Posi�on 1,685,690 1,561,590

Market Value of Property classified as Financial Assets held at amor�sed
cost (Note 16)

7,210 9,960

Total Independent Property Valua�on 1,692,900 1,571,550
 

There were nine property acquisi�ons during the year, of which two were purchased through the acquisi�on of a corporate
structure, rather than acquiring the asset directly. All corporate acquisi�ons during the year have been treated as asset
purchases rather than business combina�ons because they are considered to be acquisi�ons of proper�es rather than
businesses.

Included within the carrying value of investment proper�es at 30 June 2023 is £8,724,000 (2022: £6,212,000) in respect of
the smoothing of fixed contractual rent upli�s as described in note 3. The difference between rents on a straight-line basis
and rents actually receivable is included within the carrying value of the investment proper�es but does not increase that
carrying value over fair value. The effect of this adjustment on the revalua�on movement during the year is as follows:

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

Revalua�on movement per above (253,211) 24,797

Rent smoothing adjustment (note 3) (2,512) (2,654)

Movements in associated rent guarantees and lease incen�ves (343) (323)

Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (256,066) 21,820
 

Valuation techniques and key unobservable inputs
 
Valuation techniques used to derive fair values
The valua�ons have been prepared on the basis of market value which is defined in the RICS Valua�on Standards as 'the
es�mated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the date of
the valua�on between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transac�on a�er proper marke�ng wherein the
par�es had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion'. Market value as defined in the RICS Valua�on
Standards is the equivalent of fair value under IFRS.

The yield methodology approach is used when valuing the Group's proper�es which uses market rental values capitalised with
a market capitalisation rate. This is sense-checked against the market comparable method (or market comparable approach)
where a property's fair value is es�mated based on comparable transac�ons in the market.

Unobservable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs include: the es�mated rental value ("ERV") based on market condi�ons prevailing at the
valua�on date and net ini�al yield. Other unobservable inputs include but are not limited to the future rental growth - the
es�mated average increase in rent based on both market es�ma�ons and contractual situa�ons, and the physical condi�on
of the individual proper�es determined by inspec�on.

A decrease in ERV would decrease the fair value. A decrease in net ini�al yield would increase the
fair value.

Sensitivity of measurement of significant valuation inputs
As described in note 2 the determina�on of the valua�on of the Group's investment property por�olio is open to judgement
and is inherently subjec�ve by nature.

Sensitivity analysis - impact of changes in net initial yields and rental values
Year to

30 June 2023
Year to

30 June 2022

Range of Net Ini�al Yields 4.7% - 7.4% 3.8% - 6.6%

Range of Rental values (passing rents or ERV as relevant) of Group's
Investment Proper�es

£0.3m - £5.1m £0.3m - £4.2m

Weighted average of Net Ini�al Yields 5.6% 4.6%

Weighted average of Rental values (passing rents or ERV as relevant)
of Group's Investment Proper�es

£2.8m £2.6m



 

The table below analyses the sensi�vity on the fair value of investment proper�es for changes in rental values and net ini�al
yields:

+2%
Rental value

£m

-2%
Rental value

£m

+0.5% Net
Initial Yield

£m

-0.5%
Net Initial

Yield
£m

(Decrease)/increase in the fair value of investment
proper�es as at 30 June 2023

33.7 (33.7) (139.9) 168.1

(Decrease)/increase in the fair value of investment
proper�es as at 30 June 2022

31.2 (31.2) (81.1) 90.7

 

13.  Subsidiaries

The en��es listed in the following table were the subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 30 June 2023 all of which are
wholly owned. All but those noted as Jersey en��es below are subsidiary undertakings incorporated in England.

Company name
Holding
type Nature of business

Supermarket Income Investments UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments (Midco2) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments (Midco3) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments (Midco4) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

SII UK Halliwell (MIDCO) LTD+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments UK (Midco6) Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments UK (Midco7) Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

SUPR Green Energy Limited+ Direct Energy provision company

SUPR Finco Limited+ Direct Holding company

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO1) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO2) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO3) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO4) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO5) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO6) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO7) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO8) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO9) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO10) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO11) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO12) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO16) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO16a) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO16b) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO16c) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO17) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

TPP Investments Limited+ Indirect Property investment

T (Partnership) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

The TBL Property Partnership Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO19) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO20) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO21) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO22) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO23) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO24) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO25) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO26) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO27) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO28) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO29) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO30) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO31) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO32) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO33) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO34) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO35) Limited^- Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO36) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO37) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO38) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO39) Limited**^- Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO40) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment



Company name
Holding
type Nature of business

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO41) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO42) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO43) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO44) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO45) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

The Brookmaker Unit Trust**^- Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker Limited Partnership**# Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker (GP) Limited**# Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker (Nominee) Limited**# Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments UK (NO47) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Horner (GP) Limited**^- Indirect Property investment
Horner (Jersey) Limited Partnership**^- Indirect Property investment
Horner REIT**^- Indirect Property investment

SII UK Halliwell (No1) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Halliwell (No2) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Halliwell (No3) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Halliwell (No4) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Halliwell (No5) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Halliwell (No6) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

* New subsidiaries incorporated during the year ended 30 June 2023

** Subsidiaries acquired during the year ended 30 June 2023

^ Jersey registered en�ty

+ Registered office: 1 King William Street, London, United Kingdom, EC4N 7AF

-  Registered office: 3rd Floor, Gaspe House, 66-72 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 2LH

# Registered office: 8th Floor 1 Fleet Place, London, United Kingdom, EC4M 7RA

The following subsidiaries will be exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 rela�ng to the audit of
individual accounts by virtue of Sec�on 479A of that Act.

Company name
Companies House  

Registration Number
SII UK Halliwell (MIDCO) LTD 12473355
SUPR Green Energy Limited 12890276
SII UK Halliwell (No1) LTD 12475261
SII UK Halliwell (No2) LTD 12475599
SII UK Halliwell (No3) LTD 12478141
SII UK Halliwell (No4) LTD 12604032
SII UK Halliwell (No5) LTD 12605175
SII UK Halliwell (No6) LTD 12606144
SUPR Finco Limited 14292760
 

       

14.  Investment in joint ventures

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Opening balance 177,140 130,321

Addi�ons* 206,656 3,518

Group's share of profit a�er tax 23,232 43,301

Disposal (407,028) -

Closing balance - 177,140

*Included within additions are £190.7 million of further investments made in the joint venture during the year and
£15.9 million of net liabilities acquired on acquisition of Horner (Jersey) LP
 

In May 2020, the Group and Bri�sh Airways Pension Trustees Limited (BAPTL) formed a 50:50 joint venture (the "joint
venture"), Horner (Jersey) LP. Horner (Jersey) LP owns of 100% of the shares in Horner REIT, which acquired 100% of the
issued share capital in Horndri� Limited for a combined total considera�on of £102m plus costs on this date.

In February 2021, Horner REIT acquired 100% of the issued share capital in Cornerford Limited for a combined total
considera�on of £115m plus costs. Further amounts have been advanced since this date to fund opera�ng costs and taxa�on
liabili�es on a pro-rata basis with the other par�es.

Horndri� and Cornerford Limited each hold a 25.2% share of certain beneficial interests in a property trust arrangement that
holds a por�olio of 26 Sainsbury's supermarket proper�es funded by bonds which matured in 2023 (the "Structure"). Rental
surpluses generated by the Structure are required to be applied in the repayment of the bonds and not therefore capable of
being transferred to the joint venture or Group un�l those bonds have been repaid.

On 12 January 2023, the Group purchased Bri�sh Airways Pension Trustees Limited's (BAPTL) 50% interest in the joint
venture for £188.8 million which resulted in the Group consolida�ng the following en��es:

Entity
Address and principal
place of business Ownership

Jersey
Horner (Jersey) LP

Third Floor, Libera�on
House, Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey,
JE1 2LH

100%
owned by the Group



Entity
Address and principal
place of business Ownership

Horner GP Third Floor, Libera�on
House, Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey,
JE1 2LH

100%
owned by the Group

Horner REIT Limited Third Floor, Liberation
House, Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey,
JE1 2LH

100%
owned by Horner (Jersey) LP

United Kingdom
Horndri� Limited

Langham Hall UK LLP,
1 Fleet Street, London, E4M 7RA

Previously owned 100% by
Horner REIT Limited and
disposed in March-23

Cornerford Limited Langham Hall UK LLP,
1 Fleet Street, London, E4M 7RA

Previously owned 100% by
Horner REIT Limited and
disposed in March-23

 

The assets and liabili�es recognised on acquisi�on were as follows: 

 
 
Current assets

 Fair value
12 Jan 2023

£'000
Investment in joint venture  200,887
Cash and cash equivalents  565
Trade and other receivables  19
Total current assets  201,471
Total assets  201,471
   
Current liabili�es   
Trade and other payables  (9,078)
Total current liabili�es  (9,078)
Total liabili�es  (9,078)
Net assets  192,393
   
Nega�ve goodwill on acquisi�on  (3,565)
Purchase considera�on  188,828
 

Transac�on related costs of £451,000 were incurred in respect of the above acquisi�on and were capitalised as part of the
Group's carrying amount in the joint venture.  

       

Horner (Jersey) LP's share of the aggregate amounts recognised in the statement of financial posi�on of the Structure are as
follows:

 

 
 
Non-current assets

 Fair value
12 Jan 2023

£'000
Investment proper�es  -
Total non-current assets  -
   
Current assets   
Contractual receivable  277,379
Trade and other receivables  1,683
Investment proper�es held for sale  16,888
Cash and cash equivalents  -
Total current assets  295,950
Total assets  295,950
   
Current liabili�es   
Debt securi�es in issue  (85,349)
Interest rate deriva�ve  (351)
Deferred tax  (139)
Trade and other payables  (4,097)
Other liabili�es  (5,127)
Total current liabili�es  (95,063)
Total liabili�es  (95,063)
Net assets  200,887
 

The acquisi�on of BAPTL's 50% interest in the joint venture, increased the Group's beneficial interest in the structure to 51%.
Following the addi�onal joint venture interest acquired during the year, the Group was deemed to control the Structure
jointly, as any change to the contractual arrangements and deeds that regulate the Structure, required unanimous consent
from all beneficial holders. Therefore, the equity method of accoun�ng con�nued to be used un�l the disposal of the
investment in joint venture which occurred during the year. Further detail is included in Note 2 of the financial informa�on.

Atrato Halliwell Limited, affiliate of the Investment Adviser, has a carried interest en�tlement over the investment returns
from the Group's investment in the joint venture. Under the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement, ("LPA"), once the
Group and BAPTL received a return equal to their total investment in the joint venture plus an amount equivalent to a 10%
per annum preferred return on that investment, Atrato Halliwell is en�tled to share in any further cash returns to be
distributed by the joint venture. Atrato Halliwell's en�tlement to share in cash returns in excess of the preferred return
increases depending on the extent of those cash returns, up to a maximum en�tlement of £15,000,000.



Following the acquisi�on of BAPTL's 50% interest in the joint venture, BAPTL's £7.5 million share of carried interest to Atrato
Halliwell crystalised and was paid at the point of acquisi�on, together with other deferred arrangement fees payable by
BAPTL amoun�ng to £0.6 million. The remaining £7.5 million is included within trade and other payables within Note 18 and
was paid a�er the year end.

On 13 March 2023, the Group sold its interests in Horndri� and Cornerford Limited to Sainsbury's for gross proceeds of
£430.8 million. which was structured in three separate tranches:

-      The first tranche of £279.3 million was paid in cash on 17 March 2023
-      The second tranche of £116.9 million was paid in cash a�er the balance sheet date on 10 July 2023
-      The third tranche of £34.7 million was condi�onal on the sale of the remaining five stores in the por�olio.  

During the year, the Group purchased two of the five stores for a gross purchase price of £25.2 million and received total
proceeds from Sainsbury's of £15.0 million.

A�er the year end, the Group purchased two of the remaining three stores in the por�olio for a gross purchase price of
£36.4 million and received proceeds from Sainsbury's of £18.2 million. It is expected that the one remaining store will be sold
at vacant possession value.

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Total disposal considera�on 430,797 -

Fair value adjustment to contractual receivable (2,579) -

Carrying amount of net assets sold (407,029) -

Transac�on related costs (1,249) -

Profit on disposal of joint venture interest 19,940 -
 

       

Horndri� and Cornerford Limited's share of the aggregate amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and statement of financial posi�on for the period ending 13 March 2023 are as follows:

 

  

Period to
13 March 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Rental income  3,904 12,878

Finance income  18,142 15,988

Administra�ve and other expenses  (1,844) (190)

Change in fair value of investment proper�es  (4,256) (11,336)

Gain on disposal of investment proper�es  27,228 84,095

Opera�ng profit  43,174 101,435

Finance expense  (1,585) (1,996)

Profit before taxa�on  41,589 99,439

Tax charge for the period  833 (1,974)

Profit for the period/year  42,422 97,465
Group share of profit for the period / year  23,232 43,301

 

 
 
Non-current assets

 As at
13 March  2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Investment proper�es  - 37,005
Total non-current assets  - 37,005
    
Current assets    
Contractual receivable  559,268 530,481
Trade and other receivables  8,743 2,897
Investment proper�es held for sale  33,794 -
Cash and cash equivalents  - -
Total current assets  601,805 533,378
Total assets  601,805 570,383
    
Current liabili�es    
Debt securi�es in issue  169,901 176,243
Interest rate deriva�ve  467 3,451
Deferred tax  353 4,196
Other liabili�es  10,259 9,883
Trade and other payables  10,231 7,329
Total current liabili�es  191,211 201,102
Total liabili�es  191,211 201,102
Net assets  410,594 369,281
    
Nega�ve goodwill on acquisi�on  (3,565) -
Carrying amount of net assets at disposal  407,029 369,281
 

15.  Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss

Rental guarantees provided by the seller of an investment property are recognised as a financial asset when there is a valid
expecta�on that the Group will u�lise the guarantee over the contractual term. Rental guarantees are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss in accordance with IFRS 9.

In determining the fair value of the rental guarantee, the Group makes an assessment of the expected future cash flows to be
derived over the term of the rental guarantee and discounts these at the market rate. A review is performed on a periodic basis
based on payments received and changes in the es�ma�on of future cash flows.

The fair value of rental guarantees held by the Group are as follows:



Year to 30 June
2023
£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

At start of year 283 237

Addi�ons 1,000 283

Fair value changes (including changes in es�mated cash flows) 92 (326)

Collected during the year (1,375) 89

Total financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss
at end of year - 283
 

16.  Financial assets held at amortised cost

 

Year to 30 June
2023 £'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

At start of year  10,626 -
Addi�ons - 10,626
Interest income recognised in profit and loss (note 8) 483 -
Lease payments received during the period (290) -
At end of period 10,819 10,626
 

On 8 June 2022, the Group acquired an Asda store in Carcro�, via a sale and leaseback transac�on for £10.6 million, this has
been recognised in the Statement of Financial Posi�on as a Financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9. The financial asset is
measured using the amor�sed cost model, which recognises the rental payments as financial income and reduc�ons of the
asset value based on the implicit interest rate in the lease. As at 30 June 2023 the market value of the property was
es�mated at £7.2 million.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a life�me expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses on a collec�ve basis, trade receivables are grouped based
on similar credit risk and ageing. The expected loss rates are based on the Group's historical credit losses experienced over
the period from incorpora�on to 30 June 2023. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking
informa�on on macro-economic factors affec�ng the Group's customers. Both the expected credit loss provision and the
incurred loss provision in the current year is immaterial. No reasonable possible changes in the assump�ons underpinning
the expected credit loss provision would give rise to a material expected credit loss. 

       

17.  Trade and other receivables

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Other receivables 4,723 1,430

Receivable from joint venture disposal 136,582 -

Prepayments and accrued income 850 433

Total trade and other receivables 142,155 1,863
 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a life�me expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses on a collec�ve basis, trade receivables are grouped based
on similar credit risk and ageing. The expected loss rates are based on the Group's historical credit losses experienced over
the period from incorpora�on to 30 June 2023. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking
informa�on on macro-economic factors affec�ng the Group's customers. Both the expected credit loss provision and the
incurred loss provision in the current and prior year are immaterial. No reasonable possible changes in the assump�ons
underpinning the expected credit loss provision would give rise to a material expected credit loss.

The receivable following the disposal of the Joint venture receivable has been ini�ally recognised at fair value which resulted
in a discount of £2.6 million to the gross amounts to be received of £136.6 million and which is being amor�sed and
recognised within finance income over the period to the receipt of cash from Sainsbury's. £135.1 million was received post
year end and the remainder of the considera�on is expected to be received on sale of the final property.

 

18.  Trade and other payables

 

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000

Corporate accruals 22,469 8,958

VAT payable 4,510 1,719

Total trade and other payables 26,979 10,677
 

19.  Interest rate derivatives

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Non-current asset: Interest rate swaps 35,601 5,114

Non-current asset: Interest rate cap 1,597 -

Current Asset: Interest rate swaps 16,800 -

Current Asset: Interest rate cap 3,584                         -
 

The rate swaps are remeasured to fair value by the counterparty bank on a quarterly basis.

The fair value at the end of year comprises:
Year to 30 June

2023 £'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

At start of year (net) 5,114 (447)
Interest rate deriva�ve premium paid on incep�on 44,255 -
Amor�sa�on of cap premium in the period (note 8) - (5)



The fair value at the end of year comprises:
Year to 30 June

2023 £'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000
Disposal of interest rate deriva�ves (2,878) -
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ve in the year (P&L) 19,695 5,270
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ve in the year (OCI) 3,111 -
(Credit)/Charge to the income statement (P&L) (note 8) (9,671) -
(Credit)/Charge to the income statement (OCI) (note 8) (2,043) 296

Fair value at end of year (net) 57,583 5,114
 

To par�ally mi�gate the interest rate risk that arises as a result of entering into the floa�ng rate debt facili�es referred to in
note 21, the Group has entered into deriva�ve interest rate swaps in rela�on to the drawn Unsecured bank syndicate
facili�es ('the Unsecured swaps') and loan facili�es with Bayerische Landesbank ('the BLB swaps') and Wells Fargo Bank ('the
Wells swaps'). The Group has also entered into a deriva�ve interest rate cap in rela�on to the drawn HSBC loan facility ('the
HSBC cap').

A summary of these deriva�ves as at 30 June 2023 are shown in the table below:

Issuer Derivative Type
Notional
amount £m

 
 
Premium
Paid £m

Mark to
Market 30
June 2023 Swap Rate

Maturity
Date

Barclays Interest Rate Swap £250.0 £26.7 £33.5 1.34% Jul-27

Barclays Interest Rate Swap £100.0 £7.6 £8.5 1.34% Jul-25

Barclays Interest Rate Swap £30.6 £1.2 £0.7 1.34% Dec-23

HSBC Interest Rate Cap £96.5 £6.0 £5.2 1.12% Aug-24

BLB Interest Rate Swap £37.3 £1.2 £2.7 2.64% Mar-26

BLB Interest Rate Swap £22.2 £0.7 £1.6 2.64% Mar-26

BLB Interest Rate Swap £27.4 £0.9 £2.0 2.64% Mar-26

Wells Fargo Interest Rate Swap £30.0  -  £3.3 0.19% Jul-25

Total  £594.0 £44.3 £57.5 - -
 

On 21 March 2023, the Group announced the refinancing of the exis�ng loan facili�es with Bayerische Landesbank with a
new three-year £86.9 million term loan replacing the exis�ng tranches of the same amount. The Group closed out swaps on
the same date as these coincided with the previous facility. The Group made a profit on disposal of £2.9 million on the
swaps.

100% of the Group's outstanding debt as at 30 June 2023 was hedged through the use of fixed rate debt or financial
instruments as at 30 June 2023 (2022: 61%). It is the Group's target to hedge at least 50% of the Group's total debt at any
�me using fixed rate loans or interest rate deriva�ves.

The deriva�ves have been valued in accordance with IFRS 13 by reference to interbank bid market rates as at the close of
business on the last working day prior to each repor�ng date. The fair values
are calculated using the present values of future cash flows, based on market forecasts of interest rates and adjusted for the
credit risk of the counterpar�es. The amounts and �ming of future cash flows are projected on the basis of the contractual
terms.

All interest rate deriva�ves are classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined under IFRS 13 and there were no
transfers to or from other levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

 In accordance with the Group's treasury risk policy, the Group applies cash flow hedge accoun�ng in par�ally hedging the
interest rate risks arising on its Wells Fargo variable rate linked facility.  Since the refinancing of the Bayerische Landesbank
loan facility the Group no longer applies hedge accoun�ng to the newly acquired swaps. Changes in the fair values of
deriva�ves that are designated as cash flow hedges and are effec�ve are recognised directly in the cash flow hedge reserve
and included in other comprehensive income. Any ineffec�veness that may arise in this hedge rela�onship will be included in
profit or loss.

All floating rate loans and interest rate derivatives are contractually linked to the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA").

Post year end, the Group extended the maturity of the interest rate deriva�ves by 12 months. The weighted average interest
rate following the deriva�ve changes is 3.1% inclusive of the margin. The Group also entered into a forward star�ng cap
star�ng in August 2024 and termina�ng in July 2025 with a strike rate of 1.4%.

 

20.  Bank borrowings

Amounts falling due within one year:

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Secured debt - -

Unsecured debt 62,090 -

Less: Unamor�sed finance costs (234) -

Bank borrowings per the consolidated statement of financial posi�on 61,856 -

 
Amounts falling due a�er more than one year:

 

Secured debt 291,551 352,213

Unsecured debt 318,508 -

Less: Unamor�sed finance costs (4,450) (3,667)

Bank borrowings per the consolidated statement of financial posi�on 605,609 348,546

Total bank borrowings 667,465 348,546
 

 

A summary of the Group's borrowing facili�es as at 30 June 2023 are shown below:

Lender Facility Expiry

 
 
 
Expiry*

Credit
margin Variable/hedged

Loan
commitment
£m

Amount
drawn 30
June 2023
£m

HSBC
Revolving credit
facility Aug 2024 Aug 2025 1.65%

Cap - 1.12%
£96.5 £78.1



Lender Facility Expiry

 
 
 
Expiry*

Credit
margin Variable/hedged

Loan
commitment
£m

Amount
drawn 30
June 2023
£m

HSBC
Revolving credit
facility Aug 2024 Aug 2025 1.65%

SONIA
£3.5 NIL

HSBC
Revolving credit
facility Aug 2024 Aug 2025 1.75%

SONIA
£50.0 NIL

Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2026 1.35% 0.54% £47.6 £47.6
Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2026 1.35% 0.70% £28.9 £28.9
Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2026 1.40% 0.32% £20.0 £20.0
BLB Term Loan Mar 2026 Mar 2026 1.65% SWAP - 2.64% £86.9 £86.9

Wells Fargo
Revolving credit
facility Jul 2025 Jul 2027 2.00%

SWAP - 0.18%
£30.0 £30.0

Wells Fargo
Revolving credit
facility Jul 2025 Jul 2027 2.00%

SONIA
£9.0 NIL

Barclays
Revolving credit
facility Jan 2024 Jan 2026 1.50%

SONIA
£77.5 NIL

Syndicate Unsecured RCF Jul 2027 Jul 2029 1.50% SWAP - 1.34% £250.0 £218.5

Syndicate
Unsecured Term
Loan Jul 2025 Jul 2027 1.50%

SWAP - 1.34%
£100.0 £100.0

Syndicate
Unsecured Term
Loan Jan 2024 Jan 2025 1.50%

SWAP - 1.34%
£30.6 £30.6

Syndicate
Unsecured Term
Loan Jan 2024 Jan 2025 1.50%

SONIA
£31.5 £31.5

Total      £862.0 £672.1
*Includes extension op�ons that can be u�lised following approval from all par�es

In July 2022, the Group announced the arrangement of a new £412.1 million unsecured credit facility with a bank syndicate
comprising Barclays, Royal Bank of Canada, Wells Fargo and Royal Bank of Scotland Interna�onal as summarised above. This
was par�ally used to reduce the Wells Fargo and and Barclays/RBC facili�es. This led to loan modifica�ons under IFRS 9
resul�ng in an accelera�on of loan arrangement fees of £1.52 million.

In January 2023, the Group entered into a short-term debt facility provided by J.P. Morgan of £196.5 million to fund the
acquisi�on of the addi�onal interest in the Joint Venture. The Facility had a margin of 1.5% over SONIA and an arrangement
fee of 2.0%. This facility was repaid in March 2023.

The Group has been in compliance with all of the financial covenants across the Group's bank facili�es as applicable
throughout the periods covered by this financial informa�on.

Any associated fees in arranging the bank borrowings that are unamor�sed as at the end of the year are offset against
amounts drawn under the facility as shown in the table above. The debt is secured
by charges over the Group's investment proper�es and by charges over the shares of certain Group undertakings, not
including the Company itself. There have been no defaults of breaches of any loan covenants during the current year or any
prior period.

The Group's borrowings carried at amor�sed cost are considered to be approximate to their fair value.

Post year end, the Group reduced the HSBC facility to £50.0 million from £150.0 million, cancelled the Barclays/RBC facility
and Unsecured term loan of £77.5 million and £62.1 million respec�vely and entered into a new £67.0 million facility with
SMBC Bank Interna�onal PLC, for more informa�on see note 28.

 

21.  Categories of financial instruments

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000

Financial assets   

Financial assets at amor�sed cost:
Lease Receivables 10,819 10,626

Cash and cash equivalents 37,481 51,200

Trade and other receivables 141,305 1,430

Financial assets at fair value:
Rent guarantees - 283

Interest rate deriva�ve 54,278 -

Deriva�ves in effec�ve hedges:
Interest rate deriva�ve 3,304 5,114

Total financial assets 247,187 68,653

Financial liabili�es   

Financial liabili�es at amor�sed cost:
Secured debt 289,736 348,546

Unsecured debt 377,729 -

Trade and other payables 22,469 8,958

Total financial liabili�es 689,934 357,504
 

At the year end, all financial assets and liabili�es were measured at amor�sed cost except for the interest rate deriva�ves
which are measured at fair value.  The interest rate deriva�ve valua�on is classified as 'level 2' in the fair value hierarchy as
defined in IFRS 13 and its fair value was calculated using the present values of future cash flows, based on market forecasts
of interest rates and adjusted for the credit risk of the counterpar�es.

Financial risk management
Through the Group's opera�ons and use of debt financing it is exposed to certain risks. The Group's financial risk
management objec�ve is to minimise the effect of these risks, for example by using interest rate cap and interest rate swap
deriva�ves to par�ally mi�gate exposure to fluctua�ons in interest rates, as described in note 19.

The exposure to each financial risk considered poten�ally material to the Group, how it arises and the policy for managing it
is summarised below.

Market risk



Market risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.  The Group's market risk arises from open posi�ons in interest bearing assets and liabili�es, to the
extent that these are exposed to general and specific market movements.

The Group's interest-bearing financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents and bank borrowings.  Changes in
market interest rates therefore affect the Group's finance income and costs, although the Group has purchased interest rate
deriva�ves as described in note 19 in order to par�ally mi�gate the risk in respect of finance costs.  The Group's sensi�vity to
changes in interest rates, calculated on the basis of a ten-basis point increase in the three-month SONIA daily rate, was as
follows:

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

Year to
30 June 2022

£'000

Effect on profit (Increase)/decrease (1,383) 413

Effect on other comprehensive income and equity (increase) (58) (223)
 

Trade and other receivables and payables are interest free as long as they are paid in accordance with their terms, and have
payment terms of less than one year, so it is assumed that there is no material interest rate risk associated with these
financial instruments.

The Group prepares its financial informa�on in Sterling and all of its current opera�ons are Sterling denominated. It
therefore has no exposure to foreign currency and does not have any direct sensi�vity to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates.

Infla�on risk arises from the impact of infla�on on the Group's income and expenditure.  The majority of the Group's passing
rent at 30 June 2023 is subject to infla�on-linked rent reviews.  Consequently, the Group is exposed to movements in the
Retail Prices Index ("RPI"), which is the relevant infla�on benchmark.  However, all RPI-linked rent review provisions provide
those rents will only be subject to upwards review and never downwards.  As a result, the Group is not exposed to a fall in
rent in defla�onary condi�ons.

The Group does not expect infla�on risk to have a material effect on the Group's administra�ve expenses, with the excep�on
of the investment advisory fee which is determined as a func�on of the reported net asset value of the Group.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual obliga�ons. The principal
counterpar�es are the Group's tenants (in respect of rent receivables arising under opera�ng leases) and banks (as holders
of the Group's cash deposits).

The credit risk of rent receivables is considered low because the counterpar�es to the opera�ng leases are considered by the
Board to be high quality tenants and any lease guarantors are of appropriate financial strength. Rent collec�on dates and
sta�s�cs are monitored to iden�fy any problems at an early stage, and if necessary rigorous credit control procedures will be
applied to facilitate the recovery of rent receivables. The credit risk on cash deposits is limited because the counterpar�es
are banks with credit ra�ngs which are acceptable to the Board and are kept under review each quarter.

The credit risk of the receivable from the disposal of the Joint Venture is considered low and this is supported by the fact that
the majority of this was received shortly a�er the year end.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the Group's management of working capital and the finance costs and principal repayments on its
secured debt. It is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obliga�ons as they fall due.

The Group seeks to manage its liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient cash is available to meet its foreseeable needs. These
liquidity needs are rela�vely modest and are capable of being sa�sfied by the surplus available a�er rental receipts have
been applied in payment of interest as required by the credit agreement rela�ng to the Group's secured debt.

Before entering into any financing arrangements, the Board assesses the resources that are expected to be available to the
Group to meet its liabili�es when they fall due. These assessments are made on the basis of both base case and downside
scenarios. The Group prepares detailed management accounts which are reviewed by the Board at least quarterly to assess
ongoing liquidity requirements and compliance with loan covenants. The Board also keeps under review the maturity profile
of the Group's cash deposits in order to have reasonable assurance that cash will be available for the se�lement of liabili�es
when they fall due.

The following table shows the maturity analysis for financial assets and liabili�es. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of non-deriva�ve financial instruments, including future interest payments, based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay and assuming that the SONIA daily rate remains at the 30 June 2023 rate.
Interest rate deriva�ves are shown at fair value and not at their gross undiscounted amounts.

As at 30 June 2023

Less than
one year

£'000
One to two
years £'000

Two to five
years £'000

More than
five years

£'000
Total

£'000
Financial assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents 37,481 - - - 37,481
Trade and other receivables 141,305 - - - 141,305
Amor�sed cost asset 290 290 908 74,930 76,418
Interest rate deriva�ves 20,384 20,564 16,635 - 57,583
Total financial assets 199,460 20,854 17,543 74,930 312,787

Financial liabili�es:      
Bank borrowings 81,545 94,080 549,575 - 725,200
Trade payables and other payables 22,469 - - - 22,469
Total financial liabili�es 104,014 94,080 549,575 - 747,669

 
 
 
 
As at 30 June 2022 Less than

one year
£'000

One to two
years £'000

Two to five
years £'000

More than
five years

£'000
Total

£'000
Financial assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents 51,200 - - - 51,200
Trade and other receivables 1,430 - - - 1,430
Amor�sed cost asset 290 290 870 76,415 77,865
Rent guarantees 283 - - - 283
Interest rate deriva�ves - 843 4,271 - 5,114
Total financial assets 53,203 1,133 5,141 76,415 135,892



Financial liabili�es:      

Bank borrowings 9,335 205,679 156,510 - 371,524
Trade payables and other payables 8,958 - - - 8,958
Interest rate deriva�ves - - - - -
Total financial liabili�es 18,293 205,679 156,510 - 380,482
 
Capital risk management
The Board's primary objec�ve when monitoring capital is to preserve the Group's ability to con�nue as a going concern,
while ensuring it remains within its debt covenants so as to safeguard secured assets and avoid financial penal�es. 

Bank borrowings on secured facili�es are secured on the Group's property por�olio by way of fixed charges over property
assets and over the shares in the property-owning subsidiaries and any intermediary holding companies of those
subsidiaries.

At 30 June 2023, the capital structure of the Group consisted of bank borrowings (note 20), cash and cash equivalents, and
equity a�ributable to the Shareholders of the Company (comprising share capital, retained earnings and the other reserves
referred to in notes 22 and 23).

In managing the Group's capital structure, the Board considers the Group's cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group keeps under review the amount of any dividends or other returns to Shareholders and monitors
the extent to which the issue of new shares or the realisa�on of assets may be required.

 

Reconcilia�on of financial liabili�es rela�ng to financing ac�vi�es

Total bank
borrowings

£'000

Interest and
commitment
fees payable

£'000

Interest rate
derivatives

£'000
Total

£'000

As at 1 July 2022 348,546 1,939 (5,114) 345,371
Cash flows:
Debt drawdowns in the year 912,114 - - 912,114
Debt repayments in the year (598,486) - - (598,486)
Interest and commitment fees paid - (24,116) - (24,116)
Loan arrangement fees paid (5,010) - - (5,010)
Interest rate premium paid - - (44,255) (44,255)
Interest rate deriva�ve disposal - - 2,878 2,878
Non-cash movements:
Finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income 10,301 29,014 (22,806) 16,509
Fair value changes - - 11,714 11,714
As at 30 June 2023 667,465 6,837 (57,583) 616,719

    
As at 1 July 2021 409,684 1,634 447 411,765

Cash flows:
Debt drawdowns in the year 402,922 - - 402,922
Debt repayments in the year (464,029) - - (464,029)
Interest and commitment fees paid - (10,527) - (10,527)
Loan arrangement fees paid (2,188) - - (2,188)
Non-cash movements:
Finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income 2,157 10,832 5 12,994
Fair value changes - - (5,566) (5,566)
At 30 June 2022 348,546 1,939 (5,114) 345,371
 

Movements in respect to share capital are disclosed in note 22 below.

The interest and commitment fees payable are included within the corporate accruals balance in note 18. Cash flow
movements are included in the consolidated statement of cash flows and the non-cash movements are included in note 8.
The movements in the interest rate deriva�ve financial liabili�es can be found in note 19.

       

22.  Share capital

Ordinary Shares
of 1 pence

Number

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

As at 1 July 2022 1,239,868,420 12,399 494,174 778,859 1,285,432
Scrip Dividends issued and fully paid  -
22 August 2022 1,898,161 19 2,316 - 2,335
Scrip Dividends issued and fully paid  -
16 November 2022 866,474 9 869 - 878
Scrip Dividends issued and fully paid  -
23 February 2023 729,198 7 721 - 728
Scrip Dividends issued and fully paid  -
26 May 2023 2,876,932 28 2,395 - 2,423

Share issue costs - - (89) - (89)

Dividend paid in the period (note 11) - - - (74,328) (74,328)
As at 30 June 2023 1,246,239,185 12,462 500,386 704,531 1,217,379

     
As at 1 July 2021 810,720,168 8,107 778,859 - 786,966



Ordinary Shares
of 1 pence

Number

Share
capital

£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

Scrip Dividends issued and fully paid  -
20 August 2021 300,468 3 348 - 351
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid    -
22 October 2021 173,913,043 1,740

 
198,261 - 200,001

Scrip dividends issued and fully paid   -
16 November 2021 500,750 5 578 - 583
Share premium cancelled during
the year and transferred to
capital reduc�on reserve - - (778,859) 778,859 -
Scrip dividends issued and fully paid   -
25 February 2022 111,233 1 136 - 137
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid    -
29 April 2022 253,492,160 2,535 304,191 - 306,726
Scrip dividends issued and fully paid   -
27 May 2022 830,598 8 1,026 - 1,034
Share issue costs - - (10,366) - (10,366)
As at 30 June 2022 1,239,868,420 12,399 494,174 778,859 1,285,432
 

Share allotments and other movements in rela�on to the capital of the Company in the year:

Scrip dividends were issued on 22 August 2022, 16 November 2022, 23 February 2023 and 26 May 2023 at a reference price
of £1.23, £1.01, £1.00 and £0.84 per share respec�vely. The Company issued a combined total of 6,370,765 shares under the
scrip dividend programme during the year. The considera�on received (net of share issue costs) in excess of the par value of
the ordinary shares issued of £6.3 million was credited to the share premium reserve. 

Ordinary Shareholders are en�tled to all dividends declared by the Company and to all of the Company's assets a�er
repayment of its borrowings and ordinary creditors. Ordinary Shareholders have the right to vote at mee�ngs of the
Company. All ordinary shares carry equal vo�ng rights. The aggregate ordinary shares in issue at 30 June 2023 total was 1.25
billion.

23.  Reserves

The nature and purpose of each of the reserves included within equity at 30 June 2023 are as follows:

·  Share premium reserve: represents the surplus of the gross proceeds of share issues over the nominal value of the
shares, net of the direct costs of equity issues

·  Cash flow hedge reserve: represents cumulative gains or losses, net of tax, on effective cash flow hedging instruments

·  Capital reduction reserve: represents a distributable reserve created following a Court approved reduction in capital
less dividends paid

·   Retained earnings represent cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

The only movements in these reserves during the year are disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

 

24.  Capital commitments

The Group had no capital commitments outstanding as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022.

 

25.  Operating leases

The Group's principal assets are investment proper�es which are leased to third par�es under non-cancellable opera�ng
leases. The weighted average remaining lease term at 30 June 2023 is 13.6 years (2022: 15.1 years). The leases contain
predominately fixed or infla�on-linked upli�s.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under the Group's leases, are as follows:

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Year 1 100,156 77,438
Year 2 98,941 77,831
Year 3 98,614 77,088
Year 4 97,552 76,861
Year 5 97,177 75,994
Year 6-10 452,219 375,951
Year 11-15 310,150 290,613
Year 16-20 94,875 127,574
Year 21-25 23,358 25,144
More than 25 years 12,743 14,846

Total 1,385,785 1,219,340

       

26.  Net asset value per share

NAV per share is calculated by dividing the Group's net assets as shown in the consolidated statement of financial posi�on,
by the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the year. As there are no dilu�ve instruments outstanding, basic
and diluted NAV per share are iden�cal.

The European Public Real Estate Associa�on (EPRA) publishes guidelines for the calcula�on of three measures of NAV to
enable consistent comparisons between property companies, which were updated in the prior year and took effect from 1
January 2020. The Group uses EPRA Net Tangible Assets ("EPRA NTA") as the most meaningful measure of long-term
performance and the measure which is being adopted by the majority of UK REITs, establishing it as the industry standard
benchmark. It excludes items that are considered to have no impact in the long-term, such as the fair value of deriva�ves.

NAV and EPRA NTA per share calcula�on are as follows:



As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000

Net assets per the consolidated statement of financial posi�on 1,217,726 1,432,455
Contractual fulfilment intangible assets - (93)
Fair value of financial assets at amortised cost (3,609) (666)
Fair value of interest rate deriva�ves (57,583) (5,114)
EPRA NTA 1,156,534 1,426,582

   

   

Ordinary shares in issue at 30 June 1,246,239,185 1,239,868,420

NAV per share - Basic and diluted (pence) 98p 116p

EPRA NTA per share (pence) 93p 115p
 

27.  Transactions with related parties

Details of the related par�es to the Group in the year and the transac�ons with these related par�es were as follows:

a. Directors
Directors' fees
Nick Hewson, Chair of the Board of Directors of the Company, is paid fees of £75,000 per annum, with the other Directors
each being paid fees of £52,500 per annum. Jon Austen is paid an addi�onal £9,000 per annum for his role as chair of the
Company's Audit Commi�ee, Vince Prior is paid an addi�onal £4,000 per annum for his role as chair of the Company's
Nomina�on Commi�ee and £5,000 for his role as Senior Independent Director. Cathryn Vanderspar is paid an addi�onal
£5,000 for her role as Chair of the Remunera�on Commi�ee. Frances Davies is paid an addi�onal £5,000 for her role as Chair
of the ESG Commi�ee. 

The total remunera�on payable to the Directors in respect of the current year and previous year are disclosed in note 7.

Directors' interests
Details of the direct and indirect interests of the Directors and their close families in the ordinary shares of one pence each in
the Company at 30 June 2023 were as follows:

·   Nick Hewson: 1,263,309 shares (0.11% of issued share capital)

·   Jon Austen: 305,339 shares (0.02% of issued share capital)

·   Vince Prior: 213,432 shares (0.02% of issued share capital)

·   Cathryn Vanderspar: 125,802 (0.01% of issued share capital)

·   Frances Davies: 24,774 (0.00% of issued share capital)

·   Sapna Shah: 28,951 (0.00% of issued share capital)

 

Details of the direct and indirect interest of the Directors and their close families in the ordinary shares of one pence each in the
Company at the date of signing the accounts were as follows:

·   Nick Hewson: 1,263,309 shares (0.11% of issued share capital)

·   Jon Austen: 305,339 shares (0.02% of issued share capital)

·   Vince Prior: 213,432 shares (0.02% of issued share capital)

·   Cathryn Vanderspar: 125,802 (0.01% of issued share capital)

·   Frances Davies: 36,774 (0.00% of issued share capital)

·   Sapna Shah: 28,951 (0.00% of issued share capital)

 
b. Investment Adviser
Investment advisory and accounting fees
The investment adviser to the Group, Atrato Capital Limited (the Investment Adviser), is en�tled to certain advisory fees
under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement (the 'Agreement') dated 14 July 2021.

The en�tlement of the Investment Adviser to advisory fees is by way of what are termed 'Monthly Management Fees' and
'Semi-Annual Management Fees' both of which are calculated by reference to the net asset value of the Group at par�cular
dates, as adjusted for the financial impact of certain investment events and a�er deduc�ng any uninvested proceeds from
share issues up to the date of the calcula�on of the relevant fee (these adjusted amounts are referred to as 'Adjusted Net
Asset Value' for the purpose of calcula�on of the fees in accordance with the Agreement).

Un�l the Adjusted Net Value of the Group exceeds £1,500 million, the en�tlements to advisory fees can be summarised as
follows:

·   Monthly Management Fee payable monthly in arrears: 1/12th of 0.7125% per calendar month of Adjusted Net Asset
Value up to or equal to £500 million, 1/12th of 0.5625% per calendar month of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £500
million and up to or equal to £1,000 million and 1/12th of 0.4875% per calendar month of Adjusted Net Asset Value
above £1,000 and up to or equal to £1,500 million.

·  Semi-Annual Management Fee payable semi-annually in arrears: 0.11875% of Adjusted Net Asset Value up to or equal
to £500 million, 0.09375% of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £500 million and up to or equal to £1,000 million and
0.08125% of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £1,000 million and up to or equal to £1,500 million.

For the year to 30 June 2023 the total advisory fees payable to the Investment Adviser were £10,292,302 (2022: £9,404,938)
of which £1,845,144 (2022: £1,446,246) is included in trade and other payables in the consolidated statement of financial
posi�on.

The Investment Adviser is also en�tled to an annual accoun�ng and administra�on service fee equal to: £52,788; plus (i)
£4,279 for any indirect subsidiary of the Company and (ii) £1,661 for each direct subsidiary of the Company. A full list of the
Company and its direct and indirect subsidiary undertakings is listed in Note 13 of this financial informa�on.

For the year to 30 June 2023 the total accoun�ng and administra�on service fee payable to the Investment Adviser was
£297,475 (2022: £237,559) of which £83,614 (2022: £81,833) is included in trade and other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial posi�on.

Introducer Services
Atrato Partners, an affiliate of the Investment Adviser, is en�tled to fees in rela�on to the successful introduc�on of
prospec�ve investors in connec�on with subscrip�ons for ordinary share capital in
the Company.

The en�tlement of the Investment Adviser to introducer fees is by fees and/or commission which can be summarised as
follows:

·   Commission basis: 1% of total subscription in respect of ordinary shares subscribed for
by any prospective investor introduced by Atrato Partners.



For the year to 30 June 2023 the total introducer fees payable to the affiliate of the Investment Adviser were £nil (2022:
£271,239).

Interest in shares of the Company
Details of the direct and indirect interests of the Directors of the Investment Adviser and their close families in the ordinary
shares of one pence each in the Company at 30 June 2023 were as follows:

·   Ben Green: 1,876,376 shares (0.15% of issued share capital)

·   Steve Windsor: 1,698,928 shares (0.14% of issued share capital)

·   Steven Noble: 232,255 shares (0.02% of issued share capital)

·   Natalie Markham: 62,679 shares (0.01% of issued share capital)

Carried interest held in the Group's joint venture
Under the terms of the Horner (Jersey) LP (the "JV") Limited Partnership Agreement ("LPA"), an affiliate of the Investment
Adviser, Atrato Halliwell Limited (the "Carry Partner"), had a carried interest en�tlement over the investment returns from
the JV's investment in the Structure. Further details regarding the es�mated value of the Carry Partner's interest in the JV are
included in note 14.

Carried interest payments are only payable to the extent that distribu�ons are made from the JV to the Group. On the
acquisi�on of the addi�onal Joint Venture interest during the year, the carried interest was considered to have crystalised
and became payable. £7.5 million was paid in rela�on to the se�lement of the carry interest of the addi�onal joint venture
interest acquired during the year and was recognised as a financing cashflow within the cashflow statement. The exis�ng
interest of £7.5 million payable is included in corporate accruals within Note 18 and was se�led subsequent to the year end.

c. Other related parties
During the year, SUPR Green Energy Limited received a credit note from Evo Energy Limited for solar panels purchased in
June 2021 of £155,142.52. These panels that were being held by Evo Energy Limited were sold to Sonne Solar Limited, a
subsidiary of Atrato Onsite Energy PLC,  a company is advised by an affiliate of the Investment Adviser. As 30 June 2023, the
balance was s�ll outstanding, and was received in cash a�er the year end.

28.  Subsequent events

Debt financing
·    In July 2023, the Group cancelled its 62.1 million unsecured term loan with the unsecured banking syndicate.
·    In September 2023, the Group announced that its £150.0 million revolving credit facility with HSBC was refinanced

with a new £50.0 million, secured three-year RCF with a £75 million accordion op�on. The new facility has two one-
year extension op�ons and a margin of 170 bps over SONIA.

·    In September 2023, the Group announced the cancella�on of the Barclays/RBC facility of £77.5 million.
·    In September 2023, the Group announced the arrangement of a new £67.0 million unsecured term loan facility with

SMBC Bank Interna�onal PLC at a margin of 1.4% over SONIA. The term of the loan is for three-years with two
further one-year extension op�ons.

·    In September 2023, the Group extended £50.0 million of its £100.0 million unsecured term loan with the unsecured
banking syndicate by one year to July 2026.

 
Hedging

·    In September 2023, the Group adjusted its interest rate deriva�ves held at the year end to extend the maturity of the
deriva�ves by 12 months. The Group's drawn debt is fully hedged at an interest rate of 3.1% (including margin) with
a weighted average term of 4 years (including extension op�ons).

 
Acquisitions

·    In July 2023, the Group announced the acquisi�on of two Sainsbury's stores from the SRP for £36.4 million (excluding
acquisi�on costs). Sainsbury's entered into new 15-year leases on these stores with five yearly open market rent
reviews and a tenant break op�on at year ten.
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Notes to EPRA and other Key Performance Indicators
 
1.    EPRA Earnings and Adjusted Earnings per Share

For the period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023

Net profit
attributable
to ordinary

Shareholders
£'000

Weighted average
number of

ordinary shares1

Number

Earnings/
per share

Pence

Net (loss)/profit a�ributable to ordinary Shareholders (144,866) 1,242,574,505 (11.7)
Adjustments to remove:
Changes in fair value of investment proper�es and
associated rent guarantees

256,066 - 20.6

Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves measured
at FVTPL

(10,024) - (0.8)

Profit on disposal of interest rate deriva�ves (2,878) - (0.2)

Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture
investment proper�es

(11,486)
 

- (0.9)

Profit on disposal of groups interest in joint venture (19,940) - (1.6)

Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held
at fair value through profit and loss

(9,671) - (0.8)

EPRA earnings 57,201 1,242,574,505 4.6

Add finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves
held at fair value through profit and loss

9,671 - 0.8

Add accelerated finance costs 1,518 - 0.1

Add Joint Venture acquisi�on loan arrangement fee 4,009 - 0.3

Adjusted EPRA earnings 72,399 1,242,574,505 5.8

1   Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the year ended 30 June 2023.

For the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022

Net profit
attributable
to ordinary

Shareholders
£'000

Weighted average
number of ordinary

shares1

Number

Earnings/
per share

Pence
Net profit a�ributable to ordinary Shareholders 115,869 975,233,858 11.9p

Adjustments to remove:



For the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022

Net profit
attributable
to ordinary

Shareholders
£'000

Weighted average
number of ordinary

shares1

Number

Earnings/
per share

Pence
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves (5,566) - (0.6p)

Changes in fair value of investment proper�es and
associated rent guarantees

(21,820) - (2.2p)

Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture
investment proper�es

6,021 -
 

0.6p

Group share of nega�ve goodwill from joint venture
investment

(37,102) - (3.8p)

EPRA EPS  57,402 975,233,858 5.9p

2   Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the year ended 30 June 2022.

 

2.    EPRA NTA per share

EPRA NTA is considered to be the most relevant measure for the Group and is now the primary measure of net assets,
replacing the previously reported EPRA Net Asset Value metric. For the current period EPRA NTA is calculated as net assets
per the consolidated statement of financial posi�on excluding the fair value of interest rate deriva�ves.

30 June 2023
EPRA NTA

£'000
EPRA NRV

£'000 EPRA NDV £'000
IFRS NAV a�ributable to ordinary Shareholders 1,217,726 1,217,726 1,217,726

Fair value of Financial asset held at amor�sed cost (3,609) (3,609) (3,609)
Fair value of interest rate deriva�ves (57,583) (57,583) -
Intangibles                 - - -
Purchasers' costs - 122,990 -
Fair value of debt - - 4,876
EPRA metric 1,156,534 1,279,524 1,218,993
EPRA metric per share 93p 103p 98p
    

30 June 2022
EPRA NTA

£'000
EPRA NRV

£'000 EPRA NDV £'000
IFRS NAV a�ributable to ordinary Shareholders 1,432,455 1,432,455 1,432,455
Fair value of interest rate deriva�ves (5,114) (5,114) -
Fair value of Financial asset held at amor�sed cost (666) (666) (666)
Intangibles (93) - -
Purchasers' costs - 113,935 -
Fair value of debt - - 4,320
EPRA metric 1,426,582 1,540,610 1,436,109
EPRA metric per share 115p 124p 116p

 

       

3.    EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) and EPRA "topped up" NIY

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000

Investment Property - wholly owned (note 12) 1,685,690 1,561,590
Investment Property - share of joint ventures - 266,500
Completed Property Por�olio 1,685,690 1,828,090
Allowance for es�mated purchasers' costs 122,990 133,380
Grossed up completed property por�olio valua�on (B) 1,808,680 1,961,470
Annualised passing rental income - wholly owned 99,910 77,230
Annualised passing rental income - share of joint venture - 13,372
Annualised non-recoverable property outgoings (1,117) (400)
Less: contracted rent under rent free periods - -
Annualised net rents (A) 98,793 90,202
Rent expira�on of rent-free periods and fixed upli�s 447 56
Topped up annualised net rents (C) 99,240 90,258
EPRA NIY (A/B) 5.46% 4.60%
EPRA "topped up" NIY (C/B) 5.49% 4.60%

All rent free periods expire within the year to 30 June 2024

4.    EPRA Vacancy Rate

EPRA Vacancy Rate

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Es�mated rental value of vacant space 439 188
Es�mated rental value of the whole por�olio 100,797 77,237
EPRA Vacancy Rate 0.4% 0.2%
The EPRA vacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, le�able space as a propor�on of the total rental value of the direct Investment Property
por�olio. This is expected to con�nue to be a highly immaterial percentage as the majority of the por�olio is let to the largest supermarket operators in the
UK.

       



5.    EPRA Cost Ratio

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Administra�on expenses per IFRS 15,429 13,937
  
Service charge income (5,939) (2,086)
Service charge costs 6,518 2,338
Net Service charge costs 579 252
Share of joint venture expenses 938 95
Total costs (including direct vacant property costs) (A) 16,946 14,284
Vacant property costs (328) (99)
Total costs (excluding direct vacant property costs) (B) 16,618 14,185

Gross rental income per IFRS 95,823 72,363
Less: service charge components of gross rental income - -
Add: Share of Gross rental income from Joint Ventures 13,529 14,423
Gross rental income (C) 109,352 86,786

  
EPRA Cost ra�o (including direct vacant property costs) (A/C) 15.50% 16.46%
EPRA Cost ra�o (excluding vacant property costs) (B/C) 15.20% 16.34%
1. The Company does not have any overhead costs capitalised as it has no assets under development.

       

6.    EPRA LTV

The Group voluntarily adopted the EPRA issued new best prac�ce repor�ng guidelines in the year ending 30 June 2023,
incorpora�ng the new measure of loan to value: EPRA Loan-to-Value (EPRA LTV) and is defined as net debt divided by total
property market value.

The table below illustrates the reconcilia�on of the numbers under the new measures, where prior year compara�ve figures
have also been restated in line with the new EPRA methodology.
 

As at As at
30 June 2023

£'000
30 June 2022

£'000
Group Net Debt  
Borrowings from financial ins�tu�ons 667,465 348,546
Net payables - 24,893

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (37,481) (51,200)
Group Net Debt Total (A) 629,984 322,239
Group Property Value  
Investment proper�es at fair value 1,685,690 1,561,590
Intangibles - 93
Net receivables 93,620 -
Financial assets 10,819 10,626
Total Group Property Value (B) 1,790,129 1,572,309
Group LTV (A-B) 35.19% 20.49%

  
Share of Joint Ventures Debt  
Bond loans - 88,121
Net payables - 822
JV Net Debt Total (A) - 88,943
Group Property Value  
Owner-occupied property
Investment proper�es at fair value - 277,407
Total JV Property Value (B) - 277,407
JV LTV (A-B) 0.00% 32.06%

 
Combined Net Debt (A) 629,984 411,182
Combined Property Value (B) 1,790,129 1,849,717
Combined LTV (A-B) 35.19% 22.23%
 

       

7.    EPRA Like-for-Like Rental Growth

Sector

Year ended 30 June
2023
£'000

Year ended 30 June
2022
£'000

Like-for-Like rental
growth

%
UK 62,688 61,059 2.7%
 

The like-for-like rental growth is based on changes in net rental income for those properties which have been held for the duration of both the current and
comparative reporting. This represents a portfolio valuation, as assessed by the valuer of £ 1.03 billion (30 June 2022: £1.19 billion).

8.    EPRA Property Related Capital Expenditure

As at As at
30 June 2023

£'000
30 June 2022

£'000
Group  
Acquisi�ons 377,311 388,696
Development
Investment proper�es



Group Total CapEx 377,311 388,696
  
Joint Venture
Acquisi�ons - -
Development - -
Investment proper�es - -
Joint Venture CapEx - -

  
Total CapEx 377,311 388,696

Acquisitions relate to purchase of investment properties in the year and includes capitalised acquisition costs. There has been no capital expenditure on the
investment properties within the portfolio and no capitalised development expenditure has been incurred in the year or prior year.

 

9.    Total Shareholder Return

Total Shareholder Return

Year to
30 June 2023

Pence per share
('p')

Year to
30 June 2022

Pence per share
('p')

Share price at start of the year 119.50 117.50
Share price at the end of the year 73.00 119.50
Increase in share price (46.50) 2.00
Dividends declared for the year 6.00 5.94
Increase in share price plus dividends (40.50) 7.94
Share price at start of year 119.50 117.50
Total Shareholder Return (34%) 7%
 

10.  Net loan to value ratio

The propor�on of our gross asset value that is funded by borrowings calculated as statement of financial posi�on borrowings
less cash balances divided by total investment proper�es valua�on.

Net loan to value

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

As at
30 June 2022

£'000
Bank borrowings 667,465 348,546
Less cash and cash equivalents (37,481) (51,200)
Net borrowings 629,984 297,346
Investment proper�es valua�on 1,685,690 1,561,590
Net loan to value ra�o 37% 19%  
 

11.  Annualised passing rent

Annualised passing rent is the annualised cash rental income being received as at the stated date.  

 

 

GLOSSARY
 

AGM Annual General Meeting

AIFMD Alterna�ve Investment Fund Managers Direc�ve

Direct Portfolio Wholly Owned Proper�es held by the Group

EPRA European Public Real Estate Associa�on

EPS Earnings per share, calculated as the profit for the period a�er tax a�ributable to
members of the parent company divided by the weighted average number of
shares in issue in the period

FRI A lease granted on an FRI basis means that all repairing and insuring obliga�ons
are imposed on the tenant, relieving the landlord from all liability for the cost of
insurance and repairs

IFRS UK adopted accoun�ng standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006

IPO An ini�al public offering (IPO) refers to the process of offering shares of
a corpora�on to the public in a new stock issuance

LTV Loan to Value: the outstanding amount of a loan as a percentage of property value

NAV Net Asset Value

Net Initial Yield Annualised net rents on investment proper�es as a percentage of the investment
property valua�on, less assumed purchaser's costs of 6.8%

Net Loan to Value
or Net LTV

LTV calculated on the gross loan amount less cash balances

Omnichannel Stores offering both instore picking and online fulfilment



AGM Annual General Meeting

REIT Real Estate Investment Trust

Running yield The an�cipated Net Ini�al Yield at a future date, taking account of any rent
reviews in the intervening period

Sainsbury's
Reversion Por�olio (SRP)

A por�olio consis�ng of the freehold interest in 26 geographically diverse high
quality Sainsbury's supermarkets

Total Shareholder Return
(TSR)

The movement in share price over a period plus dividends declared for
the same period expressed as a percentage of the share price at the start
of the Period
 

WAULT Weighted Average Unexpired Lease Term. It is used by property companies as an
indicator of the average remaining life of the leases within their por�olios
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[1] The alterna�ve performance measures used by the Group have been defined and reconciled to the IFRS financial statements within the unaudited supplementary informa�on

[2] Opera�ng profit before changes in fair value of proper�es and share of income and profit on disposal from joint venture

[3] Adjusted Earnings and Adjusted EPS are calculated as EPRA Earnings and EPRA EPS adjusted for finance income from deriva�ves held at fair value through profit and loss, loan

arrangement fee for Joint Venture acquisi�on and non-recurring debt restructuring costs. For further informa�on please see the Key Performance Indicators and EPRA Performance

http://www.supermarketincomereit.com/


Indicators sec�ons on pages 39 and 41

[4] New financial highlight for the year, expected to be included in future financials as they provide a more comprehensive understanding of core business performance

[5] Calculated as Adjusted EPRA earnings divided by dividends paid during the year

[6] IGD growth from 2022 to 2023 (forecast), June 2023

[7] IGD channel data 2018 to 2022 actuals, 2023 forecast

[8] Knight Frank, Savills, MSCI and Atrato Capital research. Year ending 30 June 2023

[9] Blended NIY across the 21 proper�es

[10] SRP investment: the Sainsbury's Reversion Por�olio held in a joint venture arrangement. See Note 14 to the financial informa�on for further informa�on

[11] Average weighted NIY for the stores at acquisi�on, including post balance sheet acquisi�ons of £36.4m (excluding acquisi�on costs)

[12] Por�olio sta�s�cs include Post balance sheet acquisi�ons

[13] Kantar grocery channel report June 2023

[14] Inclusive of uncommi�ed extension op�ons

[15] Knight Frank, Savills, MSCI and Atrato Capital research. Year ending 30 June 2023

[16] Average weighted NIY for the stores at acquisi�on, including post balance sheet acquisi�ons of £36.4m (excluding acquisi�on costs)

[17] Including uncommi�ed extension op�ons
[18] Compe��on and Markets Authority, "Compe��on and Markets Authority updates on ac�on to contain cost of living pressures in groceries sector", 20 July 2023

[19] Kantar grocery update, June 2023

[20] Cushman & Wakefield, Future of Food Chains, 2023

[21] Sainsbury's Plan for Be�er Report, 2022/23 Sustainability Update

[22] 31 December 2022 figures are extracted from the Group's Interim Report for the six months ended 31 December 2022

[23] The Directors have iden�fied certain measures that they believe will assist the understanding of the performance of the business. The measures are not defined under IFRS and

they may not be directly comparable with other companies' adjusted measures. The non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a subs�tute for, or superior to, any IFRS measures of

performance, but they have been included as the Directors consider them to be important comparable and key measures used within the business for assessing performance. The key

non-GAAP measures iden�fied by the Group have been defined in the supplementary informa�on and, where appropriate, reconcilia�on to the nearest IFRS measure has been given.

[24] 31 December 2022 figures are extracted from the Group's Interim Report for the six months ended 31 December 2022

[25] MSCI UK Quarterly Property Index (June 2022 - June 2023)

[26] Tesco & Sainsbury's Q1 trading updates

[27] Including post-balance sheet events

[28] Including post-balance sheet events

[29] Including uncommi�ed accordions and indica�ons of appe�te from lenders

[30] Property yields sourced from MSCI for the period March 2006 to June 2023

[31] Knight Frank, Savills, MSCI, Atrato Capital research. Years ending 30 June.
 
[32] Net Debt/EBITDA

[33] Tesco Annual Reports 2017 and 2023, % of net selling space owned

[34] Stores include Sainsbury's - Newcastle, Tesco - Chineham, Tesco - Bradley Stoke and Sainsbury's - Bangor

[35] Turnover: Atrato research based on communica�on with operators and store managers, combined with demographic and local compe�tor analysis. Store turnover has been

inflated based on the �me since last store visit

[36] Gross considera�on, excluding costs

[37] Excluding acquisi�on costs

[38] Excluding costs

[39] As at 20 September 2023

[40] IGD UK grocery market retail forecast 2023-2028

[41] Office for Na�onal Sta�s�cs 2023

[42] Knight Frank, Savills, MSCI and Atrato Capital research. Year ending 30 June 2023

[43] Which? supermarket food price infla�on tracker 15/08/2023

[44] Atrato research

[45] Including uncommi�ed extension op�ons

[46] Profits which are not derived from property rental business would be subject to corpora�on tax

[47] Emissions not calculated due to lack of data and immateriality (<1% of total emissions). SUPR does not have an office or employees. The only travel is quarterly travel by non-exec

directors, the majority of which is local travel in London
[48] Values have been rounded
[49] Tenant energy consump�on only
[50] 2023 is the first year of repor�ng the majority of metrics, so no prior year comparisons have not been included in this table. The 2024 Annual report will allow for trend analysis
and compare metrics disclosed in 2023
[51] Excludes three supermarkets and seven ancillary units located in Scotland, due to differing EPC calcula�on methodology used, making the sites non-comparable

[52] "Ancillary units" are units not used as a supermarket

[53] The Directors have iden�fied certain measures that they believe will assist the understanding of the performance of the business. The measures are not defined under IFRS and they

may not be directly comparable with other companies' adjusted measures. The non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a subs�tute for, or superior to, any IFRS measures of

performance, but they have been included as the Directors consider them to be important comparable and key measures used within the business for assessing performance. The key

non-GAAP measures iden�fied by the Group have been defined in the supplementary informa�on and, where appropriate, reconcilia�on to the nearest IFRS measure has been given.
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